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CORPORATE PROFILE

Ultra Petroleum Corp. is a rapidly growing independent exploration and production company focused on its core
properties in the Green River Basin of southwestern Wyoming (Pinedale Anticline and Jonah Field) and the shallow
waters of Bohai Bay, China.

Ultra controls more than 148,000 gross (78,688 net) acres in and around the prolific 36 square mile Jonah natural
gas field and the 90 square mile Pinedale Anticline area. Ultra believes that these areas hold a combined minimum of
34 Tcfe of gross recoverable reserves. Currently, Ultra has an inventory of over 2,500 undrilled locations averaging
over 5 Befe of recoverable natural gas as identified at year-end 2005 by its third party reservair engineering firm.
Additionally, the company currently has several pilot projects in Pinedale evaluating the feasibility of increased density
drilling and will operate its own deep test well expected to commence drilling in the second quarter of 2006. Ultra
enjoyed a drilling success rate of 100% in 2005 in Wyoming with 2005’s program wells completed at year-end
averaging 6.8 Bcfe of natural gas per well.

in addition to being the largest lease owner on the Pinedale Anticline, Ultra also has an interest in two oil exploration
and development blocks (631,702 gross acres) in Bohai Bay, China. The first four of nine oil discoveries are currently
in production and three more are expected to be brought on production in 2006.
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FINANCIAL & OPERATIONS SUMMARY
US 8 in thousands, except per share amounts Years Ended December 31
2005 2004
Income Statement
Oil and gas revenues $ 516,493 $ 259,046
Net income $ 228,300 $ 109,150
EBITDA™ $ 416,020 $ 202,116
Operating cash flow® $ 409,169 $ 198,070
Weighted Average Shares - Basic 153,100 149,736
Weighted Average Shares — Diluted 161,943 161,206
Earnings per Share — Basic $ 1.49 $ 0.73
Earnings per Share — Diluted $ 1.41 $ 0.68

Production Volumes, Bcfe 73.8 495

Average natural gas price - (Mcf) 3 6.84 $ 5.13

Average oil price — WY (Bbl) $ 57.37 $ 41.92

Average oil price — China (Bbl) $ 43.54 $ 32.31
Balance Sheet

Total assets $ 847,266 $ 537,186

Total long-term debt $ — $ 102,000

Total shareholders’ equity $ 571,201 $ 267,992




Ultra Petroleum Corp.

“We are unique in our industry with our industry-leading
growth rates at the industry’s lowest cost structure.”

Since 1999, Ultra has grown proved reserves more than 2,600 percent to over 2.0 Tcfe. Production for the last five
years has increased at an average compound annual growth rate of 68% to 73.8 Bcfe in 2005, comprised of 61.7 Bcf
of natural gas and 0.464 million barrels of oil from the Wyoming properties, and 1.556 million barrels from

Bohai Bay, China.

The company’s head office is in Houston, Texas, with an operations office in Denver, Colorado and a field office in
Pinedale, Wyoming. Ultra Petroleum trades under the symbol “UPL” on the American Stock Exchange.

ANNUAL MEETING Ultra Petroleum Corp.’s 2006 annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the Wyndham Hotel,
12400 Greenspoint Drive, Houston, Texas, on June 29, 2006 at 10:00 a.m. (Central Daylight Savings Time). All share-
holders are invited to attend the meeting. Shareholders are asked to sign and return the proxy form mailed with
this report to ensure representation. The annual report is not intended to be considered a part of the proxy
soliciting material.

On the Cover Rigs on the Pinedale Anticline, Wyoming in the Mesa section.
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FINANCIAL & OPERATIONS SUMMARY (cont’d)

US $ in thousands, except per share amounts Years Ended December 31

2005 2004
Total Proved Reserves®
Qil (Mbls) 20,266 18,977
Natural gas (MMcf) 1,900,223 1,414,001
Natural gas equivalents (MMcfe) 2,021,819 1,527,863
Wellhead price for PV-10 ($/Mcf) $ 8.00 $ 5.46
Qil price for PV-10 ($/Bbl) — China $ 48.74 $ 29.46
Future net revenues, undiscounted - (M$) $12,234,198 $ 6,027,392
Future net revenues, discounted - (M$) $ 5,445 583 $ 2,542,355
Proved Developed Reserves®
Qil (Mbls) 7,571 8,551
Natural gas (MMcf) 635,591 514,686
Natural gas equivalents (MMcfe) 681,017 565,992
As a percentage of total proved 34% 37%

" EBITDA - Earnings plus interest expense, income taxes, DD&A. See reconciliation on page 4.

@ Qperating cash flow - net cash provided by operating activities before changes in non-cash items and working capital. See
reconciliation on page 4.

@ Reserve numbers are based on reports by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, {nc., dated January 1, 2005 and December 31, 2005
and Ryder Scott Company, dated December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005.




2005 Annual Report

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS

Statements that are not historical facts contained in this report.
are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncer--
tainties that could cause actual results to differ from projected
results. Such statements address activities, events or develop-
ments that the Company expects, believes, projects, intends or
anticipates will or may occur, including matters such as the
future availability of capital, development and exploration
expenditures, drilling of wells, timing and amount of future
production of oil and gas, business strategies, operating costs
and other expenses, cash flow and anticipated liquidity,
prospect development and property acquisitions. Factors that
could cause results to differ materially (“Cautionary
Disclosures”) are described, among other places, under the
caption “Risk Factors and Cautionary Statement for Purposes
of the Safe Harbor Provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 included in the Company’s
10-K filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable

to the Company or persons acting on the Company’s hehalf
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the Cautionary
Disclosures, including without limitation those contained in
the Chairman’s Letter to the Shareholders included herewith.
The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise

any forward-looking statement to reflect the occurrence of
anticipated or un-anticipated events.

“RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOW
Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations Before Changes
in Non-Cash Items and Working Capital

TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS
All dollar figures quoted in the annual report are in U.S. dollars
unless otherwise stated.

« Bbl-Barrel of ol

« Bef-Billion cubic feet of natural gas

« Befe-Billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

« GAAP-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the U.S.

» MBbl-Thousand barrels of oil

» Mcf-Thousand cubic feet of natural gas

« Mcfe-Thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent
(1 barrel of oil = 6 Mcf)

« MMBbls—Million barrets of oil

« MMcf-Million cubic feet of natural gas

» MMcfe—Million cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

« Tcf-Trillion cubic feet of natural gas

« Tcfe-Trillion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent

RECONCILIATION OF EBITDA
Reconciliation of Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation,
Depletion and Amortization

($000's) For the Twelve Months Ended ($000's) For the Twelve Months Ended
12/31/2005  12/31/2004 12/31/2005  12/31/2004
Net cash provided by operating Earnings $228,300  $109,150
activities $414353  $175,343 Net Interest Cost $ 3286 § 3783
Accounts payable and Income Taxes $123,472  $ 58,010
accrued liabilities $(32,518) $ 10,169 DD&A $ 58,103 $ 30,249
Prepaid Expenses and other Stock Compensation § 2859 § 924
current assets $ (1.598) § 14 EBITDA $416,020  $202,116
Accounts Receivable $ 39,907 $ 16,400
Restricted Cash $ 2§ 1 EBITDA represents earnings plus interest expense, income
Inventory $ 519 § 275 taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortization (DD&A), and
Taxes Payable $ (3565 & (262)  stock compensation. EBITDA is not a measure of cash flow as
Other fong-term obligations § (7.931) 8 (3870)  determined in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA should not be
Cash flow from operations considered as an alternative to, or more meaningful than,
before change in non-cash items earnings or cash flow as determined in accordance with
and working capital $409,169  $198,070 GAAP or as an indicator of a company’s operating perform-

Operating cash flow is defined as net cash provided by operat-
ing activities before changes in non-cash items and working
capital. Management believes that the non-GAAP measure of
operating cash flow is used as an indicator of an cil and gas
exploration and production company’s ability to internally fund
exploration and development activities and to serve additional
debt. The company also has inciuded this information because
changes in operating assets and liabilities relate to the timing
of cash receipts and disbursements which the company may
not control and may not relate to the period in which the oper-
ating activities occur. Operating cash flow should not be con-
sidered in isolation or as a substitute for net cash provided by
operating activities prepared in accordance with GAAP.

The above table reconciles cash flow from operations before
changes in non-cash items and working capital with net cash
provided by operating activities as derived from the company’s
financial information.
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ance or liquidity. The company’s computation of EBITDA may
not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other
companies. The company believes that EBITDA is a widely
followed measure of operating performance and may also be
used by investors to measure our ability to meet future debt
service requirements, if any.
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Certain Definitions
Terms used to describe quantities of oil and natural gas and marketmg

¢ Bbl — One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons 11qu1d volume, of crude oil or other liquid
" hydrocarbons. : . :

» Bcf— One billion cubic feet of natural gas.
» Bcfe — One billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent: -

¢ BOE — One barrel of oil equivalent, converting natural gas to oil at the ratio of 6. Mcf of natural gas to
1 Bbl of oil. :

.» BTU — British Thermal Unit.

« CFD — Caofaedian — the Chrnese designation for the area in Boha1 Bay area in the vicinity of the
04/36 'and 05/36 Blocks offshore China.

. Condensate — An oil-like 11qu1d produced in assocratlon with natural gas productlon that condenses
from natural gas as it is produced and delivered into a separator or similar equipment and collected in
~ tanks at each well prior to the delivery of such natural gas to the natural gas gathering pipeline system.

. ICP— Indonesian Crude Price.
* MBbl — One thousand barrels.
* Mcf— One thousand cubic feet of natural gas

. Mcfe — One thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent, converting oil or condensate to natural gas
at the ratio of 1 Bbl of oil or condensate to 6 Mcf of natural gas.

« MMBbI — One million barrels of oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
* MMcf— One million cubic feet of natural gas.
« MBOE — One.thousand BOE.
* MMBOE — One million BOE.
« MMBTU — One million British Thermal Units.

Terms used to descrtbe the Company s interests in wells and acreage

. Gross oil and gas wells or acres — The Company s gross wells or gross acres represent the total number
of wells or acres in which the Company owns a workmg interest.

. Net oil and gas wells or acres — Determmed by multlplymg gross” oil and natural gas wells or acres
by the working interest that the Company owns in such wells or acres represented by the underlying
properties.

‘Ternis used to assign a present value to the Company’s reserves

« Standardized measure of dlscounted future net cash ﬂows after income taxes — The present value,
discounted at 10%, of the pre-tax future net cash flows attributable to estimated net proved reserves.
‘The Company calculates this amount by assuming that it will sell the oil and gas production
attributable to the proved reserves estimated in its independent engineer’s reserve report for the prices
it received for the production on the date of the report, unless it had a contract to sell the production for
a different price. The Company also assumes that the cost to produce the reserves will remain constant
at the costs prevailing on the date of the report. The assumed costs are subtracted from the assumed
revenues resulting in a stream of future net cash flows. Estimated- future income taxes, using rates in
effect-on the date of the report, are deducted from the net cash-flow stream. The after-tax cash flows
are discounted at 10% to result in the standardized measure .of the Company’s proved reserves.
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o Standardized measure of discounted future net cash. flows before income taxes — The discounted
present value of proved reserves is'identical to the standardized measure described above, except that
estimated future income taxes are not deducted in calculating future net cash flows. The Company
discloses the discounted presént value without deducting estimated income taxes to provide what it
believes is a better basis for comparison of its reserves to the producers who may have different tax
rates.

Terms used to classify the Company’s reserve quantities

The Securities and Exchange Commission- (“SEC”) definition of proved oil and gas reserves, per
Article 4-10(a) (2) of Regulation S-X, is as follows:

Proved oil and gas reserves. Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural
gas, and natural gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be
recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, i.e.,
prices and costs as of the date the estimate is made. Prices include consideration of changes in existing prices
provided only by contractual arrangements, but not on escalations based upon future conditions.

(a) Reservoirs are considered proved if economic produc1b111ty is supported by either actual productlon
or conclusive formation test. The area of a reservoir considered proved includes (1) that portion delineated by
drilling and defined by gas-oil and/or oil-water contacts, if any; and (2) the immediately adjoining portions
not yet drilled, but which can be reasonably judged as economically productive on the basis of available
geological and engineering data. In the absence of information on fluid contacts, the lowest known structural
occurrence of hydrocarbons controls the lower proved limit of the reservoir.

(b) Reserves which can be produced economically through application of improved recovery techniques
(such as fluid injection) are included in the proved classification when successful testing by a pilot project, or
the operation of an installed program in the reservoir, provides support for the engineering analysis on which
the project or program was based.

(c) Estimates of proved reserves do not include the following: (1) oil that may become available from
known reservoirs but is classified separately ‘as “indicated additional reserves”; (2) crude oil, natural gas, and
natural gas liquids, the recovery of which is subject to reasonable doubt because of uncertainty as to geology,
reservoir characteristics, or economic factors; (3) crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids, that may
occur in undrilled prospects; and (4) crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids, that may be recovered
from oil shales, coal, gilsonite and other such sources.

* Proved developed reserves — Proved reserves that can be expected to be recovered through ex1st1ng
- wells with existing equipment and operating methods

*» Proved undeveloped reserves — -~ Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on
‘undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required.

Terms used to describe the legal ownership of the Company’s oil and gas properties

» Working interest — A real property interest entitling the owner to receive a specified percentage of the
proceeds of the sale of oil and natural gas production or a percentage of the production, but requiring
the owner of the working interest to bear the cost to explore for, develop and produce such oil and
natural gas. A working interest owner who owns a portion of the working interest may participate either
as operator or by voting his percentage interest to approve or disapprove the appointment of an operator
and drilling and other major act1v1t1es in connectlon with the development and operation of a property.

‘Terms uséd to describe seismic operations

« Seismic data — Oil and gas companies use seismic data as their principal source of information to
locate oil and gas deposits, both to aid in exploration for new deposits and to manage or enhance
production from known reservoirs. To gather seismic data, an energy source is used to send sound
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waves into the subsurface strata. These waves are reflected back to the surface by underground
formations, where they are detected by geophones which digitize and record the reflected waves.
Computers are then used to process the raw data to develop an image of underground formations.

. 2-D seismic data — 2-D seismic-survey data has been the stdndard acquisition technique used to image
geologic formations over a broad area. 2-D seismic data is collected by a single line of energy sources
which reflect seismic waves to.a single line of geophones. When processed, 2-D seismic data produces
an image of a single vertical plane of sub-surface data.

3-D seismic data — 3-D seismic data is collected using a grid of energy sources, which are generally
spread over several miles. A 3-D survey produces a three dimensional image of the subsurface geology
by collecting seismic data along parallel lines and creating a cube of information that can be divided
into various planes, thus improving visualization. Consequently, 3-D seismic data is a more reliable
indicator of potential oil and natural gas reservoirs in the area evaluated.




PARTI . .
Item 1. Business. -

Ultra Petroleum Corp. (“Ultra” or the “Company™) is an. independent oil and gas company engaged in
the:development, production, operation, exploration and acquisition of oil and gas properties. The Company
was incorporated on November 14, 1979, under the laws of the Province of British-Columbia, Canada. The
Company continued into the Yukon Territory, Canada under Section -190 .of the Business Corporations Act
(Yukon Territory) on March 1, 2000. The Company s operations are focused primarily in the Green River
Basin of southwest Wyommg and Bohai Bay, ‘offshore China. From time to time, the Company evaluates
other opportunltles for the acquisition, exploratlon and development of oil and gas properties. -

As of December 31, 2005, Ultra owns interests in- approx1mately 148,007 gross (78,688 net) acres in
Wyoming covering approximately 230 square miles. The Company owns working interests in approximately
330 gross productive wells in this area and is operator of 53% of the 330 gross wells. The Company’s current
domestic operations are focused on developing and expanding a tight gas sand project located in the
Green River Basin in southwest Wyoming. In 2005, the Company’s Wyoming production was approximately
87.4% of the Company’s total oil and natural gas production on an MCFE basis and 98.5% of the Company’s
estimated net proved reserves were in Wyoming on an MCFE basis. In 2005, capital expenditures in Wyoming
comprised approximately 93% of the Company’s total capital expenditures.

Following the acquisition of Pendaries Petroleum Ltd. (“Pendaries”) on January 16, 2001, the Company
became active in oil and gas exploration and development covering the 04/36 Block and the 05/36 Block
(jointly the “Blocks™) in Bohai Bay, China. The Company currently holds an 18.18% exploration interest in
the 04/36 Block. Upon initiation of development, the interest reduced to an 8.91% working interest in field
development and production areas. Originally, the Company held a 15.00% exploration interest in the 05/36
Block which reduced, upon initiation of development, to a 7.35% working interest for development and
production areas. In 2004, an extension of the 05/36 Block exploration term was granted (from February 28,
2005 to February 28, 2006). One of the parties to the contract elected not to participate in this extension of the
exploration phase. The Company chose toacquire this available exploration interest. As a result, the Company
holds a 23.08% exploration interest in the 05/36 Block, which will be reduced to 11.31% for areas that may be
developed in the current exploration acreage.

There are currently three fields (CFD 11-6, 12-1, 12-1S) under development (located in close proximity
and thus developed under a single development plan) within the Blocks that have been “unitized” because the
fields are located in both the 04/36 and 05/36 Blocks. A Unitization Agreement was executed that assigned
the Company a 7.82% working interest in the combined field unit. The Company’s interest in the unit was
based upon the original 15.00% exploration interest in the 05/36 Block and an 18.18% exploration interest of
the 04/36 Block. On July 19, 2004, oil production began from the CFD 11-1 and 11-2 fields and on July 5,
2005, oil production began from the CFD 11-3 and 11-5 fields. All four fields are located in the 04/36 Block.
In 2005, the Company spent approximately 7% of its total 2005 capital budget on developing these China
fields, as well as on engineering work focused on development of additional fields and continuing exploration.
A wholly-owned subsidiary of Kerr-McGee Corporation is the operator of the Blocks. At the time of the
Pendaries acquisition, there were three oil discoveries on the Blocks. Since then, six new discoveries have been
made. Four of these oil fields are developed and on production and three additional fields are being developed.

The Company also owns interests in 26,868 gross (24,610 net) acres in Pennsylvania. The Company
drilled 1 gross (1.0 net) test well on this acreage during 2005. This well has been completed and is waiting on
a pipeline connection. Evaluation is ongoing to determine plans for future activity in the area. In Texas, the
Company owns a minor non-operated interest in 1 gross (0.12 net) producing well, plus the associated
80 gross (14 net) acres. The Company is currently attempting to divest this property.

The Company’s annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on
Form 8-K, as well as any amendments to such reports and all other filings we make pursuant to Section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available free of charge to the public on the Company’s
website at www.ultrapetroleum.com. To access the Company’s SEC filings, select “Financials” under the
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Investor Relations tab on the Company’s website. The. Company’s SEC: filings are available on its web51te as
soon as they are posted to the EDGAR database on the SEC’s website.

Busmess Strategy
Green River Basin, Wyoming

The Company will continue the ohgbing program to identify, develop and explore the acreage position
now held in the tight gas sand trend in the Green River Basin. The majority of the wells in the 2006 drilling
program will be targeting the sands of the upper Cretaceous Lance Pool i in the Pmedale and Jonah fields. The
Lance Pool, as administered by the Wyoming Oil and Gas Conservation Commission (“WOGCC”), includes
sands_of both the Lance (found at subsurface depths of approximately 8,000 to 12,000 feet) and Mesaverde
(found at subsurface depths of approximately 12,000 to 14,000 feet) in the Pinedale and Jonah fields area of
Sublette County, Wyoming. The Company will continue to drill step-out and exploration wells on its
Green River Basin acreage positions in an ongoing-attempt to further define and expand thé current known
producing area. In-addition to the ongoing efforts in the Lance Pool section, the Company is continuing to
evaluate the deeper, potentially productive, zones found on its acreage block below the Lance Pool. All of the
Company’s drilling activity is conducted utilizing its extensive integrated geological and geophysical data set.
This data set is being utilized to map the potentially productive intervals, to identify areas for future extension
of the Lance falrway and to identify deeper objectives whxch may watrant dnllmg

Bohat Bay, China

In 2006, the Company plans to continue producing oil at the CFD 11-1, 11-2, 11-3 and 11-5 fields,
continue development on the CFD 11-6, 12-1 and 12-18S unitized fields and drill additional exploration wells.
The Company has nine discovered oil fields in the Bohai Blocks. The first two fields, CFD 11-1 and 11-2,
began producing in July 2004, while the CFD 11-3 and 11-5 fields began producing in July 2005. Three
additional fields are currently being developed and are scheduled to go on production during the second half of
2006, bringing the total to seven producing fields by the end of 2006. Two.discoveries remain in the appraisal
stage . . .

Pennsylvania

The Company will continue to evaluate the initial test well including production testing to sales. The
Company continues to acquire additional acreage, seismic and geologic data in the area. Any decision as to
future drilling on the prospect is pending productlon testing of the initial well and ongoing geological,
geophyswal and engmeenng studies. ‘

Marketing and Pricing

The Company derives its revenues principally from the sale of its natural gas and associated condensate
production from wells operated by the Company and others in the Green River Basin in southwest Wyoming.
To a lesser extent, the Company derives revenues from the sale of its share of oil production from its producing
fields in the Bohai Bay area, offshore China. The Company’s revenues are determined, to a large degree, by
prevailing natural gas prices for production situated in the Rocky Mountain Region of the United States;
specifically, southwest Wyoming, as well as prevalhng prices for crude oil produc ed in the Bohai Bay region of
China. Energy commodity prices in general and the Company’s regional prices in particular, have been highly
volatile in the past, and such high levels of volatlhty are expected to continue in the future. The Company
cannot accurately predict or control the market prices that it receives for the sale of its natural gas, condensate,
or oil production. However, the Company has, in-the regular course of its business, from time to time, hedged
a portion of its natural gas production primarily through the use of fixed price, forward sales of physical gas, or
through the limited use of financial swaps with creditworthy financial counterparties. The Company may elect
to hedge additional portions.of its forecast natural gas production in the future, in-much the same manner as it.
has done previously. The Company has not, to date, hedged any of its Chinese oil production; although, it may
do so in. the future. For a more detailed description of the Company’s hedging activities, see Item 7A
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market-Risk. The Company’s hedging policy limits amounts
hedged to not more than 50% of its forecast production without board approval. As a result of its hedging
activities, the Company may realize prices that are less than the spot prices that it would have received.

Natural Gas Marketing

The Company currently sells all of its natural gas production to a diverse group of third-party, non-
affiliated entities in a portfolio of transactions of varibus durations-'(daily, monthly and longer term). The
Company’s customers are sﬂuated in the western United States — primarily California and the Pacific
Northwest as well as the Front Range area of Colorado and in Utah. The sale of the Company’s natural gas is

““as produced”, and the Company does not maintain any significant inventories or imbalances of natural gas.
The Company maintains credit policies intended to mitigate the risk of uncollectible accounts receivable. The
Company does not have any outstanding, uncollectlble accounts for natural gas sa]es

During 2005, the Company negotiated several significant new or amended gathering and processing
agreements with various midstream service providers that gather, compress and/or process natural gas owned
or controlled by the Company from its producing wells in the Pinedale Anticline and Jonah Fields in
southwest Wyoming. These agreements provide that the respective midstream service providers expand the
capacities of their facilities in southwest Wyoming to. accommodate growing volumes from wells in which the
Company owns an interest. Most of these agreements or amendments contain multi-year commitments for
midstream services. In more than one instance, the Company was able to substantially lower some of the fees
that it pays for such midstream services, in exchange for committing to these longer term arrangements. The
capac1ty of the midstream infrastructure related to the Company’s productlon contmues to be adequate to
allow it to sell essentlally all of its avallable productlon

During 2005 the Company reahzed natural gas prices that were higher than those historically seen in the
southwest Wyoming region. The market price for natural gas in the Rockies generally, and in southwest
Wyoming specifically, is influenced by a number of regional and national factors; all of which are beyond the
ability of the Company to control or to predict. These factors include weather, natural gas supplies, natural gas
demand, and pipeline export capacity. A hotter than normal summer, plus the impact of two major hurricanes
(Katrina and Rita) on natural gas production from the Gulf of Mexico, caused natural gas prices in the
Rocky Mountain Region, and other parts of the country, to increase during the third and fourth quarters of
2005. ‘

Because production exceeds local-demand for natural gas, the Rocky Mountain Region is usually a net-
exporter of natural gas. Historically, natural gas production in southwest Wyoming has sold at a discount
relative to other U.S. natural gas production sources or market areas. These regional pricing differentials or
discounts are typically referred to as “basis” or “basis differentials”. The Company has seen significant basis
differentials for its Wyoming production, versus the Henry Hub pricing reference point in south Louisiana in
the past. As a result, during that time period, the Company realized prices that were significantly lower than
those received by companies ‘with production in other regions of the U.S. Significant increases in pipeline
capac1ty to transport production from-the Rockies production areas to markets in the West in recent years
have served to improve (i.e. lower) bas1s differentials for Wyoming natural gas production. (Examples
include: Kern River Pipeline — in service May 2003, and the Cheyenne Plains Pipéline — in service February
2005). These expansions of pipeline export capacity have, in'the past, reduced but not eliminated the basis
differential for natural gas prices in' southwest ‘Wyoming when'compared to prices at the Henry Hub pricing
reference point. There have been, from' time to time, numerous -other proposed pipeline projects that have
been announced to transport Rockies and Wyommg natural gas production to markets.

_Dunng 2005, the Company took a major step toward assuring that the plpehnclnfrastructure to move the
Company’s natural gas supplies away from southwest Wyoming will be expanded to provide sufficient capacity
to transport its natural-gas production and to provide for reasonable basis differentials for its natural gas in the
future. The Company agreed to become an anchor shipper on the proposed Rockies Express Pipeline project,
sponsored by subsidiaries of Kinder Morgan and Sempra Energy. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built as
proposed, would be the largest natural gas transmission pipeline project of its type built in the United States in
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more than 20 years, beginning at the Opal Processing Plant in southwest Wyoming and traversing Wyoming
and several other states to an ultimate terminus in eastern Ohio. This project is projected to cover more than
1,800 miles and is contemplated to be a large-diameter (42”), high-pressure natural gas pipeline. The Rockies
Express Pipeline, if built, will be an interstate pipeline and would therefore be subject to the jurisdiction of the
United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission: (“FERC”).

On December 19, 2005, the Company signed two Precedent Agreements (“Precedent Agreements’™)
with Rockies Express Pipeline, LLC and Entrega Gas Pipeline, LLC governing how the parties will proceed
through the design, regulatory process and construction of the pipeline facilities and, subject to certain
conditions precedent, the Company will take firm transportation service if and when the pipeline facilities are
constructed. Commencing upon completion of the pipeline facilities, the Company’s commitment involves
capacity of 200,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas for a term of 10 years, and the Company will be obligated
to pay to Rockies Express Pipeline, LLC certain demand charges related to its rights to hold this firm
transportation capacity as an-anchor shipper. Based on current assumptions, current projections regarding the
cost of the expansion and the participation of other shippers in the expansion (noting specifically that these
assumptions are likely to change materially), the-Company currently projects that annual demand charges due
may be approximately $70 million per year for the term of 'the contract, exclusive of fuel and surcharges. The
Company’s Board of Directors approved the Precedent Agreements on February 6, 2006 and Kinder Morgan,
as the managing member of the Rockies Express Pipeline, LLC advised the Company of their final approval
of the Precedent Agreements, and their intent to proceed with the construction of the Rockies ‘Express
Pipeline on February 28, 2006. The pipeline facilities are currently anticipated to:be completed in stages
between 2007 and 2009.. Although the Company is-optimistic that the Rockies Express Pipeline project will
receive the necessary regulatory approvals and be constructed in a timely manner, there can be no assurances
that the Rockies Express Pipeline will be built, nor will there be any assurances that, if bullt it will prevent
large basis dlfferentlals from occurring in the future,’

oil Marketing

Through its wholly-owned Sino-American Energy Corporation subsidiary, the Company continued to
market its share of oil production from the CFD 11-1 and 11-2 fields during 2003. In addition, the next two of
its fields in Block 04/36 Bohai Bay, offshore China (CFD 11-3 and 11-5), began producing oil in July 2005.

The sale of the Company’s Chinese oil production (“CFD crude™) is done on a tanker/ cargo lifting basis.
As the Company’s share of inventories on the CFD 11-1 and 11-2 and 11-3 and 11-5 fields’ Floating
Production Storage and Offloading Vessel -(“FPSO”) become sufficient to schedule a lifting (typically
200,000 — 300,000 barrels per cargo), the Company coordinates with the operator and its markets to lift a
cargo. By necessity, the Company will, from time to time, carry inventories of crude oil to accommodate the
lifting schedules for its share of oil from the FPSO. Each of the partners in the CFD 11-1/11-2 and 11-3/11-5
fields are responsible for, the disposition of their respective share of the CFD crude production. Kerr-McGee,
as operator of these fields, manages the lifting schedule for production from these fields. The Company has
sold most of its share of the CFD crude production to an affiliate of its Chinese partner, Chinese National
Offshore Qil Corporation (“CNOQC”) China, Ltd., at prices that reflect a slight discount to the Indonesian
Crude Price (“ICP”) Duri monthly average price. In 2005, for the first time, the Company sold some of its
share of the CFD crude production outside of China, and it continues to assess its opportunities to market its
share of the CFD crude production to other markets such as Korea, Japan and Singapore. The Company does
not have-any outstanding, uncollectible accounts for CFD crude oil sales as of December 31, 2005.

Currently, the CFD crude is a heavy, sweet crude oil, with an API gravity of approximately 19 degrees.
The production from these first four fields is from multiple. productive reservoirs, which have variability in the
quality of oil. The Company believes that the quality of the oil produced from these fields will tend to improve
as additional wells and reservoirs are completed and placed into production. Due to its quality and physical
characteristics, refiners and other markets for the CFD -crude oil typically expect to be able to purchase CFD
crude at prices that are lower than light sweet crude oils like West Texas Intermediate or Brent. Oil produced
and sold from the four CFD fields is typically priced based upon the monthly official ICP for Duri field crude.
The.Duri crude, produced in Indonesia, is of similar quality to the CFD crude produced in the Bohai Bay area.
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The official ICP Duri price is a monthly weighted average of three, independent daily assessments of the price
of Duri crude, reported by Platt’s: Asian Petroleum Price Index published by Seapac Services Limited, and
RIM Intelligence Co. To the monthly. official ICP Duri marker price, a premium or discount is added to
reflect- transportation and quality- differentials for the CFD crude relative to the Duri marker crude. The
premium or discount for the CFD crude (relative to the Duri. price) is negotiated monthly between the
Company and its partners, including CNOOC.

Envrronmental Maltters . _ ,

In 1998 the U.S. Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) 1mtrated a requlrement for an Environmental
Impact Statement (“EIS”) for the Pinedale Anticline area in the:Green River Basin. An EIS evaluates the
effects that.an industry’s activities will have on the environment.in which the activity is proposed. This EIS
encompasses. the area north of the Jonah Field, including the Pinedale Anticline, which is where most of the
Company’s exploration and development is taking place. This environmental study included an analysis of the
geological and reservoir characteristics.of the afea plus the necessary environmental studies related to wildlife,
surface use, socio-economic and air. quality issues. On July 27, 2000, the BLM issued:its Record of Decision
(“ROD”") with respect to the final EIS. The ROD/EIS allows for the drilling 'of 700 producing surface
locations within the area covered by the EIS, but does not authorize the drilling of particular wells. Ultra must
submit applications to the BLM’'s. Pinedale field manager for permits to drill and for other required
authorizations, .such as rights-of-way for pipelines, for each specific well or pipeline location. Development
activities in the Pinedale Anticline area, as on all fedéeral leaseholds, remain subject to regulatory agency
approval.- In making its determination on whether to approve specific drilling or development activities, the
BLM . applies the requirements outlined in the ROD/EIS.

" The ROD/EIS i imposes limitations and restnctlons on actrvmes in the Pinedale Anticline area, including
limits on winter drilling and completion activity, and proposes mitigation guidelines, standard practices for
industry activities and best management practices for sensitive areas. The ROD/EIS also provides for annual
reviews to compare actual environmental impacts to the environmental impacts projected in the EIS and
provides for adjustments.to mitigate such impacts, if necessary. The review team is comprised of operators,
local residents and other affécted persons. The Company cannot predict if or how these changes may affect
permitting, development and compliance under the ROD/EIS. The BLM’s field manager may also impose
additional limitations and mitigation measures as are deemed reasonably necessary to mitigate the impact of
dnlhng and production operations in the area.

As of December 31,2005, the Company had approxrmately 46-well locations with. respect to which both
the BLM and the WOGCC have. approved permits to drill on Company operated federal leases in the
Pinedale Anticline -and Jonah field- areas.

To date, the Company has expended significant resources in order to satisfy applicable environmental
laws and regulations in the Pinedale Antrchne area and other areas, of operation under, the jurisdiction of the
BLM. The Company’s future costs of’ complymg with “these regulations may continue to be substantial.
Further, any additional limitations and mitigation measures could further increase production cdsts, delay
exploration, development and productron act1v1tles ‘and curtarl explorat1on development and producuon
activities altogether.

. The Company also co;owns leases - on state and privately owned .lands in the vicinity of the Pinedale
Anticline that do not fall under the jurisdiction of the BLM and are not subject to the EIS requirement.

-In August 1999, the BLM required an Environmental Assessment (“EA”) for the potential increased
density drilling in the Jonah Field area. An EA is a more limited environmental study than is conducted under
an EIS. The EA was required to address the potential environmental impacts of developing the field on a well
density of two wells per 80 acre drilling and spacing unit as opposed to-the one well per 80 acre drilling and
spacing unit as was approved in the initial Jonah Field EIS approved in 1998, The new EA was completed in
June 2000. With- the approval of this EA and the earlier approval-by the WOGCC for drilling of two wells
per 80 acre drilling and spacing unit, the Company was permitted to drill infill wells at this well density on the
2,160 gross (1,322 net) acres then owned by the Company-in the Jonah-Field. Prior to these approvals, the
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Company had drilled 21 gross (7.7 net) wells in the field. Since the increased density approvals, the Company
has drilled an additional 22 gross (14.0 net) wells in.the field. All 43 wells drilled by the Company in the
Jonah Field have been productive. Since this time various other operators have received approval for the
drilling of increased density wells in pilot areas at well densities ranging from four wells per 80 acre drilling and
spacing unit to sixteen wells per dnlhng and spacing unit. Results of all of these pilot projects were utilized in
acquiring ‘approval from the WOGCC in November 2004 to increase the overall density of developrnent for
the Jonah Field to e1ght wells per 80 acre dnlhng and spacmg unit, The BLM is currently conducting a new
EIS covermg the Jonah Field to assess the impacts of ‘this- 1ncreased density dévelopment and define the
parameters under which th1s increased dens1ty ‘development will be allowed to proceed. The draft EIS was
made available mid- February 2005. After review and comment by all parties the BLM is now preparing the
final ROD. It i is expected that the ROD for the new J onah EIS should be 1ssued dunng the first half of 2006

During 2003, 2004 and 2005, Ultra and other operators in the Pinedale Field received approval from-the
WOGCC to drill increased density pilot project wells in several areas of the Pinedale Field.  These pilot
projects are designed to test the feasibility of developing this field in well densities.greater than the currently
approved one well per 40 acres. The results of some of this work led to the WOGCC in July 2004. approving
the development of the northern portion of the anticline on a two wells.per. 40 acre density: The acreage is
operated by Questar Exploration and Production Company (Y'Questar”), a wcrking interest partner of the
Company, and the Company owns a working interest in ‘the majority of this acreage. This approval.covers
approximately 14,432 gross acres. Since this time, additional increased density pilot-wells have been drilled by
Ultra and others on the pilot areas within the Pinedale field. Based .on the data gathered through these pilot
projects, the WOGCC approved several additional Increased. Density applications during 2005. In August
2005, .approval was granted for development of a significant portion of the_ northern portion ‘of the Pinedale
field for dnlhng on a four wells per 40 acre density. This approval covers approxrmately 11,256 gross acres in
which Ultra owns an interest and are operated by Questar. In’ November 2005, approval was granted for
development of a significant portion of the central Pinedale Field and surrounding area on a two wells
per 40 acre density. This approval covers approximately 23,816 gross acres in which Ultra owns an interest.
Ultra operates the majority of the acreage covered by this approval. Further drilling within these areas.and the
other pilot areas..approved for increased density continues and the results of these are being evaluated to
determine the .appropriate course of action asto the overall development strategy for the Pinedale Field.

In April 2004, Questar asked the BLM to modify winter-access restrictions to specifically allow them to
operate on three active pads with two_drilling rigs per pad. This request required an EA to weigh the negative
impacts of winter act1v1ty relative to the extensive mltlgation measures proposed by Questar. On November 9,
2004 they recewed approval in the form of a “Frnding of No Slgmﬁcant Impact” (“FONSI”) from the BLM
to phase in over the next year their proposed year-round dnlhng program which allowed two drilling ngs on
one pad during the winter of 2004-2005. Questar proposed mitigation measures including construction of a
water and condensate gathering system during the summer of 2005. Questar’s propdsal allows them to operate
six rigs from three active pads beginning in the winter of 2005-2006 through the winter of 2013-2014 once they
have completed 1mplementat10n of the proposed mitigation measures.

The BLM ‘approved the Questar proposal after considering extensive input from the participating
agencies‘received during the public comment process. Key 'components of the a])proval are: 1) One pad with
two drilling rigs during the winter of 2004-2005; 2) three pads with two drilling rigs per pad in the winter of
2005-2006 and thereafter through the winter of 2013/2014; 3) activities during the May-November period
will continue to be governed by the original Pinedale Anticline EIS; 4) directional drilling with up to 16 wells
per pad resulting in only one-third of the drilling phase surface disturbance contemplated under the original
EIS; 5) construction of a produced water and condensate gathering system in 2005; 6) funding for continied
monitoring of mule deer and other critical wildlife for the duration of development activity; 7) use of flareless-
completion technology to reduce noise, air and visual pollution during well-comyletion operations; 8) funding
for air-quality monitoring; and 9) wildlife habitat enhancement as well as other monitoring and mitigation
measures described in the BLM decision record.

Questar has met their commitments under the terms of thls approval and is now proceeding with the
winter drilling program as proposed. Currently there are six Questar operated drilling rigs:operating within the
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area of this approval, two rigs on each of three separate winter pads. These wells will be drilled to total depth,
logged and cased during the winter restriction period with completion-activity to commence in the spring with
the lifting of -the normatl seasonal wildlife restrictions. - -

. In early 2005, Ultra, along with Anschutz and Shell (““Proponents”‘) proposed to the BLM a winter
access dernbns'tratién project for the Mesa area of the Pinedale Field. This area is normally subject to the
winter big game stipulation which prohibits drilling and completion activities in the area from Novem-
ber 15" until April 30, Under the terms of the proposal, the Proponents would be able to operate a total of six
rigs, two each on three dlfferent winter pads. During this winter demonstration project, the Proponents plan to
employ innovative technologies and practices for operations to provide a more beneficial alternative to the
current wildlife restrictions. Upon successful completion of the winter .demonstration project, the Proponents
intend to apply the operations principles demonstrated to implement a long-term development plan that will
result in substantially less impact to wildlife, habitat, and local communities than what is allowed under the
current Pinedale Anticline Project Area (“PAPA”) ROD while providing assurance of year round access
from the BLM to permit the implementation of a comprehensive development scenario for the Pinedale Field.
An EA was conducted by the BLM to evaluate the winter demonstration project proposal and associated
impacts and the Proponents received approval in the form of.a FONST ruling from the BLM in September
2005. The proponents began activities in the winter demonstration project-in November 2005 and are currently
running the six rigs as proposed. The FONSI ruling includes several conditions of approval requiring
monitoring and mitigation of impacts on wildlife and momtonng and m1t1gat1on of rig engine emissions and
noise levels associated with project drilling activities. . ..

_ Subsequent to the FONSI ruling allowing implementation of the winter demonstration project, the
Proponents submitted a development proposal for the Pinedale Field which includes broad application of
operations principles being evaluated in the demonstration project area. The Proponents have now entered into
a Memorandum of Understandmg with the BLM to commence the preparation of a Supplernental
Environmental Impact Statement (“SEIS”) for year-round access in the Pinedale field.

The SEIS process is proceeding and impacts of the development proposal will be analyzed to assess
alternative considerations and .mitigation requirements that should be considered as alternatives to those
included in the proposal or in addition to- those measures now proposed. The proposed action includes
commitments to reduce surface disturbance by utilizing fewer overall pads and drilling more directional wells
than called for in the PAPA ROD. Also, if approved, the Proponents pfoposal commits to reduced air
emissions. The Proponents have proposed to apply technology to drilling rig engines to reduce emissions, to
reduce vehicle traffic by installing a liquids gathering system as appropriate in the field, and by expanding the
use of telemetry to reduce production operations traffic requirements. The Proponents have also proposed
~additional rnomtormg to assess benefits of mitigation activities on the 1mpacts of development activities on the
wildlife in the project area. The proposal’ commits to offsite mitigation measures should the monitoring
“indicate it is warranted. If approved, the Proponents’ proposal commits to reduced reserve pit use and to
accelerated surface reclamation. The SEIS process calls for a ROD in late 2006.

In September 2002, the Company received the “Oil and Gas Wildlife Stewardshlp award from the
Wyoming Game and Fish Department in recognition of its contribution to wildlife managernent in the
Pinedale area. During 2001, the Company received the “Agency/Corporation of the Year” award from the
Wyoming Wildlife Federation and the “Regional Administrator’s Award for Env1ronmental Achievement”
from the U S. Env1ronmental Protection Agency

Regulation
Oil and Gas Regulation

The availability of a ready market for oil and gas production depends upon numerous factors beyond the
Company’s control. These factors may include state and federal regulation of oil and gas production and ‘
transportation, as well as regulations governing environmental quality and pollution control, state limits on *
allowable. rates of production by a well or proration unit, the amount of oil and gas available for sale, the
availability of adequate pipeline and other transportation and processing facilities and the marketing of
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competitive fuels. For example, a productive natural gas well may be “shut-in” because of a lack of an
available natural gas pipeline in the areas in which the Company may conduct operations. State and federal
regulations are generally intended to prevent waste of oil and gas, protect rights to produce oil and gas between
owners in a common resérvoir, control the-amount of oil and gas produced by assigning allowable rates of
production and control contamination of the environment. Pipelines and natural gas plants are also subject to
the jurisdiction of various federal, state and local agencies.

The Company’s sales of natural gas are affected by the availability, terms and costs of transportation both
in the gathering systems that transport from the wellhead.to the interstate pipelines and in the interstate
pipelines themselves. The rates, terms.and conditions applicable to the interstate transportation of natural gas
by pipelines are regulated by the FERC under the Natural Gas Act, as well as under Section 311 of the
Natural Gas Policy Act. Since 1985, the FERC has 1mplemented regulations intended to increase competition
Wwithin the natural gas 1ndustry by making natural gas transportation more accessible to natural gas buyers and
sellers on an open-access, non-discriminatory basis. On February 25, 2000, ‘the FERC issued a statement of
pohcy and a final rule concérning alternatives to its traditional cost-of-service rate-making methodology to
establish the rates interstate pipelines may charge for services. The final rule revises the FERC’s pricing pohcy
and current regulatory framework to improve the efficiency of the market and further enhance competition in
natufal gas markets. The FERC is also considering a number of regulatory initiatives that could affect the
terms and costs of interstate transportation of natural gas by interstate pipelines on behalf of natural gas
shippers, including policy inquiries about natural gas quality and 1nterchangeab1hty, selective discounting of
" transportation services by pipelines to shippers, and proposed’rules governing pipeline creditworthiness and
collateral standards. Because these regulatory initiatives have not been made final, the approach the FERC
will take and the potential impact on natural gas suppliers are not clear.

The Company’s sales of oil are also affected by the availability, térms and costs of transportation. The
rates, terms, and conditions applicable to the interstate transportation of oil by pipelines are regulated by the
FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act. The FERC has implemented a simplified- and generally
applicable ratemaking methodology for interstate oil pipelines to fulfill the requirements of Title XVIII of the"
Energy Policy Act of 1992 comprised of an indexing system to establish cellmgs on interstate oil pipeline rates.

In the event the Company conducts operations on federal, tribal or state lands, such operatlons must
comply with numerous regulatory restrictions, including various operational requirements and restrictions,
nondiscrimination statutes and royalty and related valuation requirements. In addition, certain of such
operations must be conducted pursuant to certain on-site security regulations, bonding requirements and
applicable permits issued by the BLM or Minerals Management Serv1ce Bureau of Indian Affairs, tribal or
other apphcable federal, state and/or Indian Tribal agencies.- -

The Mineral Leasing Act of 1920 (“Mineral Act”) prohlblts direct or indirect ownershlp of any interest
in federal onshore oil and gas leases by a foreign citizen of a country that denies “similar or like privileges” t
citizens of the United States. Such restrictions on citizens of a non- rec1procal country include ownershlp or
holding or controlhng stock in a corporation that holds a federal onshore oil and gas lease. If this restriction is
violated, the corporation’s lease can be canceled in a proceeding 1hst1tuted by the United States
Attorney General. Although the regulations of the BLM (which administers the Mineral Act) provide for
agency designations of non-reciprocal countries, there are presently no such designations in effect. The
Company owns interests in numerous federal onshore oil and gas leases. It is possible that holders of the
Company’s equity interests may be citizens of foreign countries,’which, at some time in the future might be
determined to. be non-reciprocal under the Mineral Act.

See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risks involved in our international operations.

Envzronmental Regulations

General. The Company’s activities in the United States are subject to ex1st1ng federal, state and local
laws and regulations governing environmental quality, oil spills and poliution control and its activities in China
are subject to the laws and regulations of China. It is anticipated that, absent the occurrence of an
extraordinary event, compliance with existing federal, state and local laws, rules and régulations governing the
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release-of materials-in the environment or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment will not have
a material effect-'upon the -Comp’any’s operations, capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.

The Company s activities wrth respect to exploratron drrlhng and production from wells and natural gas
facilities, 1nc1ud1ng the operatron ‘and constructlon of pipelines, plants and other facilities for transporting,
processing, treating or storing oil, natural gas and other products, dre subject to stringent environmental
regulation by state and federal authorities, including the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”). Such
regulation. can incréase -the cost of ‘planning, designing, installing and. operating such facilities. In most
instances, the regulatory requlrements relate to water and air pollutlon control measures.

) Solzd and. Hazardous Waste .The Company currently owns or leases, and has in the past owned or
leased numerous properties that have been used for the exploratron and production of oil and gas for many
years. Although the Company utilized operating and disposal practices that were standard in the industry at
the time, hydrocarbons or other solid wastes may have been disposed’ of or released on or under the properties
that the Company currently owns or leases or properties that the Company has owned or leased or on or under
locations where such wastes have been taken for disposal. In addition, many. of these properties have been
operated by’ thrrd parties over whom the Company had no control as to such _ entities’ treatment. of
hydrocarbons.or other wastes or the. manner in which such substances may have been disposed of or released.
State and federal laws applicable to oil and gas wastes and propertres have gradually become stricter over time.
Under new laws, the Company could be requ1red to remediate property, including ground water, containing or
impacted by previously disposed. wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators)
or to perform remedial plugging operatrons to prevent future, or mrtlgate exrstmg, contamination.

The Company may generate wastes, including hazardous wastes that are subject to the federal Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act. (“RCRA”) and comparable state statutes. The EPA and various state
agencies have limited the disposal options for.certain wastes, 1nc1ud1ng wastes designated as hazardous under
the RCRA .and state .analogs (“Hazardous Wastes”) and is consrdenng the adoption of stricter disposal
standards for non-hazardous wastes. Furthermore, certain wastes generated by the Company’s oil and gas
operations that are currently exempt from treatment as Hazardous Wastes may in the future be desrgnated as
Hazardous Wastes under the RCRA or other applicable statutes and therefore be subject to more rigorous
and costly operating and drsposal requrrements

- Superfund. The federal Comprehensrve Env1ronmenta1 Response, Compensatron and Lrabrlrty Act
(“CERCLA”), also known as the “Superfund” law, generally imposes joint and several liability for costs of
investigation and remediation and for natural resource damages, without regard to fault or the legality of the
original conduct, on certain classes of persons with respect to the release into the environment of substances
designated under CERCLA as hazardous substances (“Hazardous Substances”). These classes of persons, or
so-called potentially responsible parties (“PRP”), include currént and certain past owners and operators of a
facility where there has been a release or threat of release of a Hazardous Substance and persons who disposed
of or arranged for the disposal of the Hazardous Substances found at such a facility. CERCLA also authorizes
the EPA and, in some cases, third parties to take actions in response to threats to the public health or the
environment and to seek to recover from the PRP the costs of such action. Although CERCLA generally
exempts “petroleum” from the definition of Hazardous Substance, in the course of its operations,’ the
Company has generated" and will generate wastes that fall within CERCLA’s definition of Hazardous
Substances. The Company may also be an owner or operator of facilities on which Hazardous Substances have
been released. The Company may be ‘résponsible under CERCLA for all or part of the costs to clean up
facilities at which such substances have been released and for natural resource damages. To its knowledge, the
Company has not been named a PRP under CERCLA nor have any prior owners or operators of. its properties
been named as PRP’s related to their ownership or operation of such property.

National Environmental Policy Act. The federal National Environmental Policy Act provides that, for
those federal actions. that are major federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the buman
environment, the federal agency. taking such action.must follow certain stéps in evaluating the environmental
impacts of the federal action. This. evaluation generally takes the form of an EIS. In the EIS, the agency is
required to evaluate alternatives to the proposed action and the environmental impacts of the alternatives.
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Actions such as drilling on federal lands, to the extent the drilling requires federal approval, likely trigger the

requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act, with few exceptions. Certain of the Company’s

activities may trigger these requirements. The requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act may

result in increased costs, significant delays and the imposition of restrictions or obhgatrons including the
' restriction or prohibition of drilling, upon the Company’s activities.

0il Pollution Act. The Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA”), which amends and augments oil spill
provisions of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”"), imposes certain duties and liabilities on certain “responsible .
parties” related to the prevention of oil spills and damages resulting from such spills in or threatening
United States waters or adjoining shorelines. A liable “responsible party” includes the owneér or operator of a
facility, vessel or pipeline that is a source of an oil discharge or that poses the substantial threat of discharge or,
in the case of offshore facilities, the lessee or permittee of the area in which a discharging facility is located.
The OPA assigns joint and several liability, without regard to fault, to each liable party for oil removal costs
and a variety of public and private damages. Although defenses and limitations exist to the liability imposed by
OPA, they are limited. In the event of an oil dlscharge or substant1a1 threat of discharge, we ‘may be liable for
costs and damages.

‘Air Emissions. The Company’s operations are subject to local, state ard federal regulations for the
control of emissions from sources of air pollution. Federal and state laws require new and modified sources of
air pollutants. to obtain permits prior to commencing construction. Major sources of air pollutants are subject
to more stringent, federally imposed requirements including additional perrnits. ‘Federal -and state laws
designed to control hazardous (toxic) air pollutants, might require installation of additional controls.
Administrative enforcement actions for failure-to comply strictly with air pollution regulations or permits are
generally resolved by payment of monetary fines and correction of any identificd deficiencies. Alternatively,
regulatory agencies could bring lawsuits for civil penalties or require the Company to forego construction,
modification or operation of certain air emrss1on Sources.

Clean Water Act. The CWA i 1rnposes restnctrons and strict controls rega1 dlng the discharge of wastes
including produced waters and other oil and natural gas wastes, into waters of the United States, a term
broadly defined. These controls have become more stringent over the years, and it is probable that additional
restrictions will be 1mposed in the future. Permits must be obtained to discharge pollutants into federal waters.
The CWA provides for civil, criminal and administrative penalties for unauthorized discharges of pollutants -
and_of oil and hazardous substances. It imposes substantial potential liability for the costs of removal or
remediation associated with discharges of oil or hazardous substances. State laws governing discharges to
water also provide varying civil, criminal and administrative pena]tles and impose liabilities in the case of a
discharge of petroleum or its derivatives, or other hazardous substances, into state waters. In addition, the
EPA has promulgated regulations that may require the Company to obtain permits to discharge storm water
runoff; including discharges associated with construction activities. In the event of an unauthorized discharge
of wastes, the Company may be liable for penalties 'and costs

Endangered Species Act. The Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) was estabhshed to provrde a means to
conserve the ecosystems upon which endangered and threatened species depend, to provide a program for
conservation of these endangered and threatened species, and to take the appropriate steps that are necessary
to brmg any endangered or threatened species to the point where measures provided for in the ESA are no
longer necessary. The Company conducts operations on federal oil and gas leases that have species, such as
sage grouse or other sensitive species, that potentially could be listed as threatened or endangered under the
ESA. If a species is listed as threatened or endangered, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service must also des1gnate
the species’ critical habitat and suitable habitat as part of the effort to ensure survival of the species. A critical
habitat or suitable habitat designation could result in further material restrictions to federal land use and may
materially delay or prohibit land access for oil and gas development. If the Company were to have a portion of
its leases designated as critical or suitable habitat, it . may adversely impact the value of the affected leases.

OSHA and other Regulations.  The Company is subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational
Safety and Health Act (“OSHA™) and comparable state statutes. The OSHA hazard communication
standard, the EPA community right-to-know regulations under Title III of CERCLA and similar state
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statutes require us to orgamze and/ or disclose mforrnatwn about hazardous materials used or produced in its
operations. : g

' The Company believes that it is in substantial compliance with current applicable environmental laws and
regulations and that continued comphance with existing requlrements will not have a material adverse impact -
on the Company.

. Employees
As‘of December 31, 2005, the Company had 57 full time employees, inéluding officers.

Item 1A. stk Factors.

There are inhevent ltmztattons in all control systems, and misstatements due to evror or fraud that could
seriously harm our business may occur and not be detected.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect
that our internal controls and disclosure controls will prevent all possible error and all fraud. A control system,
no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable; riot absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. In addition, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints and the benefit of controls must -be relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all
control issues and instances of fraud, if any, in our Company have been detected. These inherent limitations
include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because
of simple error or mistake. Further, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons or by
collusion of two or more persons. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed
in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, a control may be inadequate
because of changes in conditions or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 1 may deteriorate.
Because of inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected. A failure of our contro]s and procedures to detect error or fraud could seriously
harm our business and results of operations.

Our reserve information represents estimates that may turn out to be incorrect if the assumptions upon
which these estimates ave based are inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in these veserve estimates or
underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves.

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and projected
future rates of production and timing of development expenditures, including many factors beyond the control
of the Company. The reserve data and standardized measures set forth herein represent only estimates.
Reserve engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and gas that
cannot be measured in an ‘exact way and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of
available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. As a result, estimates of
different engineers often vary. In addition, results of drilling, testing and production subsequent to the date of
an estimate may justify revision of suclr estimates. Accordingly, reserve estimates are often different from the
quantities of oil and gas that are ultimately recovered. Further, the estimated future net revenues from proved
reserves and the present value thereof are based upon certain assumptions, including geologic success, prices,
future production levels and costs that may not prove correct over time. Prédictions of future production levels
are subject to great uncertainty, and the meaningfulness of such estimates is highly dependent upon the
accuracy of the assumptions upon which they are based. Historically, oil'and gas prices have fluctuated widely.

Competitive industry conditions may negatively affect our ability to conduct operations.

The Company competes with numerous other companies in virtually all facets of its business. The
competitors in development, exploration, acquisitions and production include major integrated oil and gas
companies as well as numerous independents, including many that have significantly greater resources.
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Therefore, competitors may be able to pay more for desirable leases and evaluate, bid for and purchase a
greater number of properties or prospects than the financial or personnel resources of the Company permit.
The ability of the Company to increase reserves in the future will be dependent on its ability to select and
acquire suitable prospects for future exploration and development.

Factors that affect our ability to compete in the marketplace include:
« our access to the capital necessary to drill wells and acquire propeities;
» our ability to acquire and analyze seismic, geological and other information relating to a property;

« our ability to retain the personnel necessary to properly evaluate seismic and other information relating
to a property; and

« the location of, and our ability to access platforms, pipelines and other facilities used to produce and
transport oil and gas production;
Factors beyond our control affect our ability to market production and our financial results.

The ability to market oil and natural gas depends on numerous factors beyond the Company’s control.
These factors include: :

the extent of domestic production and imports of oil and natural gas;

the availability of pipeline, capacity;

« the effects of inclement weather,;

» the demand for oil and natural gas by utilities and other end users;

« the availability of alternative fuel sources;

» the proximity of natural gas production to natural gas pipelines;

+» state and federal regulations of oil and natural gas marketing; and

» federal regulation of natural gas sold or transported in interstate commerce.

Because of these factors, the Company may be unable to market all of the oil and natural gas that it
produces, including oil and natural gas that may be produced from the Bohai Bay properties in China. In
addition, the Company may be unable to obtain favorable prices for the oil ard natural gas it produces.

We may experience a temporary decline in revenues if we lose one of our significant customers.

In 2005, the Company had three significant customers, CNOOC, Occidental Energy Marketing, Inc. and
Sempra Energy Trading, that individually accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s total natural gas and
oil sales. To the extent these or any other significant customer reduces the volume of its oil or gas purchases
from us, we could experience a temporary interruption in sales of, or a lower price for, our oil and natural gas.

A decrease in oil and gas prices may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

The Company’s revenues are determined, to a large degree, by prevailing natural gas prices for production
situated in the Rocky Mountain Region of the United States, specifically, scuthwest Wyoming, as well as
prevailing prices for crude oil produced in the Bohai Bay region of China. Energy commodity prices in general,
and the Company’s regional prices in particular, have been highly volatile in the past, and such high levels of
volatility are expected to continue in the future. The Company cannot accurately predict or control the market
prices that it receives for the sale of its natural gas, condensate, or oil production.

Prices for oil and gas are subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in the supply
of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors beyond the Company’s
control. These factors include but are not limited to weather conditions in the United States, the condition of
the United States economy, the actions of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, governmental
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regulation, political stability in the Middle East-and elsewhere, the foreign supply of oil and gas, the price of
foreign oil and gas imports and the availability of alternate fuel sources and transportation interruption. Any
substantial and extended decline in the price of oil or gas could have an adverse effect on the carrying value of
the Company’s proved reserves, borrowing capacity, the Company’s ability to obtain additional capital, and the
Company’s revenues, profitability and cash flows from operations.

Volatile oil and gas prices make it difficult to estimate the value of producing properties for acquisition
and divestiture and often cause disruption in the market for oil and gas producing properties, as buyers and
sellers have difficulty agreeing on such value. Price volatility also makes it difficult to budget for and project
the return on acquisitions and development and exploitation projects.

A price decrease may more adversely affect the price received for the Company’s Wyoming production
“than production in other U.S. regions.

The price of natural gas in the southwest Wyoming region is critical to the Company’s business. The
market price for this natural gas differs from the market indices for natural gas in the Gulf Coast region of the
United States due potentially to insufficient pipeline capacity and/or low demand in the summer months for
natural gas in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States. Therefore, a price decrease may more
adversely affect the price received for the Company’s Wyoming production than production in the other
U.S. regions. There have been, from time to time, numerous proposed pipeline projects, including the Rockies
Express Pipeline, that have been announced to transport Rockies’ and Wyoming natural gas production to
markets. There can be no assurance that such infrastructure will be built or that if built, it will prevent large
basis differentials from occurring in the future.

Compliance with environmental and other government regulations could be costly and could negatively
impact production.

The Company’s operations are subject to numerous laws and regulations governing the discharge of
materials into the environment or otherw1se relatmg to environmental protection. These laws and regulatxons

may:
» require that the Company acquire permits before commencing drilling;

o restrict the substances that can be released into the environment in conneetlon with dnlhng and
producnon activities; ‘

+ limit or prohibit drilling activities on protected arcas such as wetlands or wilderness areas;

+ require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former operations, such as plugging abandoned
wells; and

+ require governmental approval of the overall development plan prior to the start of development of
fields in China.

Under these laws and regulations, the Company could be liable for personal injury and clean-up costs and
other environmental and property damages, as well as administrative, civil and criminal penalties. The
Company maintains limited insurance coverage for sudden and accidental environmental damages, but does
not maintain insurance coverage for the full potential liability that could be caused by sudden and accidental
environmental damages. Accordingly, the Company may be subject to liability or may be requlred to cease
productlon from- properties in the event of environmentdl damages. Co

A significant percentage of the Companys Umted States operations are conducted on federal lands.
These operations are subject to a variety of on-site security regulations as well as other permits and
authorizations issued by the BLM, the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality and other agencies. A
portion of the Company’s acreage is affected by winter lease stipulations that prohibit exploration, drilling and
completing activities generally from November 15" to April 30", but allow production activities all year
round. To drill wells in Wyoming, the Company is required to file an Application for Permit to Drill with the
WOGCC. Drilling on acreage controlled by the federal government requires the filing of a similar application
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with the BLM. These permitting requirements may adversely affect the Company’s ability to complete its
drilling program at the cost and in the time period currently anticipated. On'large-scale projects, lessees may
be required to perform an EIS to assess the environmental impact of potential development, which can delay
project implementation and/or result in the imposition of environmental restrictions that could have a
material impact on cost or scope. -
We may not be able to replace our reserves or generate cash flows if we are unable to raise capital. We
will be required to make substanttal capttal expendttures to develop our existing reserves and to dzscover
new oil and gas reserves.

The Company’s ablhty to continue exploration and development of its properties and to replace reserves
may be dependent upon its ability to continue to raise significant additional financing, including debt financing
that may be significant, or obtain some other arrangements with industry partners in lieu of raising financing.
Any arrangements that may be entered into could be expensive to the Company There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to raise additional capital in light of factors such as the market demand for its
securities, the state of financial markets for independent oil and gas companies (including the markets for
debt), oil and’gas prices and general market conditions. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results.of Operatlons — L1qu1d1ty and Cap1ta1 Resources for a discussion of the
Company’s capital budget. - : -

The Company expects to continue using its bank credit facﬂlty to borrow funds to supplement 1ts
available cash flow. The amount the Company may borrow under the credit facility may not exceed a
borrowing base detérmined by the lenders based on their projections of the Company’s future production,
future production costs and taxes, eommodity prices and other factors. The Company cannot control the
assumptions the lenders use to calculate the borrowing base. The lenders may, without the Company’s
consent, adjust the borrowing base at any time. If the Company’s borrowings under the credit facility exceed
the borrowing base, the lenders may require that the Company repay the excess. If this were to occur, the
Company may have to sell assets or seek financing from other sources. The Company can make no assurances
that it would be successful in selling assets or arranging substitute financing. For a description of the bank
credit facility and its principal terms and conditions, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

The Company’s operations may be tnterrupted by severe weather, parttcularl v in the Rocky Mountain
region. ‘ L ,

The Company’s operations are conducted principally in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States.
The weather in this area can be extreme and can cause interruption in the Company’s exploration and
production operations. Moreover, especially severe weather car result in damage to facilities entailing longer
operational interruptions and significant capital investment. Likewise, the Company’s Rocky Mountain
operations are subject to disruption from winter storms and severe cold, which can limit operations involving
fluids and impair access to the Company’s facilities. A portion of the Company’s acreage is affected by winter
lease stipulations that restrict the period of time during which operations may be conducted on the leases. The
Company’s leases that are affected by the winter stipulations prohibit drilling and completing activities from
November 15" to April 30", but allow’ production activities all year round.

Our focus on explorvation projects increases the risks inherent in our oil and gas activities.

The Company has historically invested a significant portion of.its capital budget in drilling exploratory
wells in search of unproved oil and gas reserves. The Company cannot be certain that the exploratory wells it
drills will be productive or that it will recover all or any portion of its investments. In order to increase the
chances for exploratory success, the Company often inivests in seismic or other geoscience data to assist it in
identifying potential drilling objectives. Additionally, the cost of drilling, completing and testing exploratory
wells is often uncertain at the time of the Company’s initial investment. Dependlng on complications
encountered while ‘drilling, the final cost of the well may 51gn1ﬁcant1y exceed that which the Company
originally estimated. The Company uses the full cost method of accounting for exploration and development
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activities as defined by the SEC. Under this method of accounting, the costs of unsuccessful, as well ‘as
successful, exploration and development activities are capitalized as properties and equipmerit and are then
depleted using the unit of productlon method based on the Company J proved reserves.

Unless we are able to replace reserves which we have produced our cash flows and production will
decrease over time.

The Company’s future success may-depend on its ability to find, develop and acquire additional oil and
gas reserves that are economically recoverable. Without successful exploration, development or acquisition
activities, the Company’s reserves and production will decline. The Company can glve no assurance that it will
be able to find, develop or acqulre addltlonal reserves at acceptable costs.

We are exposed to operating hazards and unmsured rtsks that ¢ould adversely impact our results of
" operations and cash ﬂow ‘

The 01] and gas business involves a variety of operating risks, including fire, explosion, pipe failure, casing
collapse, abnormally pressured formations, and environmental hazards such as oil spills, natural gas leaks, and
discharges of toxic gases. The occurrence of any of ‘these events with respect to any property operated or
owned (in whole or in part) by the Company could have a material adverse impact on the Company. The
Company and the operators of its properties maintain insurance in accordance with customary industry
practices and in amounts that management believes to be reasonable. However, insurance coverage is not
always economically feasible and is not obtamed to cover all types of operanonal risks. The occurrence of a
significant event that is not fully 1nsured could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
condition.

" There are risks associated with our drilling activity that could impact the results of our operations.

The Company’s oil and gas operations are subject to all of the risks and hazards typically associated with
drilling for, and production and transportation of, oil and gas. These risks include the necessity of spending
large amounts of money-for identification and acquisition-of properties and for drilling and completion of wells.
In the drilling of exploratory or development wells, failures and losses may occur before any deposits of oil or
gas are found. The presence of unanticipated pressure or irregularities in formations, blow-outs or accidents
may cause such activity to be unsuccessful, resulting in a loss of the Company’s investment in such-activity. If
oil or gas is encountered, there can be no assurance that it can be produced in quantities sufficient to justify
the cost of continuing such operations or that it can be marketed satisfactorily.

Our decision to drill a prospect is subject io a r‘t-u‘m‘_b‘er of factors and we may decide to alter our drilling
schedule or not drill at all.

This report includes certain 'descriptions of the Company’s future drilling plans with respect to its
prospects. A prospect is an area which the Company’s geoscientists have identified what they believe, based on
available seismic and geologlcal inférmation, to be indications of hydrocarbons. The Company’s prospects are
in' various Stages of réview. Whether or not the Company ult1mately drills a prospect may depend on the
following factors:

» receipt of additional seismic data or reprocessing of existing data;
. material’ changes. in oil or gas prices;
“o the costs and avallablhty of “drilling equlpment

"« success or failure of wells dnlled in similar formanons or wh1ch would use the same product10n
+ facilities; : :

« availability and cost of capital;

+ changes in the estimates of costs to drill or complete wells;
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+ the -approval of partners to participate in the ‘drilling: or, in the case. of CNOOC, approval of
expenditures for budget purposes;

« the Company’s ability to attract other 1ndustry partners to acquire a portion of the working interest to
reduce exposure to costs and dnllmg risks;

« decisions of the Company’s joint working interest owners; and
» the BLM’s interpretation of an EIS and the results of the permitting process.

The Company will continue to gather data about its prospects, and it is possible that additional
information may cause the Company to alter its drilling schedule or determine that a prospect should not be
pursued at all.

If oil and gas prtces decrease, we may be requtred to take wrttedowns of the carrying value of our oil
and gas properttes

" The Company follows the full cost method of accountmg for its oil and gas properties. A separate cost
center is maintained for expenditures applicable to each country in which the Company conducts exploration
and/or production activities. Under such method, the net book value of properties on a country-by-country
basis, less related deferred income taxes, may not exceed a calculated “ceiling.” The ceiling is the estimated
after tax future net revenues from proved oil and gas properties, discounted at 10% per year. In calculating
discounted future net revenues, oil and gas prices in effect at the time of the calculation are held constant,
except for changes which are fixed and determinable by ex1st1ng contracts. The net book value is compared to
the ceiling on a quarterly basis. The excess, if any, of the net book value above the ceiling is required to be
written-off as an expense. Under SEC full cost accounting rules, any write-off recorded may not be reversed
even if higher oil and gas prices increase the ceiling applicable to future periods. Future price decreases could
result in reductions in the carrying value of such assets and an equivalent charge to earnings.

We are not the operator, and have limited influence over the operations, of our Bohai Bay properties.

Because the Company is not the operator and holds a minority interest, it cannot control the pace of
exploration or development in the Bohai Bay properties or major decisions affecting the drilling of wells or the
plan for development and production, although contract provisions give the Company certain consent rights in
some matters. Kerr-McGee’s influence, as operator, over these matters can affect the pace at which the
Company spends money on this project. If Kerr-McGee were to shift its focus from this project, the pace of
development could slow down or stop altogether. On the other hand, if Kerr-McGee were to decide to
accelerate development of this project, the Company could be required to fund its share of costs at a faster
pace than anticipated, which might exceed its ability to raise funds. If, because of this, the Company were
unable to pay its share of costs, it could lose or be forced to sell its interest in the Bohai Bay properties or be
forced to not participate in the exploration or development of spec1ﬁc prospects or ﬁelds potentially
diminishing the value of its Bohai Bay assets.

Political, economic or legal factors assoczated with our ownerslup of properties in China could impact
the results of our operations.

Ownersh1p of property interests and production operations in areas outside the Umted States are subject
to various risks inherent in foreign operations. These risks may include:

» loss of revenue, property and equipment as a result of expropriation, nationalization, war or
insurrections;

« increases in taxes and governmental royalties;
» renegotiation of contracts with governmental entities and quasi-governmental agencies;
+ change in laws and policies governing operations of foreign based companies;

« labor problems;
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» other uncertainties arising out of foreign, government sovereignty over its international operations; and

» currency restrictions and exchange rate fluctuations.
Tensions between China and its neighbors or various western countries, regional political or military
disruption, changes in internal Chinese leadership, social or political disruptions within China, a downturn in
the Chinese economy, or a change in Chinese laws or attitudes toward foreign investment could make China
an unfavorable environment in which to invest. Although all the foreign interest owners in the Bohai Bay
properties have the right to sell production in the world market, the regulation of the concession by China, and
the likely partrclpatlon by CNOOC as a large working interest owner, make Chinese internal and external
affairs important tc the investment in the Bohai Bay property. If any of these negative everits were to occur, it
could lead to a decision that there is an intolerable level of risk in continuing with the investment, or the
Company may be unable to attract equity mvestors or lenders, or satisfy any then existing lenders

In the event of a dispute arising from foreign operations, the Company may be subject to the exclusive
jurisdiction of foreign courts or may not be successful in subjecting foreign persons to the jurisdiction of courts
in the Umted States or a potentially more favorable country.

In add1t1on, the Companys China PSC terminates after 15 years of production, unless exténded as
provided for, which may be prior to the end of the productive life of the fields. ‘ g

Our operations in China have special operatzonal rtsks that may negatively dffect the value of those”
assets.

Offshore operations, such as the Company’s Bohai Bay properties, are subject to a variety of operating
risks specific to the marine environment, such as capsizing, collisions and/or loss from storms or other adverse
weather conditions. These conditions can cause substantial damage to facilities and interrupt production. As a
result, the Company could incur substantial liabilities that could result in financial losses or failures. China has
many regulations -similar to those addressed in Item 1, Environmental Regulation, -that may expose the
Company to liability. Offshore projects, like the China field developments, are typically large, complex
construction projects that are potentially subject to delays which may cause delays in achieving production and
profitability. .

1
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Forward-Looking Statements

" This report contams or incorporates by reference forward- -looking statements within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as aménded, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other than statements of historical
facts included in this document, including without limitation, statemients in Ttern 7, Management s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations tegarding our financial position, estimated
quantities and net present values of reserves, business strategy, plans and objectives of the Company’s
management for future operations, covenant compliance and those statements preceded by, followed by or that
otherwise include the words “believe”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”, “estimates”, “projects”, “target”,

“goal”, “plans”, “objective”, “should”, or similar expressions or variations on such expressions are
forward-looking statements. The Company can give no assurances that- the assumptions upon which such
forward-looking statements are based will prove to be correct.

Forward-looking statements include statements regarding:

* our oil and gas reserve quantities, and the discounted present value of those reserves;
* the amount and nature of our capital expenditures; <- |

¢ drilling of wells;

+ the timing and amount of future production and operating costs;
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* business strategies and plans of management; and
« prospect development and property acquisitions.

Some of the risks Wthh could affect our future results and could cause results to differ matenally from
those expressed in our forward- -looking statements include:

- general economic COn'd‘itions;

» the volatility of oil-and natural gas prices;

. the uncertainty of estimates of oil and natural gasj.reserves;

« the impact of competition;

« the availablility and cost of seisrnic, drilling' and other equipment;
« operating hazards inherent in the explorations for and production of oil and natural gas;
« difficulties encountered during the explorations for and production of oii and‘natural. gas;
« difficulties encountered in delrvenng oil and natural gas to commercial markets

» changes in customer demand ‘and producers’ supply, _

« the uncertainty of our ability to attract capital;

+ compliance with, or the effect of changes in, the extens1ve governmental regulations regardmg the oil
and natural gas business;

» actions of operators of our oil and gas properties; and
» weather conditions.

"The information contained in this report including the 1nformatron set forth under the heading “Risk
Factors,” identifies additional factors that could affect our operatrng results and performance We urge you to
carefully consider these factors and the other cautionary statements in this report. Our forward- -looking
statements speak only as of the date made, and we have ° no obligation to update these forward-looking
statements.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None

Item 2." Properties.

Location and Charactenstlcs

The Company is dependent on oil and gas leases in Wyoming and two’ petroleum contracts in China in
order to explore for and produce oil and gas. The leases in Wyoming are primarily federal leases with 10-year
lease terms until establishment of production. Production on the lease extends the lease terms until cessation
of that production. There are approximately 93,865 gross (42,298 net) acres currently held by production in
Wyoming. The Chind petroleum contracts are.for a maximum of 30 years and are divided into 3 periods;
exploration, development and production. The exploratron period is for approximately 7 years and work is to be
performed and expenditures are to be incurred to delineate the extent and amount of hydrocarbons, if any, for
each block. The development period occurs when a field is discovered and commiences on the date of approval
of the Ministry of Energy. There is no limit on the time allowed to develop a field other than the combined
maximum of 30.years. The production period of any-oil and gas field in a block is a period of 15 consecutive
years beginning on the date of commencement of commercial production from the field, unless extended.
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Green River Basin, Wyoming

As of December 31, 2005, the Company owned developed oil and gas leases totaling 12,552 gross
(5,284 net) acres in the Green River Basin of Sublette County, Wyoming which represents 99.7% of the
Company’s total domestic developed net acreage. The Company'owns undeveloped oil and gas leases totaling
135,455 gross (73,404 net) acres in the Green River Basin of Subletté’ County, Wyoming which represents
74.9% of the Company’s total domestic undeveloped net acreage. The Company’s acreage in the Green River
Basin primarily covers the Pinedale Anticline with several other undeveloped acreage blocks north and west of
the Pinedale Anticline as well as acreage in the Jonah Field. Holding costs of leases in Wyoming not held by
production were approximately $122,530 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. The primary target on
the Company’s Wyoming acreage is the tight gas sands of the upper Cretaceous Lance Pool formation.

Exploratory Wells. During the year-ended December 31, 2005, the Company participated in the drilling
and completion of a total of 18 gross (8.62 net) productive exploratory wells on the Green River Basin
properties. At December 31, 2005, there were 11 gross (4.28 net) additional exploratory wells that
commenced during the year that were either still drilling, had drilling operations suspended or are in various
stages of completion.

Development Wells. During the year-ended December 31, 2005, the Company participated in the
drilling and completion of 60 gross (23.68 net) productive development wells'in the Pinedale Field area. At
December 31, 2005, there were 19 gross (6.28 net) additional development wells that commenced during 2005
that were either still drilling, had drilling operations suspénded or are in' various stages of completion.
Additionally, 2 gross (1.28 net) wells in Jonah field had dnlhng operations commenced during 2005 that were
either still drilling, had drilling operations suspended or are in various stages of completion. For purposes of
this report, development wells are wells identified as proven, undeveloped locations by the Company’s
independent petroleum engineering firm Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. at the previous year-end
reserve evaluation, When drilled, these locations will be counted as development wells.

Bohai Bay, China

Block 04/36: The Petroleum Sharing Contract (“PSC”) covering this block became effective
October 1, 1994, Negotiations with the Chinese government in 2005 resulted in an extension of the third
exploration term to September 2007. As the PSC now stands, the exploratlon period will end at the end of
September 2007. Barring another extension, at that time, all acreage not under appraisal, development or
production must be relinquished. The Company holds an 18.18% exploration interest in the exploration portion
of the block and an 8.91% working interest in the CFD 11-1 and 11-2 and the CFD 11-3 and 11-5 producing
oil fields. This block covers 413,623 gross (75,197 net) acres under the exploration phase and 40,377 gross
(3,598 net) acres under development, or approximately 66% of the Company’s total gross international
acreage.

Block 05/36: The PSC covering this block became effective March 1, 1996. Negotiations with
CNOOC at the end of 2003 resulted in a two year extension of the third exploration term to February 28, 2008
when, barring an extension, all acreage not under appraisal, development or production must be relinquished.
The extension granted by CNOOC must be ratified by the Chinese Government which we anticipate will
happen during 2006. The Company holds a 23.08% exploration interest -in. this block, which covers
218,079 gross (50,376 net) acres under the exploration phase and 15,221 gross (1,119 net) acres under
dcvclopmcnt This acreage constitutes apprommately 34% of the Company’s total gross international acreage.

Exploratzon/Apprazsal Acttvzty In. 2005, the Company partlclpated in drilling 1 exploration well
(0.18 net) which failed.to find commercial quantities of oil. The primary target formations on the Blocks are
the Upper and Lower Minghuazhen, Guantao and Dongymg formatlons o

* Development Activity: .In July 2004, the Company started productlon at the CFD 11-1 and 11- 2 fields
on the 04/36 Block. Production well drilling at these fields continued through 2005 and will continue into the
first half of 2006. The Company has participated in drilling a total of 47 production wells at the CFD 11-1 and
CFD 11-2 fields. In July 2005, the Company commenced production at the CFD 11-3 and 11-5 fields on the
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04/36 Block. The Company has participated in drilling a total of 6 production wells at the CFD 11:3 and - CFD
11-5 fields. The four field production complex currently consists of 53 producing wells, three production
platforms and an anchored FPSO vessel.

Upon declaration-of commerciality of a field or area by CNOOC, the Corapany’s share of all expenses
within that area is decreased by 51%, with the participation by CNOOC. For example, the Company’s 18.18%
exploration interest is reduced to an 8.91% working interest in the fields on production in the 04/36 Block.
Upon initiation of production, the sharing of production is determined by the language of the PSC which
states that for each individual field: 1) a Chinese National Industrial Tax and Royalty are applied to 100% of
the gross volumes of oil, 2) Lease Operating Expenses (“LOE”) are then taken out of the remainder oil and
3) after these deductions, 62.5% of the remaining production stream is dedicated to Exploration and
Development Cost Recovery for the participants. The Exploration Cost Recovery shall be recovered without
interest, while the Development Cost Recovery shall be calculated with a fixed annual interest rate of 9%
uplift, and 4) the remaining 37.5% of production goes to the “remainder oil” category which is divided into a
“share oil” for CNOOC and an “allocable remainder oil” for the contractors determined by a sliding scale
(determined by yearly production), “X” factor. Project profit is subject to Chinese corporate tax.

There are three new fields, the CFD 11-6, CFD 12-1 and CFD 12-18 that are currently being developed.
The CFD 11-6 field area is on the 04/36 Block. The CFD 12-1 and CFD 12-15 field areas are on the 05/36
Block. These development areas are located in close proximity and thus will be developed as a single unit
within the Blocks. The development areas have been unitized because the fields are within both the 04/36 and
05/36 Blocks where different parties have different levels of interest. The unit allows for an equitable
distribution of production known to exist within the known areas of the fields to the various parties. On
May 27, 2005 a Unitization Agreement was signed that 3551gned the Company a 7.82% working 1nterest in the
combined field unit.

On October 16, 2003 a 15 year contract which provides for extension for up to an add1t10nal 10 years was
signed by the operator to lease the FPSO. The Company ratified the contract for its net share. The FPSOis a
110,000 — 150,000 dead weight tons, double-hull FPSO with a 900,000 — 1,100,000 barrels storage capacity,
with single point mooring and a processing plant capable of processing 60,000 barrels oil per day (expandable
to 80,000 barrels oil per day). The FRPSO service agreement calls for a day rate lease payment and a sliding
scale per barrel payment that decreases based on cumulative barrels processed

Pennsylvania

The Company owns 26,868 gross (24,610 net) acres in Pennsylvania, which represents 25.1%. of the
Company’s total domestic undeveloped net acreage. Holding costs of leases in Pennsylvania not held by
production were approximately $247,000 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Exploratory Wells. During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company participated in the drilling
and completion of a total of 1 gross (1.0 net) successful exploratory well on the Pennsylvania properties. Based
on the test results, Ultra is preparing to lay a pipeline to connect this well to sales. It is anticipated that this
connection should be completed during the ﬁrst half of 2006. ‘

Texas

- During . the year ended, December 31, 2005, the Company divested itself of a portion of its Texas
properties. The Company sold one gross (0.66 net) operated well along with the associated 640 gross
(369 net) acres. The Company is currently attempting to divest itself of its remaining interest in Texas which
consist of 1 gross (0.12 net) non-operated producing well, plus the associated 80 gross (14.0 net) acres. This
represents 0.3% of the Company’s total developed net acreage.
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Qil and-Gas Reserves

" The following table sets forth the Company’s quanti‘ties of domestic proved reserves, for the years-ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 as estimated by independent petroleum engineers Netherland, Sewell &
Associates, Inc. The table summarizes.the Company’s domestic ‘proved reserves, the estimated future net
revenues from these reserves and the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable
thereto at Decembcr 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. In. accordance with Ultra’s three-year.planning and budgeting
_cycle, proved undeveloped reserves included in this table include only economic locations that are forecast to
be on production before January 1, 2009. Proved undeveloped reserves represent 66.6% of total proved

ICSErves.

. Proved Undeveloped Reserves-

. December 31,' .
2008 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Natural gas (MMcf) .. ..o -+ 1,264,632 © 899,315 664,295

OQil (MBbBI) ... 10,117 - 7,195 5,314
. Proved Developed Reserves - . . . : ‘
Natural gas. (MMcf) ............... e 635,591 514,686 359,072 -
Oil (MBbl‘)‘ ..... e e e e ' 5,087 - 4,195 - 3,028
Total Proved Reserves (MMcfe) . ... e 1,991,447+ 1482341 1,073,419
Estlmated future net cash flows, before income tax ... 312.,067,267 $5,889,630 $4,456,'478
Standardlzed measure of dlscounted future net cash o L
flows, before income taxes(1) ................... $ 5,311,312 $2,438,837  $1,784,314

Future income tax . ... $ 1,809,228 § 823,372 $ 643, 801

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash

(1)

“flows, after income tax' ... e $ 3,502,084 $1,615,465 " $1 135,513

Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash

-flows, "before income taxes, of estimated proved reserves, discounted at 10% per annum, may be

considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defined in Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, therefore the
Company has included this reconciliation of the measure to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure (Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, after income taxes).
Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of future net cash flows before
income taxes, provides useful information to investors because it is widely used by professional analysts
and sophisticated investors in evaluating oil and gas companies. Because many factors that are unique to
each individual company may impact the amount of future income taxes to be paid, the use of the pre-tax

- measure provides greater comparability when evaluating companies. It is relevant and useful to investors

for evaluating the relative monetary significance of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties. Further,
investors may utilize the measure as a basis for.comparison of the relative size and, value of the
Company’s reserves to other companies. The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows,
before income taxes, is not a measure of financial or operating performance under GAAP, nor is it
intended to represent the current market value of the estimated oil and natural gas reserves owned by the
Company. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, before income taxes, should not be
considered in isolation or-as a.substitute for the standardized measure of dlscounted future net cash flows

as defined under GAAP.
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The following table sets forth.the Company’s quantities of proved reserves in China, for the year-ending
December 31, 2005, as estimated by independent petroleum engineers Ryder Scott Company. In accordance
with the Company’s “new field” reserve booking policy, proved reserves were booked after production
commenced. The table summarizes the Company’s proved reserves in China, the estimated future net
revenues from these reserves and the standardized measure of discounted futurs net cash flows attributable
thereto at December 31, 2005. In: accordance with Ultra’s three-year planning and budgeting cycle, proved
undeveloped reserves included in this table include only .economic locations that are forecast to be on
production before January 1, 2009. Proved undeveloped reserves represent 50.9% of total proved reserves.

' December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Proved Undeveloped Reserves
Natural gas (MMcf) ... ... ... — _— —
Ol (MBbL) ..o 2,577 3,231 —

Proved Developed Reserves
Natural gas (MMcf) ........ e — — —

“Oill (MBbI) ... P 2,484 - 4,356 —

Total Proved Reserves (MMcfe) ........................ 30,366 45,526 —
Estimated future net cash flows, before income tax ......... $166,931. $137,762 § —
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, . .
before income taxes(1) ....... P $134,271  $103,518 $ —
Future Income Tax...... ..., 59,861 49,647 —
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, Co ‘
after incometax ................. e $ 74,410 $ 53871 % —_—

(1) Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash
flows, before income taxes, of estimated proved reserves, discounted at 10% per annum, may be
considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defined in Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, therefore the
Company has included this reconciliation of the measure to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure (Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, after income taxes).
Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of future net cash flows, before
income taxes, provides useful information to investors because it is widely used by proféssional analysts
and sophisticated investors in evaluating oil and gas companies. Because many factors that are unique to
each individual company may impact the amount of future income taxes to be paid, the use of the pre-tax
measure provides greater comparability when evaluating companies. It is relevant and useful to investors
for evaluating the relative monetary significance of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties. Further,
investors -may utilize the measure as‘a basis for comparison of the relative size and value of the.
Company’s reserves to other companies. The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows,
before income taxes, is not a measure of financial or operating performance under GAAP, nor is it
intended to represent the current market value of the estimated oil and natural gas reserves owned by the
Company. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows; before income taxes, should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows
as defined under GAAP.
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The following table sets forth the Company’s quantities of total proved reserves both domestically and in

China, for the years-ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 as estimated by independent petroleum
engineers Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. and Ryder Scott Company. The table summarizes. the
Company’s total proved reserves, the estimated future net revenues from these reserves and the standardized
measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable thereto at December 31, 20035, 2004 and 2003. In
accordance with Ultra’s three-year planning and budgeting cycle, proved undeveloped reserves included in this
table include only economic locations that are forecast to be on: production before January 1, 2009. Proved
undeveloped reserves represent 66.3% of total proved reserves.

(1)

December 31,
2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

Proved Undeveloped Reserves .
Natural gas (MMcf) ... .o o 1,264,632 + 899,315 664,295

Oil (MBb)........................ P 12,694 10,426 5,314
Proved Developed Reserves ‘

Natural gas (MMcf) ... ... .o L 635,591 514,686 359,072

Oil (MBb) ... .. S PP 7,571 8,551 3,028
Total Proved Reserves (MMcfe) ................. .. 2,021,813 1,527,867 1,073,419
Estimated future net cash flows, before income tax- ... $12,234,198 = $6,027,392  $4,456,478
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash '

flows, before income taxes(1) ................... $ 5,445,583  $2,542,355  $1,784,314
Future income tax ...t $ 1,869,089 $ 873,019 § 648,801
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash

flows, after income tax ............. ... .. coo.... $ 3,576,494 $1,669,336  $1;135,513

Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash
flows, before income taxes,- of estimated proved reserves, discounted at 10% per annum, may be
considered a non-GAAP financial measure as defined in Item 10(e) of Regulation S-K, therefore the
Company has included this reconciliation of the measure to the most directly comparable GAAP
financial measure (Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, after income taxes).
Management believes that the presentation of the standardized measure of future net cash flows, before
income taxes, provides useful information to investors because it is widely used by professional analysts
and sophisticated investors in evaluating oil-and gas companies. Because many factors that are unique to
each individual company may impact the amount of future income taxes to be paid, the use of the pre-tax
measure provides greater comparability when evaluating companies. It is relevant and useful to investors

.for evaluating the relative. monetary significance of the Company’s oil and natural gas properties. Further,

. investors may utilize the measure as a basis for comparison of the relative size and value of the

Company’s reserves to other companies. The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows,
before” income - taxes, is not a measure of financial or operating performance under GAAP, nor is it
intended to represent the current market value of the estimated oil and natural gas reserves owned by the
Company. Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, before income taxes, should not be
considered in isolation or as a substitute for the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows
as defined under GAAP.
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Production Volumes, Average Sales Prices and Average Production Costs

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the producticn volumes and average sales
prices received for and average production costs associated with the Company’s sale of oil and natural gas for
the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003'

Production .

Natural gas (Mcf) ........... .. ... ... 61,722,349 43,667,384 27,621,759

Oil (Bbl) —US............c i 464,330 349,673 211,591

Oil (Bbl) —China .............c....... 1,556,280 624,560 —

Total (Mcfe) ....... ... ... oo ... 73,846,009 - 49,512,782 28,891,305 -
Revenues ’ ' ' ‘

Natural Gassales....................... $422:091,034  $224,207,694  $114,840,55%

Oilsales—US......................... 26,639,931 14,659,219 6,740,539

Oil sales — China ...................... 67,762,036 20,179,534 —

Total Revenues. .............. e ... 516,493,001 259,046,447 121,581,097
Lease Operating Expenses . | ‘

"+ Production costs — US* ... ..... S 9,047,390 6,286,715 3,627,639 .
Production costs — China*....... e 7,352,000 2,286,000 —
Severance/production taxes — WY ........ 52,689,060 28,151,661 13,767,668

" Severance/production taxes — China ... ... 3,388,089 1,009,098 —
Gathering .. .......... ... ... ... 17,125,147 13,135,809 7,828,372
Total Lease Operating Expenses .......... $ 89,601,686 $ 50,369,283 $ 25,223,679

Realized Prices
Natural gas ($/Mcf) .................... $ 684 § 513  § 4.16
Oil ($/Bb) —US...................... $ 5737 § 4192 % 31.86
Oil ($/Bbl) —China ............ P % 4354  § 3231 $ —
Opefating Costs per Mcfe .
Production costs — Total ................ $ 022 §$ 017 § 0.13
Severance/production taxes .............. $ 076 § 059 $ ©0.48
Gathering ............ P $ 023 % 027 $ 0.27
DD&A ... $ 079 § 061 % 0.56
Interest .......ooviiii i $ 004 § 008 3§ 0.10
- Total Operating Costs per Mcfe............. $ 204 $ 1.72 % 1.54

* Average production costs include lifting costs and remedial workover expenses.
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Productive Wells

Ags of December 31, 2005, the Company’s total gross and net wells were.as follows:

Productive Wells* Gross Wells Net Wells

Domestlc
Natural Gas and Condensate .................................... 332.00 140.84
China '
China Oil ... oo R, e 53.00 4.73
TOTAL ......... ... . ........ e 385.00 145.57

* Productive wells are producing wells plus shut-in wells the Company deems capable of production. A gross
well is a well in which a working interest is owned. The number of net wells represents the sum of fractional
working interests the Company owns in gross wells.

Oil and Gas Acreage

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had total gross and net developed and undeveloped oil and gas
leasehold acres in the United States as set forth below. The developed acreage is stated on the bdsis of spacing
units designated by state regulatory authorities. The acreage and other additional 1nformat10n concerning the
Company’s oil and gas operations are presented in the following tables. :

United States Acreage: .
Developed Acres Undeveloped Acres

. ‘ Gross Net Gross Net
Wyoming. .. .. .. I o T 12,552 5284 135455 73,404
Pennsylvania . ........ .. ... .. .. ... — — 26,868 24,610
Texas..............oooiiin e 80 14 - . —
ALLSEALES « .\ ovseeeae e T 12,632 5298 162,323 98,014

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had total gross and net developed and undeveloped oil and gas
leasehold acres in the Bohai Bay, China as set forth below. . .

Bohaz Bay Acreage ,
Developed Acres Undeveloped Acres

Gross Net Gross Net
BIOCK 04736 oot 40,377 3,598 413,623 75,197
Block 05/36 ............ AU . 15021 1,119 218079 50,376
Total Bohai ACTEAZE - ...\ 'v e 55,598 4,717 631,702 125,573
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Drilling Activities

For each of the three fiscal years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, the number of gross and net

wells drilled by the Company was as follows:

Wyoming — Green River Basin

2005 - 2004 2003 -
‘ » Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Development Wells :
Productive . . ... ... ..o 60.00 23.68 3400 1448 2400  6.88
Dry......oo. oo e e 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total ... 060.00 23.68  34.00 1448 24.00 6.88

At year end there were 21 gross (7.56 net) additional development wells that were either drilling, had
drilling operations suspended or were in various stages of completion. This includes wells in both"the Pinedale

and Jonah fields. :

9.86- "

2005 2004 2003
Gross Net Gross Net ' Gross - Net
Exploratory Wells o
Productive . ... ..... e 18.00 862 3200 14.00 24.00
Dry.coiiiiiii SRR 000 000 000 000 _100 ' 0.32
TOAL e e e 1800 862 3200 1400 2500 10.18

At year end there were 11 gross (4.28 net) additional exploratory wells that were either drilling,

drilling operations suspended or were in various stages of completion.

Pennsylvania
2005 2004 2003
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
. Exploratory Wells , .
Productive. ........ccoiiiiiiie . 1.00  1.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 . 0.00
DIV ot 000 000 000 000 000 0.0
TOtAl ..ot 100 - 1.00 000 000 000 0.00
Texas ' . ‘ L
2005 2004 . 20030
‘ Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Exploratory Wells
Productive.......................... e 000 -000.. 000 000 000 0.00
DIy oo 000 000 100 073 0.00 0.00
Total .o 000 000 100 073 000, 0.00
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China — Bohai Bay

2005 2004 2003
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net

Development Wells

Productive....... ... ... .. ... L. 17.00 1.52  36.00 3.21 0.00 - 0.00
Dry...on S T 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Total ........... R N .. 1700 1.52 3600 3.21 0.00 0.00
Exploratory Wells ' '

Productive and Successful' Appraisal* ... ... .. 000 0.00 0.00 0.00 6.00 1.03

Dry......... e P 1.00 0.18 1.00 - 0.18 4.00 0.66
Total ........ P PP .. 100 0.18 1.o0 0.18 10.00 1.69

* A successful appraisal well is a well that is drilled into a formation shown to be ‘productive of oil or gas by an
“earlier well for the purpose of obtaining more information about the reservoir.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings.

Thc Company is currently 1nvolved in various routine disputes and allegations incidental to its business
operations. While it is not possible to determine the ultimate disposition of these matters, the Company
believes that the resolution of all such pending or threatened litigation is not likely to have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s financial position, or results of operations.

Item d4.. . Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Cémpany’s security holders during the fourth qharter of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equtty Securlttes ‘

The common shares of the Company have been listed and posted for trading on the American Stock
Exchange (“AMEX") since January 17, 2001 under the symbol “UPL” and were traded on the Toronto
Stock Exchange (“TSX”) from September 30, 1998 to March 31, 2004 under the symbol “UP”. The
following table sets forth the high and low intra-day sales prices on the AMEX and TSX for 2005 and 2004 as
reported by each exchange, respcctlvely The prices are adjusted for a 2 for 1 stock split effective May 10, -
200s. -

AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE (USS$)

2005 ' High Low

First QUarter. ...\ .....ooeeeeeeee... U $29.17  $22.20
Second QUArter ... oottt $30.50 $21.48
Third QUarter . ... .. o $57.89  $30.36
Fourth Quarter......... .. ... ... e $60.32 * $45.10
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AMERICAN STOCK EXCHANGE (US$)

First Quarter. . . ... e e $15.65 $10.25
Second Quarter .. .................. e e .. $19.00 $13.80
Third Quarter . ................ S e $25.50  $17.53

Fourth QUATTer . . .ol it et et $27.83  $21.69

2004 . High Low
First QuUarter. . ... e e $20.13 $14.83
. Second Quarter ...... R $ — § —
Third Quarter....................... e e $ — $§ —
Fourth Quarter..................... e e e e e e $ — § —

On February 28, 2006 the last repbrted sales price of the common stock on the AMEX was $52.04 per
share. As of February 28, 2006 there were approximately 456 holders of record of the common stock.

The Company has not declared or paid and does not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends on its
common stock in the near future. The Company intends to retain its cash flow from operations for the future
operation and development of its business. In addition, the Company’s.current credit facility limits payment of
dividends on its common stock. ’ :
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data. -

The selected consolidated financial information presented below for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is derived from the.Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company. The
earnings per share-information (Basic income per common share and Diluted income per common share)
have been updated to reflect the 2 for 1 stock split on May 10, 2005.

: Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data

Revenues: : .
Natural gas sales . ................. $ 422,091 $ 224208 $ 114,841 $ 38,503 § 38,204
Oil sales ...... e 94,402 34,839 6,740 3,839 . 2,997
Interest and other ................. 612 91 37 23 393

Total revenues .........: e $ 517,105 $ 259,138 § 121,618 § 42365 § 41,594
Expenses:’ o E | ‘ -
Production expenses and taxes ...... 89,602 50,869 25224  114l1 9,023
Depreciation, depletion and : ' P o
amortization® .. ......... .0 ... 58,103 7 30,249 16,216 9,712 6,687
General and administrative ....:.... - 11,484 6,152 © 5733 4,199 3,894
Stock compensation ............... 2,859 924 1,018 1,211 337
Interest................ P 3,286 3,783 2,851 2,691 1,687
Total expenses . ................. 165,333 91,977 51,042 29,224 21,628

Income before income taxes .......... 351,772 167,160 70,576 13,141 19,966

Income tax provision — deferred. .. .. .. 123,472 58,010 25,254 5,059 2,087

Netincome ........c.ooviiiniienon.. $ 228300 $ 109,150 $ 45323 § 8,082 $ 17,879

Basic income per common share....... $ 1.49  § 073 8§ 031 $ 005 $ 013

Diluted income per common share . . ... $ 141 § 068 § 029 $ 005 §$ 0.12

Statement of Cash Flows Data
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities . ............... $ 414353  $ 175343 $ 90,051 $ 21,490 $ 34,136

Investing activities................. (306,547)  (165,014)  (103,622) (64,360)  (59,862)

Financing activities ................ (80,344) 4,770 13,988 42,908 25,961

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents . ........... $ 44395 $ 16933 $§ 1834 § 1,418 §$§ 1,379
Working capital (deficit) ............. 42,713 (9,969) (22,057) (4,415) (6,635)
Oil and gas properties................ 702,663 474,634 307,864 207,362 155,221
Total assets . ....................... 847,266 537,186 345,770 221,874 167,583
Total long-term debt................. — 102,000 99,000 86,000 43,000
Other long-term obligations........... 20,577 9,735 5,120 3,859 3,193
Deferred income taxes, net ........... 155,746 85,035 33,446 10,033 4,974
Total shareholders’ equity ............ 571,201 ‘ 267,992 149,453 104,067 95,320

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion of the financial condition and operating results of the Company should be read
in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company. Except as
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otherwise indicated all amounts are expressed in U.S. dollars. We operate in one segment, natural gas and oil
exploration and development with two geographical segments, the United States and China.

The Company currently generates the majority of its revenue, earnings and cash flow from the production
and sales of natural gas and oil from its property in southwest Wyoming. The price of natural gas in the
southwest Wyoming region is a critical factor to the Company’s business. The price of natural gas in southwest
Wyoming historically has been volatile. The average annual realizations for the period 2001-20035 have ranged
from $2.33 to $8.64 per Mcf. This volatility could be very detrimental to the Company’s financial
performance. The Company seeks to limit the impact of this volatility on its results by entering into forward
sales and derivative contracts for natural gas in southwest Wyoming. The average realization for the
Company’s natural gas during calendar 2005 was $6.84 per Mcf, basis Opal, Wyoming, including the effect of
hedges. For the quarter ended December 31, 2005, the average realization for the Company s natural gas was
$8.49 per Mcf basis Opal, Wyommg, including the effect of hedges

On July 18, 2004 the Company initiated production at the first two fields of the nine fields discovered on
its oil properties offshore Bohai Bay, China. Production from these fields is characterized as a heavy, sweet
crude. The Company sold its first cargos of oil in September 2004. During the twelve-month period ended
December 31, 2005, the Company sold 1,556,280 barrels of its Chinese oil production at a price based on the
official ICP posting for Duri field crude, less a discount for location and quality differences. These sales were
made to an affiliate of CNOOC at an average price of $43.54 USD per- barrel for the year ended
December 31, 2005. For the quarter ended December 31, 2005, the Company sold 393,084 barrels of its
Chinese crude for an average price of $48.16 USD per barrel. There can and will be differences in timing
between the sale of the Company’s crude oil cargos and the Company’s pro-rata share of production. As a
result of these timing differences, the Company may, from time to time, carry inventories or imbalances of
crude oil. As of February 28, 2006 the Duri pnce was approx1mate1y $54.56 USD (before discount) per
barrel. :

The Company expects to sell at least one cargo of its Chinese crude oil production approximately every
two months during 2006. The Company has the right to export and sell its crude at market prices into the
international markets, and is evaluating options to do so in the future. Other markets for the Company $
Chmese oil may poténtially be developed in South Korea, Japan, Singapore or other countries.

The Company has grown its natural gas and oil production 51gn1ﬁcant1y over the past ﬁve years and
management believes it has the ability to continue growmg production by drilling already identified locations
on its leases in Wyoming and by bringing into production.the already discovered oil fields in China. The
Company delivered 25% production growth on an Mcfe basis during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to the same quarter in 2004 and 49% production growth for the year-ended December 31, 2005
compared to the same period in 2004. Management expects to deliver additional production growth during
2006 by drilling and bringing into production additional wells in Wyoming and bnngmg into production
additional fields in China. :

2002 2003 2004 2005
Production — Befe . .............. . U 174 289 495 738

The Company conducts operations in both the United States and China. Separate cost centers are
maintained for each country in which the Company has operations. Substantially all of the oil and gas
activities are conducted jointly with others and, accordingly, amounts presented reflect only the Company’s
proportionate interest in such activities. Inflation has not had a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations and is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations in the future.

Crltlcal Accounting Pollcles

The discussion and analysis of the Company’s ﬁnanc1a1 condition and results of operations is based upon
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). In addition, application of GAAP requires the use of estimates, judgments
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial
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statements as well as the revenues and expenses reported during the period. Changes in these estimates,
judgments and assumptions will occur as a result;of future events, and, accordingly, actual results could differ
from amounts estlmated

Use of Estzmates . The more 51gn1ﬁcant areas requmng the use of assumptions, judgments and estimates
relate to volumes of oil and gas reserves used in calculating depletion, the amount of future net revenues used
in computing the ceiling test-limitations and the amount of abandonment obligations used in such calculations.
Assumptions, judgments and estimates are also required in determining 1mpa1rments of undeveloped
properties and the valuation of deferred tax assets. : :

Oil and Gas Reserves. The Company emphasizes that the volumes of reserves are estimates which, by
their nature, are subject to revision. The estimates are made using all available geological and reservoir data as
well as production performance data. These estimates are currently made annually by independent petroleum
engineers and reviewed by the Company’s engineers. The reserves are periodically reviewed and revised, either
upward or downward, if warranted based upon additional data. Revisions are necessary due to changes in
assumptions based on, among other things, reservoir performance, prices, economic conditions and govern-
mental restrictions. Estimates of proved crude oil and natural gas reserves significantly affect the Company’s
depreciation, depletion and amortization (“DD&A”) expense. For example, if estimates of proved teserves
decline, the Company’s DD&A rate will increase, resulting in a decrease in net income. A decline in estimates
of proved reserves could also result in a full cost ceiling write-down (see discussion below). '

The present value of oil and gas properties represents the estimated future net cash flows from proved oil
and gas reserves, discounted using a prescribed 10% discount rate (1‘PV 10”). Proved oil and gas reserves are
the estimated quantities of natural gas, crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids that geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty can be recovered in future years from known reservoirs
under existing economic and operating conditions. Reserves are considered “proved” if they can be produced
economically as demonstrated by either actual production or conclusive formation tests. “Proved developed”
oil and gas reserves can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equlpment and
operatmg methods .

Due to the volatility of commodity prices, the oil and gas prices on the last day of the period significantly
impact the calculation of the PV 10. The present value of future net cash flows does not purport to be an
estimate of the fair market value 'of the Company’s proved reserves. An estimate of fair value would also take
into account, among other things, anticipated changes in future prices and costs, the expected recovery of
reserves in excess of proved reserves and a discount factor more representauve of the time value of money and
the nsks inherent in producing 011 .and gas.

Full Cost Method of Accounting: The Company uses the full cost method of accountmg for its oil and
gas operations. Separate cost centers are maintained for each country in which the Company incurs costs. All
costs incurred in the acquisition, exploration and development of properties (including costs of surrendered
and abandoned leaseholds, delay lease rentals, dry holes and overhead related to exploration and development
activities) are capitalized. Effective with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(“SFAS”) No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” the carrying amount of oil and gas
properties includes estimated asset retirement costs recorded based on the fair value of the asset retirement
obligation when incurred. The sum of net capitalized costs and estimated future development costs of oil and
gas properties for each full cost center are depleted using the units-of-production method. Changes in
estimates of reserves, future development costs or asset retirement obligations are accounted for prospectively
in our depletion calculation. . : “

Investments in unproved properties are not depleted pending the determination of the existence of proved
reserves. Unproved properties are assessed periodically to ascertain whether impairment has occurred.
Unproved properties whose costs are individually significant are assessed individually by considering the
primary lease terms of the properties, the holding period of the properties, and geographic and geologic data
obtained relating to the properties. Where it is not practicable to individually assess the amount of impairment
of properties for which costs are not individually significant, such properties are grouped for purposes of
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assessing impairment. The amount of impairment assessed is added to the costs to be-amortized in the
appropriate full cost pool. . , ;

Companies that use the full cost method of accounting for oil and ‘gas exploration and development
activities are required to perform a ceiling test calculation each quarter. The full cost ceiling test is an
impairment test prescribed by SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-10. The ceiling test is performed quarterly on a
country-by-country basis. The ceiling limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future
net revenues attributable to proved crude oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10% plus the lower of cost
or market value of unproved properties less any associated tax effects. If such capitalized costs exceed the
ceiling, the Company will fecord a write-down to the extent of such excess as a non-cash charge to earnmgs
Any such write-down will reduce earnings in the period of occurrence and result in lower DD&A expense in
future periods. A write-down may not be reversed in future penods even though higher oil and natural gas
prices may subsequertly increase the ceiling.

b

The Company did not have any write-downs related to the full cost ceiling limitation in 2005, 2004 or
2003. As of December 31, 2005, the ceiling limitation exceeded the carrying value of the Company’s oil and
gas properties. Estimates of discounted future net cash flows at December 31, 2005 were based on average
natural gas prices of approx1mately $8.00 per MCF in the U.S. and on average Mqulds prices of approx1mately
$60.81 per barrel in the U.S. In China, estimates of discounted future net cash flows on crude oil were based
on a net realized price of $48.74 per barrel. A reduction in oil and gas prices and/or estlmated quantities of- oil
and gas reserves would reducc the ceiling limitation and could result in a cellmg test write-down.

" Asset Retirement Obligation. The Company’s asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) consist primarily
of estlmated costs of dismantlement, removal, site reclamation and similar activities associated with its oil and
gas properties. SFAS No: 143 requires that the discounted fair value of a liability for an ARO be recognized in
the period in which it is incurred with the associated asset retirement cost capitalized as part of the carrying
cost of the oil and gas asset. The recognition of an ARO requires that management make numerous estimates,
assumptions and Judgments regardmg such factors as the existence of a legal obligation for an ARO, estimated
probabilities, amounts and timing of settlements; the credit-adjusted, risk-free rate to be used; inflation rates,
and future advances in technology. In periods subsequent to initial measurement of the AROQ, the Company
must recognize period-to-period changes in the liability resulting from the passage of time and fevisions to
cither the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows. Increases in the ARO
liability due to passage of time impact net income as accretion expense. The related capitalized cost, 1nclud1ng
revisions thereto is charged to expense through DD&A ‘

Entitlements Method of Accounting for Oil and Gas Sales. The Company generally sells natural gas,
condensate and crude oil under both long-term and short-terni agreements at prevailing market prices. The
Company recognizes revenues when-the products are delivered, which occurs when the customer has taken
title and has assumed the risks and rewards of ownership, prices are fixed or determinable and collecublhty is
reasonably assured. The Company accounts for oil and gas sales using, the “entitlements method.” Under the
entitlements method, revenue is recorded based upon the Company’s ownrsrshjp share of volumes sold,
regardless of whether it has taken its ownership share of such volumes. The Company records a receivable or a
liability to the extent it receives less or more than its share of the ‘volumes and related revenue. Under the
alternative “sales method” of accounting for oil and gas sales, revenue would be recorded based on volumes
taken by the Company or allocated to it by third parties, regardless of whether such volumes are more or less
than its ownership share of volumes produced. Reserve estimates would be adjusted to reflect any over-
produced or under-produced positions. Receivables or payables would be recognized on a company’s balance
sheet only to the extent that remaining reserves are not sufficient to satisfy volumes over- or under-produced.

. Make-up provisions and ultimate settlements of volume imbalances are: generally governed by agree-
ments between the Company and its partners with respect to specific properties or, in the absence of such
agreements, through negotiation. The value of volumes over- or under-produced can change based on changes
in commodity prices. The Company prefers the entitlements method of accounting for oil and gas sales
because it allows for recognition of revenue based on its actual share of jointly owned production, resuits in
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better matching of revenue with related operating éxpenses, and: provides -balance sheet recognition of the
estimated value of product imbalances.

Valuation of Deferred Tax Assets. - The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for
income taxes. Under this method, future income-tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences
between the financial statement carrying values and.their respective income tax basis {temporary differences).

To assess the realization of déferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realizéd. The ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income durmg the periods in which those temporary
differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities,
projected future taxable income and tax _planning strategles in making this assessment. As of December 31,
2004, the Company had U.S. federal regular tax net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL’s”) of approximately
$16.7 million which were fully utilized to offset U.S. taxable income in 2005.

Commodity Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The”Co'rﬁpany may, from time to time,
enter into commodity derivative contracts and/or fixed-price phys1ca1 contracts to manage its exposure to oil
and natural gas price volatlhty The Company | has, in the past, prlrnanly utilized fixed price forward sales of
physical gas when it hedges some portion of its Wyommg natural gas production. These transactions are
generally placed with major financial institutions or ‘'with counter-parties of high credit quality that present
minimal credit risks to the Company, The Company may also secure payments under these types of
transactions by requiring the counterparty to provide letter(s) of credit. On a less frequent basis, the Company
may enter into commodity derivative contracts to manage price volatility. To the extent that it does enter into
such derivative transactlons the Company expects that the oil and natural gas reference prices of these
commodity derivatives contracts will be based upon crude oil and/or natural gas futures contracts which, when
adjusted for location basis differentials, will have a hlgh degree of historical correlation with actual prices the
Company receives. Under SFAS No. 133, all denvatlve instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair
value.. Changes in the derlvatlves fair value are recogmzed currently in earnings unless specific hedge
accounting criteria are met. For quahfymg cash flow hedges the gain or loss on the derivative is deferred in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) to the extent the hedge is effective. For quahfymg fair
value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative is offset by the related results of the hedged item in the i income
statement. Gains and losses on hedgmg instruments included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
(Loss) on the balance sheet are reclassified to Oil and Natural Gas Sales Revenue i in the period that the
related production is delivered. Derivative contracts that do not qualify for hedge accountmg treatment are
recorded as derivative assets and liabilities at market value in the consolidafed balance sheet, and the
associated unrealized gains and losses are recorded as-current expense or income in the consolidated statement
of operations. The Company currently does not have any. derivative contracts related to the marketing of its
natural gas or oil production in effect, the last one: having expr_red on December 31, 2005.

Legal, Envzronmental and Other Contingencies. A provision for'lega'l‘ environmental and other
contingencies is charged to expense “when the loss is probable and the cost cin be reasonably estimated.
Determining when expenses should be recorded for these contingencies and the appropriate amdunts for
accrual is a complex estimation process that includes the subjective judgment of management. In many cases,
management’s judgment is based on 1nterpretanon of laws and tegulations, which can be interpreted
differently by regulators and/or courts of law. Thé Companys management closely monitors known and
potential legal, environmental and other contmgenmes and periodically determines when the Company should
record losses for these 1tems bascd on 1nformat10n available to the Company.

Share- Based Paymenz Arrangements In December 2004, the Financial Accountmg Standards Board
(“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments” (“SFAS No. 123R”). SFAS No. 123R is a
revision’ of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Corhipensation™,  and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25 (“APB Opinion 25”). Among other items, SFAS No. 123R eliminates the use of APB Opinion 25 and
the intrinsic value method of accounting, and requires companies to recognize the cost of employee services
- received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, based on the grarit date fair value of those awards, in
the financial statements. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an dlternative under theé new standard. The
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Company will adopt SFAS No. 123R as of the required effective date for calendar year companies, which is
January 1, 2006.

.SFAS No: 123R permits companies to adopt its requirements using either a “modified prospective”
method, or a “modified retrospective” method. Under the “modified prospective” method, compensation cost
is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on the requirements of
SFAS No. 123R for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of
SFAS No. 123 for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123R. Urnder the
“modified retrospective” method, the requirements are the same as under the “medified prospective’” method,
but also permit entities to restate financial statements of previous periods based on proforma disclosures made
in accordance with SFAS No. 123. At December 31, 2003, all stock options granted to date were fully vested.

- The Company currently utilizes a standard option pricing model (i.e., Black-Scholes) to measure the fair
value of stock options granted to Employees. While SFAS No. 123R permits entities to continue to use such a
model, the standard also permits the use of a more complex binomial, or “lattice” model. Based upon research
done by the Company on the alternative models available to value option grants, and in conjunction with the
type and number of stock options expected to be issued in the future, the Comp: any has determined that it will
continue to use the Black-Scholes model for option valuation as of the current time.

SFAS No. 123R includes several modifications to the way that income taxes are recorded in the financial
statements. The expense for certain types of option grants is only deductible for tax purposes at the time that
the taxable event takes place, which could cause variability in the Company's effective tax rates recorded
throughout the year. SFAS No. 123R does not allow companies to “predict” when these taxable events will
take place. Furthermore, it requires that the benefits associated with the tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as
required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase ‘net
financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. These future amounts cannot be estimated, because
they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options.

Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Oil and gas revenues increased to-$516.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$259.0 million for the same period in 2004. This increase was attributable to an increase in both the
Company’s production volumes and prices received for that production coupled with a-full year’s production
from the China asset. During 2005, the Company’s production increased to 61.7 Bcf of natural gas and 464.3
thousand barrels of condensate in Wyoming and 1.6 million barrels of crude oil in China, up from 2004 levels
of 43.7 Bef of natural gas and 349.7 thousand barrels of condensate in Wyoming and 624.6 thousand barrels of
crude oil in China . This 49% increase on an Mcfe basis was attributable to the Company’s successful drilling
activities during 2005 and 2004 in Wyoming and initiation of production in China during July 2004. During
the year ended December 31, 2005, the average product prices received were $6.84 per Mcf and $57.37 per
barrel of condensate in Wyoming and $43.54 per barrel for crude oil in China, compared to $5.13 per Mcf and
$41.92 per barrel of condensate in Wyoming and $32.31 per barrel of crude oil in China for the same period in
2004. :

In Wyoming, direct lease operating costs increased to $9.0 million in 2005 from $6.3 million in 2004 due
largely to higher production volumes. On a unit of production basis, LOE costs were flat at $0.14 per Mcfe in
2005 when compared to 2004. Production taxes in Wyoming during the year ended December 31, 2005 were
$52.7 million compared to $28.2 million in 2004, or $0.82 per Mcfe in 2005, compared to $0.62 per Mcfe in
2004. Production taxes in Wyoming are calculated based on a percentage of revenue from production.
Therefore, higher prices received increased production taxes on a per unit basis. Gathering fees in Wyoming
for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased to $17.1 million, or $0.27 per Mcfe in 2005 from
$13 1 million, or $0.29 per Mcfe, in 2004 as a result of hlgher production volumes.

In Wyoming, DD&A expenses 1ncreased to $48.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$27.3 million for the same period in 2004, attributable to increased production volumes and a higher depletion
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rate due to forecasted increased future development costs. On a. unit basis, DD&A expense in Wyoming
increased to $0.75 per Mcfe in 2005 from $0.60 per Mcfe in 2004.

In China, production costs were $7.4 million in 2003, or $0.79 per Mcfe or $4.72 per BOE, compared
with $2.3 million in 2004, or $0.61 per Mcfe or $3.66 per BOE. Severance taxes in China during the year
ended December 31, 2005 were $3.4 million compared to $1.0 million in 2004, or $0.36 per Mcfe ($2.18 per
BOE) in 2005 compared to $0.27 per Mcfe ($1.62 per BOE) in 2004. The increase in severance taxes relates
to a full year of production during 2005 compared to half year in 2004. In China, DD&A expense was
$9.6 million or $1.03 per Mcfe or $6.20 per BOE, in 2005 ‘compared to $2.9 million, or $0.77 per Mcfe or
$4.65 per BOE in 2004. Production commenced in China during July 2004.

Interest expense decreased to $3.3 million in 2005 from $3.8 m11110n in 2004. This decrease was largely
attributable to the decrease in borrowings under the senior credit fa0111ty and was partially offset by increased
interest rates during 2005.

Deferred income tax expense increased to $123.5 mllhon in 2005 from $58.0 million in 2004. This
increase was primarily attributable to an increase in net income from contmumg operations combmed with an
increase in the tax rate. Deferred income taxes were booked at the rate of 35.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2005 as compared to a rate of 34.7% in 2004. The Company was not liable for current payment
of any material amount of income taxes for the period ending December 31, 2005. '

Results of Operations — Year Ended December 31, 2004 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Oil and gas revenues increased to $259.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$121.6 million for the same period in 2003. This. increase was attributable to an increase in both the
Company’s production and prices received for that production as well as the production from the China assets
beginning in July 2004. During this period the Company’s production increased to 43.7 Bcf of natural gas and
349.7 thousand barrels of condensate in Wyoming and 624.6 thousand barrels of crude oil in China, up from
27.6 Bcf of natural gas and 211.6 thousand barrels of condensate for the same period in 2003. This 71%
increase on an Mcfe basis was attributable to the Company’s successful drilling activities during 2004 and
2003. During the year ended December 31, 2004 the average product prices were $5.13 per Mcf and
$41.92 per barrel of condensate in Wyoming and $32.31 per barrel for crude oil in China, compared to
$4.16 per Mcf and $31.86 per barrel of condensate in Wyommg for the same penod in 2003. The China
production began in July 2004.

In Wyoming, direct lease operating costs increased to $6.3 million in 2004 from $3.6 million in 2003 due
to higher production. On a unit of production basis, LOE costs were $0.14 per Mcfe in 2004, as compared to
$0.13 per Mcfe in 2003. Production taxes in Wyoming during 2004 were $28.2 million, compared to
$13.8 million in 2003, or $0.62 per Mcfe in 2004, compared to $0.48 per Mcfe in 2003. Production taxes are
calculated based on a percentage of revenue from production. Therefore, higher prices received increased the
cost on a per unit basis. Gathering fees in Wyoming increased to $13.1 million in 2004 from $7.8 million i in
2003, attributable to higher production volumes.,

In Wyoming, DD&A expenses increased to $27.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$16.2 million for the same period in 2003, attributable to increased production volumes and a higher depletion
rate, attributable to forecasted increased future developrment costs. On a unit ba51s DD&A increased to
$0.60 per Mcfe in 2004 from $0.56 per Mcfe in 2003,

In Chma production costs were $2.3 million in 2004, or $0 61 per'Mcfe or $3.66 per BOE. Severance
taxes in China during the year ended December 31, 2004 were $1.0 million, or $0.27 per Mcfe ($1.62 per
BOE). DD&A was $2.9 million or $0.77 per Mcfe or $4.65 per BOE in 2004.. Production in China started
during July 2004.

Interest expense increased to $3.8 million during 2004 from $2.8 million in 2003. This increase was
attributable to the increase in borrowings under the senior credlt facility combined with increasing mterest
rates. :
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Deferred income tax expense for the period increased to $58.0 million in 2004 from $25.3 million in 2003.
This increase was attributable to an increase in net income from continuing operations. Deferred income taxes
were booked at the rate of 34.7% as compared to a rate of 35.8% in 2003. The Company was not liable for
current payment of any material amount of income taxes for the period ending December 31, 2004.

Liquidilty and Capital Resources

During the year-ended December 31, 2005, the Company relied on cash provided by operations and
borrowings under its senior credit facility to finance its capital expendltures The Company participated in the
drilling of 110 wells i in Wyoming and continued to participate in the development process in the China blocks,
including the ongoing drilling of development wells. For the year-ended December 31, 2005 net capital
expenditures were $282.7 million. At December 31, 2005, the Company reported a cash position of
$44.4 million compared to $16.9 million at December 31, 2004. Working capital at December 31, 2005 was
$42.7 million as compared to $(10.0) million at December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2005, the Company
had no outstanding bank indebtedness-and other long-term obligations of $20.6 mﬂhon comprised of items
payable in more than one year, primarily related to production taxes.

The Company’s positive cash provided by operating activities, along with availability under its senior
credit facility, are projected to be sufficient to fund the Company’s budgeted capital expenditures for 2006,
which are currently projected to be $425.0 million. Of the $425.0 million budget, the Company plans to spend
approximately $400.0 million in Wyoming and approximately $20.0 million in China with the balance
allocated to evaluating other areas. With the $400.0 million budgeted for Wyoming, the Company plans to
drill or participate in an estimated 160 gross wells in 2006, of which approximately 25% will be for exploration
wells and the remaining will be for development wells. Of the $20.0 million budgeted for China, approximately
33% will be for exploratory/appraisal activity and the balance will be for development activity. The Company
currently has no budget for acquisitions in 2006. ‘

The Company (through its subsidiary) participates in a revolving credit facility with a group of banks led
by JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. The agreement specifies a maximum loan amount of $500 miilion, an
aggregate borrowing base of $800 million and a commitment amount of $200 million at November 14, 2005.
The commitment amount may be increased up to the lesser of the borrowing base amount or $500 million at
any time at the request of the Company. Each bank shall have the right, but not the obligation, to increase the
amount of their commitment as requested by the Company. In the event that the existing banks increase their
commitment to an amount less than the requested commitment amount, then it would be necessary to bnng
additional banks into the facility. At December 31, 2005, the Company had no amounts outstanding and
$200 million unused and available under the current committed amount.

The credit facility matures on May 1, 2010. The note bears interest at either (A) the bank’s prime rate
plus' a margin of zero percent (0.00%) to three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) based on the percentage of
available credit drawn or at (B) LIBOR plus a margin of one percent (1.00%) to one and three-quarters of
one percent (1.75%) based on the percentage of available credit drawn. For purposes of calculating interest,
the available credit is equal to the borrowing base. An average annual commitment fee of 0.25% to 0.375%,
depending on the percentage of available credit drawn, is charged quarterly for any unused portion of the
commitment amount. The Company’s total commitment fees were $354,017, $374,096 and $249,788 for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. '

The borrowing base is subject to periodic (at least semi-annual) review and re-determination by the
banks and may be decreased or increased depending on a number of factors, including the Company’s proved
reserves and the bank’s forecast of future oil and gas prices. If the borrowing base is reduced to an amount less
than the balance outstanding, the Company has sixty days from the date of written notice of the reduction in
the borrowing base to pay the difference. Additionally, the Company is subject to quarterly reviews of
compliance with the covenants under the bank facility including minimum coverage ratios relating to interest,
working capital and advances to Sino-American Energy Corporation. In the event of a default under the
covenants, the Company may not be able to access funds otherwise available under the facility. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with required ratios of the bank facility.
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The debt outstanding under the credit facility is secured by a majonty of the Company s proved domestic
oil and gas properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2005 net cash provided by operating activities was $414.4 million as
compared to $175.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The incredse in cash provided by operating
activities was primarily due to the increase in earnings which was due to higher production lcvels and higher
prices received for that production.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, cash usedin investing activities was $306.5 ‘million as
compared to $165.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The change is primarily attributable to
increased activity for drilling and completion operations in Wyoming. The $288.9 million used in oil and gas
property expenditures consists of $282.7 million incurréd for drilling and completion activities in 2005, and
$6.2 million attributable to the trmmg of cap1tal expendltures mcurred but not yet pald

During the year ended December 31, 2005 cash used in ﬁnancmg activities was $80 3 million as
compared to cash provided by financing activities of $4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The
change is primarily attributable to debt repayment under the senior credit facility offset by proceeds from
employee stock option exercises.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005:

Payments Due by Period: -
Less Than : - More Than

‘ . Total. ] One Year . 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term debt ......... $ . - & —-— % . = 3 L= $—
Drilling contracts........ 108,410,500 — 104,610,500 3,800,000 —_
Operating leases......... 132,020 i 132,020 , — — —
Office space lease ... .. .. 813,583 . 367,329 | 446,254 = -
Total contractual, o _ o .
obligations ....... e $109,356,103  $499,349 | $105,056,754  $3,800,000 $— .

As of Décember 31, 2005, the Company had committed to drilling obligatrons with certain rig contractors
that will continue into 2009. The mentloned dnlhng rigs were contracted ‘to fulfill the 2006-2008 drilling
program initiatives in Wyoming.

On October 16, 2003 the operator of the Company s propertles in Chma Kerr-McGee, signed a 15 year
contract, which provides for up to an additional 10 years, to lease the FPSO. The Company ratified the
contract for its net share which is 8.91%. The FPSO service agreement calls for a day rate lease payment and a
sliding scale per barrel processing fee that decreases based on cumulative barrels processed. The lease contains
a cancellation fee for the Company based on a shdmg time-scale (cancellation fee decreases with time) which
as of December 31, 2005 was $3.3 million net to the Company’s 8.91% interest. The Company considers it
very unlikely that a lease cancellation situation will occur. Due to the terms of the lease, the Company cannot
estimate with any degree of accuracy the costs it may incur ‘during the life of the lease. The Company s net
share for the costs of the FPSO in 2005 was “approximately $1.8 mllhon

In May 2003, the Company amended its prior office lease in Englewood, Colorado which it has
committed to through June 2008. The Company’s total remaining commitment of this lease is $677 791 at
December 31, 2005 ($265,485 in 2006, $273,530 in 2007 and $138, 776 in 2008). In December 2003, the
Company signed a lease for office space in Houston, Texas, which it has committed to through April 2007 for
a total remaining commitment of $135,792 ($101,844 in 2006 and $33,948 in 2007) at December 31, 2005
The total remaining commitment for both offices is $813, 583

During 2005, the Company took a major step toward assurmg that the pipeline infrastructure to move the
Company’s natural gas supplies away from southwest Wyoming will be expanded to provide sufficient capacity
to transport its natural gas production and to provide for reasonable basis differentials for its natural gas in the
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future. The Company agreed to become an’ anchor shipper on the proposed Rockies Express Pipeline project,
sponsored by subsidiaries of Kinder Morgan and Sempra Energy. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built as
proposed, would be the largest natural gas transmission pipeline projéct of'its type built in the United States in
more than 20 years, beginning at the Opal Processing Plant in southwest Wyoming and traversing Wyoming
and several other states to an ultimate terminus in eastern Ohio. This project is projected to cover more than
1,800 miles and is contemplated to be a large- diameter (42”), hlgh-pressure natural gas pipeline. The
Rockies Express Pipeline, if built, will be an interstate pipeline and would therefore be sub]ect to the
jurisdiction of the United States Federal Energy Reguiatory Commission (“F ERC”)

On December 19, 2005, the Company srgned two Precedent Agreements with Rockles Express Pipeline,
LLC and Entrega Gas Pipeline LLC governing how the parties will proceed th rrough the design, regulatory
process and construction of the pipeline facilities and, subject to certain conditions precedent, the Company
will take firm transportation service if and when the pipeline facilities are constructed. Commencing upon
completion of the pipeline facilities, the Company’s commitment involves capacity of 200,000 MMBtu per day
of natural gas for a term of 10 years, and thé Company will be obligated to pay to Rockies Express certain
demand charges related to its rights to hold this firm transportation' capacity as an arnchor shipper. Based on
current assumptions, current projections regarding the cost of the expansion and the. participation of other
shippers in the expansion (noting specifically that these assumptions are likely to change materially), the
Company currently projects that annual demand charges due may be approximately $70 million per year for
the term of the contract, exclusive of fuel and surcharges. The Company’s Board of Directors approved the
Precedent Agreements on February 6, 2006 and Kinder Morgan, as the Managing Member of the Rockies
Express Pipeline LLC advised the Company of their final approval of the Precedent Agreements, and their
intent to proceed with the construction of the Rockies Express Pipeline on February 28, 2006. The pipeline
facilities are currently anticipated to be completed in stages between 2007 and 2009. Although the Company is
optimistic that the Rockies Express Pipeline project will receive the necessary regulatory approvals and be
constructed in a timely manner, there can be no assurances that the Rockies Express Pipeline will be built, nor
will there be any assurances that, if built, it will prevent large basis differentials from occurring in the future.

Additionally, in maintaining its acreage base that is not held by production, the Company incurs certain
expenses, including delay rental costs. From year to year, the Company’s acreage base varies, sometimes
dramatically, rendering it impossible to forecast with any accuracy what the amcunt of these delay rental costs
will be. In 2005, delay rental costs for all of the Company’s leases not held by production were $289,660.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company’s major market risk exposure is in the pricing applicable to its natural gas and oil
production. Realized pricing is currently driven primarily by the prevailing price for the Company’s Wyoming
natural gas production. Historically, prices received for natural gas production have been volatile and
unpredictable, Pricing volatility is expected to continue. Natural gas price realizations ranged from a monthly
low of $5.50 per Mcf to a monthly high of $8.64 per Mcf during 2005. Realized natural gas prices are derived
from the financial statements which include the effects of hedging and natural gas balancing.

The Company may, from time to time, use derivative instruments as one way to manage its exposure to
commodity prices. The Company has periodically entered into fixed price to index price swap agreements in
order to hedge a portion of its production. The purpose of the swaps is to provide a measure of stability to the
Company’s cash flows in an environment of volatile oil and gas prices. The derivatives reduce the Company’s
exposure on the hedged volumes to decreases in commodity prices and limit the benefit the Company might
otherwise have received from any increases in commodity prices on the hedged volumes. The Company
recognizes all derivative instruments as assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value. The accounting
treatment of the changes in fair value as specified in SFAS No. 133 is dependent upon whether or not a
derivative instrument is designated as a hedge. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair
value, to the extent the hedge is effective, are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) on the
balance sheet until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as oil and gas revenue. For all other derivatives,
changes in fair value are recognized in earnings as income or expense. As of December 31, 2005, the Company
no longer assesses the future liability of cash flow hedges as all agreements qualifying as such have expired.
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During 2005, the Company recognized costs associated with financially-settled swaps to counterparties
totaling $9,286,000 as its net realization from hedging activities. This total includes $999,900 for the first
quarter of 2005, $1,440,800 for the second-quarter of 2005, $2,090,600 for the third quarter of 2005, and
$4,754,700 for the fourth quarter of 2005.. ‘

At December 31, 2005, the Company had no open derivative’ contracts to manage price risk on its natural
gas production.

The Company also utilizes fixed. price forward natural gas sales at southwest Wyoming delivery points to
hedge its commodity exposure. In addition to the derivative contracts discussed above, the Company had the
following physical delivery contracts in place at December 31, 2005. (The Company’s average net interest in
phy51ca1 natural gas sales is approx1mately 80%.)

Volume — Average
Contract Period =~ - = ’ ‘ e MMBTU/Day Price/MMbtu
Calendar 2006 ... ............. RO ... 70,000 $5.86

- As of February 28, 2006, the Company’s fixed pnce forward natural gas sales contracts represented net
volumes equal to approximately 24% of the Company’s currently forecasted natural gas productlon for
Calendar 2006. . . . .
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of. Directors and Shareholders
Ultra Petroleum Corp.:

We have audited the accompanying consohdated balance sheets of Ultra Petroleum Corp. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operatxons and
retained earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are . the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our: audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Cornpany Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonablé
basis for our opinion. ‘

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Ultra Petroleum Corp. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2005, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As explained in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Rettrement Obhganons effective J anuary 1,
2003. :

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the effectiveness of the: Company’s internal control cver financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQ), and our report, dated
March 30, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and an adverse opinion on
the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP
KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado

March 30, 2006
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ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2005 2004
(Expressed in U.S. dollars) .
ASSETS
Current'as'sgts'; ' o ' _ , o
" Cash and cash equivalents ....... ... ... $ 44394775 $ 16,932,661
Réstricted cash.....o..... .. - . e e e : 213,899 ' 2_11,961
Accounts receivable . ... ... i + 75,656,031 35,749,287
.Deferred tax asset ...,.... ... .. T . — 1,327,489
Inventory . ............ TR N e L. 22,062,585 5,180,024
 Prepaid-drilling costs and other current assets ........... O 128,044 1,725,843
Total current assets .......... L PR e 142,455,334 61,127,265
Oil and gas properties, using vthe‘fu'll cost method of accounting R :
Proved . ... 612,960,790 .. 385,794,926
Unproved. . .... P e 89,702,465 88,839,460
Capital assets ........ e P P ' 2,147,528 1,424,367
TOTAL ASSETS ................ Ve P e . $847,266,117  $537,186,018
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current labilities .., , ‘ C . , L . o
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. ... ... ..o it $ 49,297,861 $§ 14,238,836
. Fair value of derivative instruments. .. .. cees e = 3,739,406
. Current taxes payable ......... R 3,564,990 : - —-
Capital cost accrual .. .. .. e e : 46,879,289 - 53,118,385
Total currerit liabilities . .. .. P PRI SR L L. 099,742,140 71,096,627
Long-term debt ...... TR e L PR T S — 102;000,000
Deferred income tax liability ........... e | 155,746,465 = 86,362,741
Other long-term obligations . ......... ... it 20,576,574 9,734,904
Shareholders’ equity: :
Common stock — no par value; authorized — unlimited; issued and
outstanding — 155,075,864 and 150,234,936 at December 31, 2005
and 2004, respectively ....... e 178,806,030 106,513,852
Treasury stock ... e (1,193,650) (1,193,650)
Accumulated other comprehensive [0sS. ... — (2,616,767)
Retained earnings............ ... i 393,588,558 165,288,311
Total shareholders’ equity . ........ .. i e 571,200,938 267,991,746
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY ..... e $847266,117  $537,186,018

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
Approved on behalf of the Board:

"/s/  Michael D. Watford, Director /s/ James E. Nielson, Director
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ULTRA -PETROLEUM CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND RETAINED EARNINGS

Year Ended December 31,

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2005 2004 2003
S ‘ (Expressed in U.S, Dollars)
REVENUES: L : o .
Natural gas sales ........... P v o..... $422,091,034  $224,207,694  $114,840,558
Oilsales . ... i 94,401,967 34,838,753 6,740,539
‘ ' | 516,493,001 259,046,447 121,581,097
EXPENSES: \ o
Production expenses and taxes ............oc.ii. 89,601,686 50,869,283 25,223,679
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ............... 58,102,871 30,249,061 16,215,714
General and administrative . ............... ... .. .. 14,342,178 7,075,720 6,751,367
. ) 162,046,735 88,194,064 48,190,760
OPERATING INCOME...........\vvreern. ., cee e i, 354446266 170,852,383 . 73,390,337
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE): ‘ R , o
Interest income. ................. ... .. .. (TR 612,153 90,760 36,889
Interest eXpense . ... ...t (3,286,087)  (3,783,070)  (2,850,916)
' ' | (2,673934)  (3.692,310)  (2,814,027)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES ................. 351,772,332 167,160,073 70,576,310
Income tax provision ............ooiiiiii 123,472,085 58,010,278 25,253,671
NET INCOME ...t 228,300,247 109,149,795 45,322,639
RETAINED EARNINGS, beginning of year............. 165,288,311 56,138,516 10,815,877
RETAINED EARNINGS, end of year. ...... e $393,588,558 $165,288,311 $ 56,138,516
NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE — BASIC ..... § 1.49 § 073 § 0.31
NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE —DILUTED.. § 141 § 0.68 $ 029
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic ... .. 153,100,067 149,735,666 - 148,198,106
Weighted avevrage common shares outstanding — diluted.... 161,943,400 161,205,534 ' 157,037,878




ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated.

Other
Comprehensive Total
Shares Common Retained Income Treasury Shareholders’
Issued Stock Earnings (Loss) Stock Equity
Balances at December 31, 2002.. 147,973,336 $ 95,098,690 $ 10,815,877 $ (653,875) $(1,193,650) $104,067,042
_ Stock options exercised. ... ... 886,000 988,247 — — — . 988247
Employee stock plan grants ... 236,000 1,148,630 — — — 1,148,630
Fair value of non-employee ' ‘
stock option grants......... — 212,654 — — — 212,654
Comprehensive earnings: )
Net earnings. . .............. — o o— 45,322,639 — . — 45322639
Change in derivative .
instruments fair value ...... — - —  (2,286,482) — (2,286,482)
Total comprehensive earnings ... 43,036,157
Balances at December 31, 2003.. 149,095,336  97,448221 56,138,516  (2,940,357) (1,193,650) 149,452,730
Stock options exercised . ...... 1,106,600 1,770,099 — — —_— 1,770,099
Employee stock plan grants . .. 33,000 560,175 — C— — 560,175
Fair value of non-employee v
stock option grants......... — 100,550 — — — 100,550
Tax benefit of stock options -
exercised................. S — 6,634,807 — . = — 6,634,807
Comprehensive earnings; '
Net earnings.......... R = — 109,149,795 — — 109,149,795
Change in derivative . ' .
instruments fair value ...... — — -— 7 323,590 — 323,590
Total comprehensive earnings . .. : 109,473,385
Balances at December 31, 2004.. 150,234,936 106,513,852 165,288,311  (2,616,767) (1,193,650) 267,991,746
Stock options exercised . L 4,793,700 20,266,680 ’ —_— — — 20,266,680
Employee stock plan grants ... 47,228 1,389,380 — — — 1,389,380

- Fair value of non-employee
" stock option grants......... — — — — — —

Tax benefit of stock options ‘
exercised ................. — 50,636,118 — — — 50,636,118

Comprehensive earnings:
Net earnings................ — — 228,300,247 — — 228,300,247
Change in derivative
instruments fair value ... ... ~ — — 2,616,767 — 2,616,767
Total comprehensive earnings . .. 230,917,014
Balances at December 31, 2005.. 155,075,864 $178,806,030 $393,588,558 § —  $(1,193,650) $571,200,938

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ULTRA PETROLEUM' CORP.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW .

' Year En'ded December 31,
2005 ' 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income ........ e e R, $ 228,300,247 . § 109,149,795  § 45,322,639
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash o ’ .

provided by operating activities: B
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ........ 58,102,871 30,249,061 16,‘215,714
Deferred income taxes. ..., 69,270,977 57,748,452 25,253,671
Tax benefit of stock options exercised........... 50,636,118 — e
Stock compensation......... JE © 2,858,515 o 923,623 ~"1,018,220

" Net changes in working capital: ) o
Restricted cash............... e C(1938)  (1,292) (1,363)
Accounts receivable . ..... ... (39,906,744) . (16,400,426) " (7,950,378)
Inventory ... ... ... (518,576) (275,424) —

; Prepaid expenses and other current assets ... .. o 1,597,799 ‘ (14,106) , (1,237,458)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities......... 32,518,107 ‘(10,169,0812) 10,168,164
Other long-term obligations ................... 7:931,130 - 3,870,179 1,261,403
Taxation payable ............................ 3,564,990 " 261,826 —

Net cash provided by operating activities .......... 4‘1‘4,35‘3;496 ~175,342,606 '90‘,050,612

Cash flows from investing activities: ‘ o . » :
Oil and gas property expenditures .............. (282,668,055)  (195,598,484)  (115,837,230)
Chaﬁge in capital costs accrual ............ T (6,239,096) ' 22,501,473 26,541,083
Inventory...... ... .. (16,054,472) 9,037,557 (1'3,589,270)
Purchase of capital assets ... ... [ (1,585,819) (954,702) _ (737,021)

Net cash (used in)‘ investing activities ......... peee (306,547,442) (165,014,156) ) (‘1'(/)3,622,45_8)
Cash flows from financing activities: L e ?
Borrowings of long-term debt, gross ............ 22,000,000 44,000,000 43,000,000
Payments on long-term debt, gross . ... . DU (124,000,000) (41,000,000)  (30,000,000)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock. ... .. .. ‘ 20’,266,680 1,770,099 988,247
Stock issued for compensation ................. 1,389,380 - . —
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities ...  (80,343,940) 4,770,099 13,988,247
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ........... 27,462,114 15,098,549 416,401
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year......... - 16,932,661 1,834,112 1,417,711
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year............. .8 44,'394,775 ‘ $ 1‘6,932',’661 3 1,834,1112
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION : BRI ) '

Cash paid for: o ‘ - ‘ ‘ ' '
TRLEreSt « @\t o0 $ 3393279 § 3783070 $ 23850916
INCOME tAXES + v oottt e e $ 326,502 § 153905 % —
Non-cash tax benefit of stock options exercised. . . $ 50,636,1 18I ;' S 6,634,807 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated. financial statements.
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UYLTRA PETROLEUM CORP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted)
.7 - Yéars ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Ultra Petroleum Corp.; (the “Company”) is an independent oil and gas company engaged in the
acquisition, exploration, development, and production of oil and gas properties. The Company is incorporated
under the laws of the Yukon Territory, Canada. The Company’s principal business activities are in the Green
River Basin of southwest Wyoming and Bohai Bay, China.

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

- (a) Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation: The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries UP Energy Corporation, Ultra Resources, Inc.
and Sino-American Energy Corporation. The Company presents its financial statements in accordance with
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). All material inter- -company transactions and

- balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

(b) Accounting principles: The consohdated financial statements are prepared in accordance with
accountmg principles generally accepted in the United States.

(¢) Cash and cash equzvalents We consider all highly liquid investments with an original matunty of
three months or 1ess to be cash equivalents.

(d) Restricted cash: . Restricted cash represents cash received by the Company frorn production sold
where the final division of ownership of the production is ‘unknown or in dispute. Wyoming law requlres that
these funds be held in a federally insured bank in Wyoming.

(e) Capital assets: Capital assets are recorded at cost and depreciated usmg the declining-balance
method based on a seven-year useful life.

(f) Oil and gas properties: The Company uses the full cost method of accounting for exploration and
development activities as defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). Separate cost
centers are maintained for each country in which the Company incurs costs. Under this method of accounting,
the costs of unsuccessful, as well as successful, exploration and development activities are capitalized as
properties and equipment.. This includes any internal costs that are directly related to exploration and
development activities but does not include any costs related to production, general corporate overhead or

" similar activities. Effective with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”)
No. 143 in 2003, the carrying amourit of 0il and gas properties also includes estimated asset retirement costs
recorded based on the fair value of the asset retirement obligation when incurred. Gain or loss on the sale or
other disposition of oil and gas properties is not recognized, unless the gain or loss would significantly alter the
relationship between capitalized costs and proved reserves of oil and gas attributable to a country.

- The sum of net capitalized costs and estimated future development costs of oil and gas properties are
amortized using the units-of-production method based on the proven reserves as determined by independent
petroleum engineers. Oil and gas reserves:and production are converted into equivalent units based on relative
energy content. Operating fees received related to the properties in which the Company owns an interest are
netted against expenses. Fees received in excess of costs incurred are recorded as a reduction to the full cost
pool. Effective with the adoption of SFAS No. 143, asset retrrement obligations are included in the base costs
for calculatmg depletron

Oil and gas properties include costs that. are excluded from capitalized costs being amortized. These
amounts represent investments in unproved properties and major development projects. The Company
excludes these costs on a country-by-country basis until proved reserves are found or until it is determined that
the costs are impaired. All costs excluded are reviewed, at least quarterly, to determine if impairment has
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ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -— (Continued)

occurred. The amount of any impairment is transferred to the capitalized costs being amortized (the
depreciation, depletion ‘and amortization (“DD&A”) pool) or a charge is made against earnings for those
international operations where a reserve base has not yet been established. For international operations where
a reserve base has not yet been established, an impairment requiring a charge to earnings may. be indicated
through evaluation of drilling results, relinquishing drilling rights or other information.

Companies that use the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas exploration and development
activities are required to perform a ceiling test calculation each quarter. The full cost ceiling test is an
impairment test prescribed by SEC Regulation S-X Rule 4-10. The ceiling test is performed quarterly on a
country-by-country basis. The ceiling limits such pooled costs to the aggregate of the present value of future
net revenues attributable to proved crude oil and natural gas reserves discounted at 10% plus the lower of cost
or market value of unproved properties less any associated tax effects. If such capitalized costs exceed the
ceiling, the Company will record a write-down to the extent of such excess as a non-cash charge to earnings.
Any such write-down will reduce earnings in the period of occurrence and result in lower DD&A expense in
future periods. A write-down may not be reversed in future periods, even though higher oil and natural gas
prices may subsequently increase the ceiling. The effect of implementing SFAS No. 143 had no effect on the
ceiling test calculation as the future cash outflows associated with settling asset retirement obligations are
excluded from this calculation.

(g) Inventories: Crude oil products and materials and supplies inventories are carried at the lower of
current market value or cost. Inventory costs include expenditures and other charges directly and indirectly
incurred in bringing the inventory to its existing condition and location and the Company uses the weighted
average method of recording its inventory. Selling expenses and general and administrative expenses are
reported as period costs and excluded from inventory cost. Inventories of materials and supplies are valued at
cost or less. Crude oil product inventory at December 31, 2005 and 2004 includes depletion and lease
operating expenses (“LOE”) of $1,456,400 and $628,311, respectively, associated with the Company’s crude
oil production in China. Drilling and completion supplies inventory of $20.6 million primarily includes the cost
of pipe that will be utilized during the 2006 drilling program.

(h) Derivative transactions: The Company has entered into commodity price risk management
transactions to manage its exposure to natural gas price volatility. These transactions are in the form of fixed
price forward natural gas sales contracts with financial institutions and other creditworthy counterparties.
These transactions have been designated by the Company as cash flow hedges. As such, unrealized gains and
losses related to the change in fair market value of the deérivative contracts are recorded in other
comprehensive income inthe balance sheet to the extent the hedges are effective.

(i) Income taxes: Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial stafement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis and
opefating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date.

(j) Earnings per share: Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings attributable to
common stock by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted
earnings per share is computed by adjusting the average number of common shares outstanding for the dilutive
effect, if any, of common stock equivalents. The Company uses the treasury stock method to determine the
dilutive effect.
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ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The ‘following table provides a reconciliation of the components of basic and diluted net income per
common share for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003: (The earnings per share information
(Basic income per common share and-Diluted income per common share) have been updated to reflect the 2
for 1 stock split on May 10, 2005)..
’ - : . Year Ended December 31,

. o 2005 2004 2003
Netincome................... e e $228,300,247  $109,149,795 $ 45,322,639

‘ Welghtcd average common shares outstandmg | .

~“during the period ....... 0o " 153,100,067 149,735,666 148,198,106
Effect of dilutive instruments ........... . 8,843,333 11,469,868 8,839,772 ‘
Weighted average common shares outstanding
: during the period including the effects of : : ‘ : ‘

.+ dilutive instruments ........... ... .. ... .. 161,943,400 161,205,534 157,037,878
Basic earnings per share .................... w $ - 149 § . 073 0§ 0.31
Diluted earnings per share ........ 8 141 § 068 $ 0.29
Number of shares not included in dilutive

earnings per share that would have been anti-
“dilutive because the exercise price was greater ‘
- than the average market price of the common ' ' ‘
shares. e e . ' 540,000 — 27,260

“(k) Use of estimates. ~ Preparation of ‘consolidated financial statemehts in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United* States requires manageinent to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

(1) Réclassifications: 'Certain amounts in the financial statemients of the pnor years have been
reclassified to conform to the current year financial statement presentauon

- (m) Accounting for stock-based. compensatzon SFAS No. 123 defines a fair value method of
accountmg for employee stock options and similar equity instruments. SFAS No. 123 allows for the continued
measurement of compensation cost for such plans (see Note 6) using the intrinsic value based method
prescribed by APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB Opinion 25”), “Accounting for ‘Stock Issued to Employees”,
provided that pro forma results of operations are disclosed for those options granted. The Company accounts
for stock options granted to employees and directors of the Company under the intrinsic value method and no
compensation expense is recognized when the exercise price of options equals or is greater than the fair market
value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Had the Company reported compensation costs as
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ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -— (Continued)

determined by the fair value method of accounting for option grants.to employees and directors, net income
and net 1nc0me per common share would approx1mate the following pro forma amounts:

For the Year Ended December 31,

2005 - 2004 2003 -
Net income: e :
Asreported . ... ... il i $228,300,247  $109,149,795  $45,322,639
Deduct: Fair value of stock options issued, net : : :
of tax.... .. .. (13,511,140)  (17,714,486) - (1,522,968)
Proforma .......... ... . ... i i $214,789,107  $ 91,435,309  $43,799,671
Net income per common share: -
 Basic earnings per s'hare:‘ ‘ , ‘
Asreported . ... -$ 1.49 $ 073 $ 0.31
Proforma ................... e $ 140 8§ 061 § 0.30
Diluted earnings per share: B
Asreported . ................ P $ 141 $ 0.68 $ 0.29
Proforma ..................... e $ . 133§ 057 § 0.28

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of options is amortized to expense over the
options’ vesting period. The weighted-average fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: at December 31, 2005
expected volatility of 34.8% to 44.9% and a risk free rate of 4.18% to 4.41%; at December 31, 2004 expected
volatility of 38.4% and a risk free rate of 3.713%; and at December 31, 2003, expected volatility of 25.0% and a
risk free rate of 4.35%, At December 31, 2005 options have expected lives of 1.9 years, at December 31, 2004
options had expected lives of 6.5 years, and December 31, 2003 options had expected lives of 10 years. At
December 31, 2005, all stock options issued to date have fully vested.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 'issued
SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), or SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, which replaces SFAS No. 123 and
supersedes APB Opinion 25. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the option to use APB Opinion 25’s intrinsic value
method of accounting and requires recording expense for stock compensation based on a fair value based
method. After a phase-in period for SFAS No. 123R, pro forma disclosure will no longer be allowed. In the
first quarter of 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 which provided further clarification
on the implementation of SFAS No. 123R.

- Alternative phase-in methods are allowed under Statement No. 123R and the Company’s effective date
for implementation of SFAS No. 123R is January 1, 2006. The Company expects it will use the modified-
prospective phase-in method that requires entities to recognize compensation costs in financial statements
issued after the date of adoption for all share-based payments granted, modificd or settled after the date of
adoption as well as for any awards that were granted prior to the adoption date for which the required service
has not vet been performed. The Company does not believe that any of the alternative phase-in methods-
would have a materially different effect on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations or Balance
Sheet.

(n) Revenue Recognition. Within the Company’s. United States segment, natural gas revenues are
recorded on the entitlement method. Under the entitlement method, revenue is recorded when title passes
based on the Company’s net interest. The Company.records its entitled share of revenues based on estimated
production volumes. Subsequently, these estimated volumes are adjusted to reflect actual volumes that are
supported by third party pipeline statements or cash receipts. Since there is a'ready market for natural gas, the
Company sells the majority of its products soon after production at various locations at which time title and
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risk of loss pass to the buyer. Natural gas imbalances occur when the Company sells more or.less than its
entitled ownership percentage of total natural gas production. Any amount received in excess of the
Company’s share is treated -as a liability. If the Company receives less than its entitled share, the
underproduction is recorded as a receivable. At December 31, 2005 the Company had a net natural gas
imbalance liability of $0.5 million and at December 31, 2004, the Company had a net natural gas imbalance
receivable of $2.0 million.

In China, revenues are recogmzed when production is sold to a purchaser at a fixed or determmable price,
when delivery has occurred and title is transferred.

(0) Accumulaled Other Comprehenszve Earnings (Loss): Other comprehensive earmngs (loss) is a
term used to define revenues, expenses, gains and losses that under generally accepted accounting principles
are reported as separate components of Shareholders’ Equity instead of net earnings (loss). The loss depicted
on the balance sheet as other comprehensive loss is associated with unrealized losses related to the change in
‘fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges. .
Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 . 2003
NetinCome . ....ovv vt $228,300,247 . $109,149,795 - $45,322,639
Unrealized loss on derivative instruments, net of" . i o
B v e o (2, 616 767) (2,940,357)

Effect of dilutive instruments .................. $228 300, 247 $106,533,028 $42,382,282

(p) Impact of recently issued accounting proriouncements: In December 2004, the FASB issued a
revised SFAS No. 123 (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires compensation costs related to share-based
payments to be recognized in the income statement over the vesting perlod The amount of the compensanon
cost will be measured based on the grant-date fair value of the instrument issued. SFAS 123R is effective as of
January 1, 2006, for all awards granted or modified after that date and for those awards granted prior to that
date that have not vested. Beginning January 1, 2006 the Company will begin expensing share based
compensation. All outstanding awards issued prior to-this date have fully vested. Stock compensation expensed
in 2005, 2004 and 2003 has‘been included within the general and administrative line item. of the Company’s
income statement. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and- 2003; stock compensatlon expense was
$2,858,515, $923,623 and $1,018,220, respectively. . .. , S

As of January 1, 2006, the Company will be required to adopt SFAS No. 154, “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20 and SFAS No. 3” (“SFAS No. 154”). SFAS
No. 154 requires retrospective application of voluntary changes in accounting principles, unless it is
impracticable. The Company does not expect this standard to have a matenal 1mpact on its ﬁnanc1al

- statements.

2. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS:

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“SFAS
No. 143”). SFAS No. 143 requires the Company to record the fair value of an asset retirement. obligation as a
liability in the period in which it incurs a legal obligation associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets that result. from the -acquisition, .construction, development and/or normal use of the assets. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company has recorded a liability of $3,601,348 ($2,845,724 U.S. and $755,624
China) to account for future obligations associated with its assets in both the United States and China. As of
December 31, 2004, the liability was $744,512 ($321,505 U.S. and $423,007 China).
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. The following table summarizes the activities for the Company’s asset retirement obligations for the.year
ended December 31, 2005:

December 31,

, 2005
Asset retirement obligations at beginning of period ...... ... .. .. ... L oL $ 744,512
ACCTEHION EXPENSE . . o vttt ettt ettt e 47,519
Liabilities incurred . ............ .. ....... P D © 844977
Liabilities settled . . ... .....ooveeeeen... B ST (53,705)
Revisions of estimated liabilities .................... I 2,018,045
Asset retirement obligations at end of period. . ...... ... ... ... . L. 3,601,348
Less: current asset retirement obligations. ... ... ‘ —
Long-term asset retirement obligations. ................. U e $‘3,601,348

3. OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES:

. December 31, December 31,
) 2005 2004
Developed Properties:

Acquisition, equipment, exploration, drilling and :

environmental costs — Domestic . ..., $ 700,425,880  $435,095,908
‘Acquisition, equipment, exploration, drilling and ‘

environmental costs — China ......... e 43,890,413 24,552,316
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization — C :

Domestic........ e e (118,172,467)  (70,597,411)
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization — ‘

China. ... e e (13,183,036) (3,255,887)

. 612,960,790 385,794,926
Unproven Properties:
Acquisition and exploration costs — Domestic.............. 17,647,300 16,910,010
Acquisition and exploration costs — China................. 72,()55,‘165 71,929,450

| : B $ 702,663,255  $474,634,386

The Company holds interests in projects located in both the United States and in China. Costs related to
these interests of $89.7 million ($17.6 million in the U.S. and $72.1 million in China) are not being depleted
pending determination of existence of estimated proved reserves. The Company’s share of exploration on its
China properties accounts for the majority of this balance. The properties in China began producing in July
2004 and development of additional fields continues along with exploration of future fields: The Company will
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contlnue to asséss and allocate the unproven properties over the next several years as proved reserves are
estabhshed and as exploration dictates whether or not future areas will be developed.

o Total 2005 2004 2003 Prior

United States: = - : . '

' Acquisition costs .... $ 18,606,405 $ 1,818954 $§ 222,685 $ . 418,064 $16,146,702
Exploration costs .. .. 7,477,887 545,602 1,082,804 995,612 4,853,869
Less transfers to

proved ........... (8,436,992y  (1,627,266) — (128,139) (6,681,587)

S 17,647,300 737,290 1,305,489 1,285,537 14,318,984
China: .

~Acquisition costs .... 44,857,346 — . — — 44,857,346

_ Exploration costs . ... 67,911,028 19,167,259 29,390,964 8,862,000 10,490,805

Less transfers to ' ‘ -
proved ........... (40,713209) (19,041,544) (21,671,665) _ —
72,055,165 125,715 7,719,299 8,862,000 55,348,151
Total . N $ 89,702,465 $ 863,005 $ 9,024,788 $10,147,537 $69,667,135

4. CAPITAL ASSETS:

[ , December 31,

December 31, 2005 December 31, December 31,
2005 " Accumulated 2005 2004
Cost Depreciation Net Book Value Net Book Value
Computer equipment............. $1,000,516 - $ 688,632 $ 311,884 $ 221,261
"Office equipment . ............... 277,142 188,757 88,385 88,339
,F__leld equipment . ................ 1,534,442 508,527 1,025,915‘ 329,264
Other................ U 2,482,917 1,761,573 721,344 785,503
$5,295,017 $3,147,489

5. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:

o

"+ Bank indebtedness:

$2,147,528

$1,424,367

Bank indebtedness ... o
_ Other long-term obligations .. ... PR I P .

December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004
$ —  $102,000,000
20,576,574 9,734,904
$111,734,904

- $20,576,574

The Company (through its subsidiary) participates in-a revolving credit facility with

a group of banks led by JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. The agreement specifies a maximum loan amount of
$500 million and an aggregate borrowing base of $800 million and a commitment amount of $200 million at
November 14, 2005. The commitment amount may be increased up to the lesser of the borrowing base
amount or $500 million at any time at the request of the Company. Each bank shall have the right, but not the
obligation, to increase the amount of their commitment as requested by the Company. In the event that the
existing banks increase their commitment to an amount less than the requested commitment amount, then it
would be necessary to bring additional banks into the facility. At December 31, 2005, the Company had no
amounts outstanding and $200 million unused and available under the current committed amount.
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The credit facility matures on May 1, 2010. The note bears interest at either. (A) the bank’s prime rate
plus a margin of zero percent (0.00%) to three-quarters of one percent (0.75%) based on the percentage of
available credit drawn or at (B) LIBOR plus a margin of one percent (1.00%) to one and three-quarters of
one percent (1.75%) based on the percentage of available credit drawn. For the purposes of calculating
interest, the available credit is equal to the borrowing base. An average annual commitment fee of 0.25% to
0.375%, depending on the percentage of available credit drawn, is charged quarterly for any unused portion of
the commitment amount. The Company’s total commitment fees were $354,017, $374,096 and $249,788 for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The borrowing base is subject to periodic (at least semi-annual) review and re-determination by the
banks and may be decreased or increased depending on a number of factors, including the Company’s proved
reserves and the bank’s forecast of future oil and gas prices. If the borrowing base is reduced to an amount less
than the balance outstanding, the Company has sixty days from the date of written notice of the reduction in
the borrowing base to pay the difference. Additionally, the Company is subject to quarterly reviews of
compliance with the covenants under the bank facility including minimum coverage ratios relating to interest,
working capital and advances to Sino-American Energy Corporation. In the event of a default under the
covenants, the ‘Company may not be able to access funds otherwise available under the facility. As of
December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with required ratios of the bank facility.

The debt outstanding, if any, under the credit facility is secured by a majerity of the Company’s proved
domestic oil and gas properties.

Other long-term obligations: These costs relate to the long-term portion of production taxes payabie, a
liability associated with imbalanced production, our asset retirement obligations mentioned in Note 2 and the
long-term portion of the Company’s incentive compensation plan.

6. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION:

The Company’s Stock Incentive Plans are administered by the Board of Directors (the “Plan Adminis-
trator’). The Plan Administrator may make awards of stock options to employees, directors, officers and
consultants of the Company as long as the aggregate number of common shares issuable to any one person
pursuant to incentives does not exceed 5% of the number of common shares outstanding at the time of the
award. In addition, no participant may receive during any fiscal year of the Company’s awards of incentives-
covering an aggregate of more than 500,000 common shares. The Plan Administrator determines the vesting
requirements and any vesting restrictions or forfeitures in certain circumstances. Incentives may not have an
exercise period longer than 10 years. The exercise price of the stock may not be less than the fair market value
of the common shares at.the time of award, where “fair market value” means the weighted average trading
price of the common shares for the five trading days preceding the date of ths award.

On April 29, 2005, the shareholders approved the adoption of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005
Stock Incentive Plan). The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan authorizes the Plan Administrator to award Incentives
from the effective date of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan. The 2005 Stock Incentive Plan is in addition to the
Company’s existing stock option plans (the “2000 Option Plan” and the “1998 Stock Plan”). The 2000
Option Plan and the 1998 Stock Plan remain effective and the Company will make grants under each of the
existing plans. )

The purpose of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan is to foster and promote the long-term financial success of
the Company and to increase shareholder value by attracting, motivating:and retaining key employees,
consultants and directors and providing such participants in the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan with a program for
obtaining an ownership interest in the Company that links and aligns their personal interests with those of the
Company’s shareholders, thus enabling such participants to share in the long-term growth and success of the
Company. To accomplish these goals, the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan: permits the granting of incentive stock
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options, non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, and other stock-based awards,
some of which may require-the satisfaction: of performance-based criteria in -order to be payable to
participants. The 2005 Stock Incentive:Plan is an important-component of the total compensation package
offeréd to employees and directors, reflecting the importance that the Company places on motivating and
rewardmg superior results with long-term, performance-based 1ncent1ves

. The followmg table summarizes the changes in stock OpthIlS for the three -year penod ended
December 31, 2005: . . y
Number of Weighted Average

. . B . o Options - _ -Exercise Price (USS$)
* Balance, December 31,2002 ... L. 11123500 $ 026 to $4.43
Granted . ... .. P ceveeeeeen 13950000 § 4.83 10 §7.10
EXETCISed. . .\ oeeeeees e e S PR . (886,000) $ 0.32to $4.43
Cancelled. ., ...\t U _ (27,500) $ 44310 $4.83 -
Balance, December 31, 2003 ........ P ST Lol o0 11,805,000 0% 0 26 to $7.10
Granted .. ...ooovooreen e 2005000 $11.69 to $24.31
Exercised.................. IR e PRI R (1,106,600) $ 0.38 to §7.10
Balance, December 31, 2004 ... ........................ 12,703,400  $ 0.26 to $24.31
Granted . .. .cv. it SRR i 1,529,000 $23.90 to $58.71
- Exercised............c...... SR e S + (4;793,700) . $°0.32 to $25.68
Cancelled ......... ... .. . i, e {50,000) = $25.68 to $25.68
Balance, December 31,2005 ... ... i 9,388,700 . $ 0.26 to $58.71

No compensation resulted from the granting of these options as all were:granted at or above the market
value ‘of the common shares at the date of grant. Stock options granted to consultants have been assessed at
fair value and capitalized to the full cost pool based on the nature of the services prov1ded by the consultants.
At December 31, 2003, all stock opt1ons granted to date were fully vested. :

The followmg table summanzes 1nformatlon about the stock opt1ons outstanding at December 31, 2005.

Options Outstanding o ) Options Exercisable )
T o Weighted Average  Weighted Average - Weighted Average  Weighted Average
Number Remaining Exercise Price Number Remaining Exercise Price
Range:of Exercise Price ($§US) Outstanding Contractual Life ©  :  ($US). Exercisable Contractual Life (SUS)
$038- 046....... 2,627,500 " 3.08 $ 046 2,627,500 3.08 '$ 046
$025- 057, ..., ~ 823,000 - 430 . $0.36 823,000 - 4.30 $ 0.36
$ 149+ 261 L.l 1,405,000 ‘ 5.21 ' $ 191 " 1,405,000 521 $ 1.91
$.391-.443.. ..., 722000 636 $439 722500 636 $ 439
$ 4. 83 - 7.10 .. . s 941,200 7.3'5 ' $ 5.04 . 941,200 . 7.35 . $ 5.04
$11.68 - 2421 ....... 1,484,000 8.31 $16.06 1,484,000 8.31 $16.06
$23 90 58 71 ....... 1 ,386,000 9 48 $35.28 1,386, 000 ) ‘9 48 $35.28

In December 2004 the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments” (“SFAS No. 123R”).
SFAS No: 123R is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”, and supersedes
APB Opinion 25. 'Among other items, SFAS No: .123R eliminates the use of APB Opinion 25 and. the
intrinsic value '‘method of accounting, and requires companies to recognize the cost of employee services
received in exchange for awards of equity instruments, based on the grant date fair value of those awards, in
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the ‘financial statements. Pro.forma disclosure is no longer an alternative under the new standard. The
Company will adopt: SFAS No. 123R as of the’ required effective date for calendar year. compames which.is
January 1, 2006.

SFAS No. 123R pcrmlts companies to adopt its requirements using either a “modified prospective”
method, or a “modified retrospective” method. Under the “modified prospective” method, compensatlon cost
is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on the requ1rements of
SFAS No. 123R for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of
SFAS No. 123 for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123R. Under the
“modified retrospective” method, the requirements are the same as under'the “modified prospective” method,
but also permit entities to restate financial statements of previous periods based on proforma disclosures made
in accordance with SFAS No. 123. At December 31, 2003, all stock options granted to date were fully vested.

The Company currently utilizes a standard option pricing model (i.e., Black-Scholes) to measure the fair
value of stock options granted to Employees. While SFAS No. 123R permits entities to continue to use such a
model, the standard also permits the use of a more complex b1nom1a1 or “latticé” model. Based upon research
done by the Company on the alternative-models available to value option grants, and in conjunction with the
type and-number of stock options expected to'be-issued in the future, the Company has determined that it will
continue to us¢ the Black-Scholes model for option valuation as of the current time.

'SFAS-No. 123R-includes several modifications to the way that income taxes are recorded in the financial
statements. The expense for certain types of option grants is only deductible for tax purposes at the.time that
the taxable event takes place, which could cause variability in the Company’s effective tax rates recorded
throughout the year. SFAS No. 123R does not allow companies to “predict’” when these taxable events will
take place. Furthermore, it requires that the benefits associated with the tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as
required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net
financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. These future amounts cannot be estimated, because
they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options.

7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The Company has, in the past, used derivative instruments as-one way to manage its' exposure to
commodity prices. The Company has pefiodically entered.into fixed-price to index-price swap agreements in
order to hedge a. pOI"[lOIl of its production. The purpose of the swaps is to provide a measure of stability -to the
Company’s cash-flows inan environment-of-volatile oil and gas prices. The derivatives reduce the Company ]
exposure on the hedged volumes to decreases in commodity prices and limit the benefit the Company might
otherwise' have received from any increases in commodity prices on the- hedged volumes. The Company
recognizes all derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in thé balance sheet at fair value. The accounting
treatment for the changes in fair value as specified in SFAS No. 133 is depeadent upon whether or not a
derivative instrument is designated as a hedge. For derivatives designated as casi flow hedges, changes in fair
value, to the extent the hedge is efféctive, are recognized in Other Comprehensive-Income (Loss) on the
balance sheet until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as oil and gas revenue. For all other derivatives,
changes in fair ~value are recognized in. earnings as income or expense.

During 2003, the Company recogmzed costs associated with financially seitled swaps to counter-parties
totaling $9,286,000 as its net realization from hedging activities. This total includes $999,900 for the first
quarter of 2005 31, 440 800 for the second quarter of 2005 $2, 090 600 for tke thxrd quarter of 2005 and
$4,754,700 for the fourth quarter of 2005.

At December 31 2005 the Company had no open derivative contracts to manage price risk on its natural
gas production; - :
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derivative " instruments; of $1,440,236, was -allocated directly to Other Comprehenswe Income as of
December 31, 2004.

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS -

The Company sponsors a quahﬁed tax-deferred savings plan in accordance with provisions of Sec-
tion 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for its employees. Employees may defer up to 15% of their
compensatlon subject to certain limitations. The Company matches the cmployee contnbutlons up to 5% of
employce compensation along with a profit sharing contribution of 8%. The plan operates on a calendar year
basis and began in February 1998. The expense associated with the Company’s contribution was $507,306,
$396,684 and $299 832 for the years endéd December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respecnvely S

)

10. SEGMENT IN FORMATION

The Company has two reportable operating segments, one domestic and one foreign,-which are in the
business of natural gas and crude oil exploration and production. The accounting policies of the segments are
the same-as those described in the summary of sighificant accounting policies. The Company evaluates
performance based on profit or loss from oil and gas operations before price-risk management and other,
general and, administrative expenses and interest expense. The Company’s reportable operating segments are

managed separately based. on their geographlc locatlons Financial 1nformat10n by operatmg segment is
presented below: . .

G o United States ..China _ ‘ Total
YearvEnﬂed December 31, 2(.)05“‘ ' R TR . T T S N - . ‘
v Ol and gas sales ............ ..k Lo $448,730,965.  $ 67,762,036 $516,493,001

Costs and’Exp‘ensés:_ T o Ll o -

Depletion, depreciation and amortization ©.... 48455070 ° 9,647,801 +58,102,871

.. .Lease operating expenses . ... e Seeandon 09,047,390 - 7,352,000 16,399,390
Production taxes.....v......... P 52,689,060 3,388,089 - 56,077,149
“'Gathenng T R AR ST ©17,125,147 . — . 17,125,147

" Operating incore . . . .. . ... LU0 8321414208 $ 47,374,146 $368,788,444
General and admmlstratlve ........... heees . 14,342,178

o Other expense net......... ’ co T " N 2,673,934
E Income before ‘income, taxes e e A ‘ _ ‘ . $351,772,332
Capital expenditures ... ................. .. $263486.693 $ 19,181362 $282,668,055
""" Net 6il'and gas'properties ...+ %\, %L L $599,900,713  $102,762,542  $702,663,255

R s Tt e : LR " e
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$226,893,478

COMMITMENTS AND CONTIN GENCIES:

On October 16, 2003 the operator of the Company s propertles in China, Kerr-McGee, signed a 15 year
contract, which provides for up to an additional 10 years, to lease a floating production storage offloading unit
(“FPSO”). The Company ratified the contract for its net share which is 8.91%. The FPSO service.agreement
calls for a day rate lease payment and a sliding scale per barrel processing fee that decreases based on
cumulative barrels processed. The lease contains a cancellation fee based on a sliding time-scale (cancellation
fee decreases with time), which as of December 31, 2005 was $3.3 million net to the Company’s 8.91%
interest. The Company considers it very unlikely that a lease cancellation situation will occur. Due to the
terms of the lease, the Company cannot estimate with any degree of accuracy the costs it may incur during the
life of the lease. The Company’s net share for the costs of the FPSO in 2005 was approximately $1.8 million.

63

‘ . - - United States China Total
Year Ended December 31, 2004 _ A )
Oiland gas sales ...............0............ | $238,866,913  $20,179,534  $259,046,447
Costs and Expenses: o B ‘ '
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ... ... 27,346,061 2,903,000 30,249,061
Lease operating eXpenses ................... 6,286,715 2,286,000 8,572,715
Production taxes................c.c.c..oeeo... 28,151,661 1,009,098 29,160,759
Gathexjng ........ e .. 13,135,809 — 13,135,809
Operating income . .. ......ooviiiiinenn... $163,946,667 $13,981,436. $177,928,103
General and administrative .. ................ 7,075,720
Other expense, net........... [ ’ 3,692,310
Income before income taxes................... $167,160,073
Capital expenditures ............... e $179,592,969  $16,005,515  $195,598,484
- Net oil and gas propcrties ..................... -$381,408,507 . $93,225.879  $474,634,386
United States China Total
© Year Ended December 31, 2003,
Oil and gas sales ....... AU e, .. $121,581,097 —  $121,581,097
Costs and Expenses: ‘ o ‘ .
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ... ... - 16,215,714 — 16,215,714
Lease operating expenses . . ... e 3,627,639 — 3,627,639
Production taxes................... e 13,767,668 — 13,767,668
Gathering ........... ... ... il 7,828,372 — 7,828,372
. Operating income. ................. e $ 80,141,704 - $ — $ 80,141,704
General and administrative . . ............... N 16,751,367
Other expense, net .. ... e 2,814,027
Income before income taxes......... o $ 70 576, 310
Capital ‘expenditpres e $100;677,192 $15,160,058 $1 15 837, 250
Net oil and gas properties........... [P $80,970,244  $307,863,722
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In May 2003, the Company amended its prior office lease in Englewood, Colorado, which it has
committed to through June 2008. The Company’s total remaining commitment at December 31, 2005 on this
lease is $677,791 at December 31, 2005 ($265,485 in 2006, $273,530 in 2007 and $138,776 in 2008). In
December 2003, the Company signed a lease for office space in Houston, Texas, which it has committed to
through April 2007 for a total remaining commitment of $135,792 ($101,844 in 2006 and $33, 948 in 2007) at
December 31, 2005. The total remaining commitment for both offices is $813,583.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had committed to drilling obligations with certain rig contractors
totalling $108,410,500 with $104,610,500 due in one to three years and the balance of $3,800,000 due in three
to five years. The commitments expire in 2009 and were entered into to fulfill the Company’s 2006-2008
drilling program initiatives in Wyoming,.

During 2005, the Company took a major step toward assuring that the pipeline infrastructure to move the
Company’s natural gas supplies away from southwest Wyoming will be expanded to provide sufficient capacity
to transport its natural gas production and to provide for reasonable basis differentials for its natural gas in the
future. The Company agreed to become an anchor shipper on the proposed Rockies Express Pipeline project,
sponsored by subsidiaries of Kinder Morgan and Sempra Energy. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built as
proposed, would be the largest natural gas transmission pipeline project of its type built in the United States in
more than 20 years. As proposed, the Rockies Express Pipeline would begin at the Opal Processing Plant in
southwest Wyoming, and traverse Wyoming and several other states to an ultimate terminus in eastern Ohio.
This project is projected to cover more than 1,800 miles and is contemplated to be a large-diameter (42”),
high-pressure natural gas pipeline. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built, will be an interstate pipeline and
would therefore be subject to the jurisdiction of the United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

On December 19, 2005, the Company signed, subject to Board of Director approval, a Precedent
Agreement with Rockies Express Pipeline, LLC committing to take firm transportation capacity in the
proposed. Rockies Express interstate pipeline. The Company’'s commitment involves capacity of
200,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas for a term of 10 years, and the Company will be obligated to pay to
Rockies Express certain -demand charges related to its rights to hold this firm transportation capacity as an
anchor shipper. The Company’s Board of Directors approved the Precedent Agreement on February 6, 2006
and Kinder Morgan, as the Managing Member of the Rockies Express Pipeline LLC advised the Company of
their final approval of the Precedent Agreement, and their intent to proceed with the construction of the
Rockies Express Pipeline on February 28, 2006. Although the Company is optimistic that the Rockies Express
Pipeline project will receive the necessary regulatory approvals and be constructed in a timely manner, there
can be no assurances that the Rockies Express Pipeline will be built, nor will there be any assurances that, if
built, it will prevent large basis differentials from occurring in the future.

The Company is currently involved in various routine disputes and allegations incidental to its business
operations. While it is not possible to determine the ultimate disposition of these matters, management, after
consultation with legal counsel, is of the opinion that the final resolution of all such currently pending or
threatened litigation is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the consohdated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

12. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including accounts receivable, notes receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approxmlate fair value due to the immediate or
short- term matunty of these financial instruments.

The Company s revenues are derived principally from uncollateralized sales to customers in the natural
gas and oil industry. The concentration of credit risk in a single industry affects the Company’s overall
exposure to credit risk because customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic and other
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the financial statements. Pro .forma disclosure is no longer an alternative under the new standard. The
Company will adopt SFAS No. 123R as of the required effective date for calendar year companies, which is
January 1, 2006.

SFAS No. 123R permits companies to adopt its requirements using either a “modified prospective”
method, or a “modified retrospective” method. Under the “modified prospective” method, compensation cost
is recognized in the financial statements beginning with the effective date, based on the requirements of
SFAS No. 123R for all share-based payments granted after that date, and based on the requirements of
SFAS No. 123 for all unvested awards granted prior to the effective date of SFAS No. 123R. Under the
“modified retrospective”” method, the requirements are the same as under the “modified prospective” method,
but also permit entities to restate financial statements of previous periods based on proforma disclosures made
in accordance with SFAS No. 123. At December 31, 2003, all stock options granted o date were fully vested.

The Company currently utilizes a standard option pricing model (i.e., Black-Scholes) to measure the fair
value of stock options granted to Employees. While SFAS No. 123R permits entities to continue to use such a
model, the standard also permits the use of a more complex binomial, or “lattice” model. Based upon research
done by the Company on the alternative models available to value option grants, and in conjunction with the
type and number of stock options expected to be issued in the future, the Company has determined that it will
continue to use the Black-Scholes model for option valuation as of the current time:.

SFAS No. 123R includes several modifications to the way that income taxes are recorded in the financial
statements. The expense for certain types of option grants is only deductible for tax purposes at the time that
the taxable event takes place, which could cause variability in the Company’s effective tax rates recorded
throughout the year. SFAS No. 123R does not allow companies to “predict” when these taxable events will
take place. Furthermore, it requires that the benefits associated with the tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation cost be reported as a financing cash flow, rather than as an operating cash flow as
required under current literature. This requirement will reduce net operating cash flows and increase net
financing cash flows in periods after the effective date. These future amounts cannot be estimated, because
they depend on, among other things, when employees exercise stock options.

7. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

The Company has, in the past, used derivative instruments as one way to manage its' exposure to
commodity prices. The Company has periodically entered into fixed-price to index-price swap agreements in
order to hedge a portion of its production. The purpose of the swaps is to provide a measure of stability to the
Company’s cash-flows in an environment of volatile oil and gas prices. The derivatives reduce the Company’s
exposure on the hedged volumes to decreases in commodity prices and limit the benefit the Company might
otherwise have received from any increases in commodity prices on the hedged volumes. The Company
recognizes all derivativé instruments as assets or liabilities in thé balance sheet at fzir value. The accounting
treatment for the changes in fair value as specified in SFAS No. 133 is dependent upon whether or not a
derivative instrument is designated as a hedge. For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair
value, to the extent the hedge is effective, are recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) on the
balance sheet until the hedged item is recognized in earnings as oil and gas revenue. For all other derivatives,
changes in fair value are recognized in earnings as income or expense.

During 2005, the Company recognized costs associated with financially settled swaps to counter-parties
totaling $9,286,000 as its net realization from hedging activities.” This total includes $999,900 for the first
quarter of 2005, $1,440,800 for the second quarter of 2005 $2,090,600 for the third quarter of 2005, and
$4,754,700 for the fourth quarter of 2005.

At December 31, 2005, the Company had no open derivative contracts to manage price risk on its natural
gas production: -
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“ The Company also utilizes fixed price forward natural gas sales at southwest Wyoming delivery points to

hedge its commodity exposure. The Company had the following physical delivery contracts in place at
December 31, 2005.

C [ . Yolume Average
Contract Period ) MMBTU/Day Pnce/MMbtu o
Calendar 2006, .................. e 70,000 $5.86

As of February 28, 2006, the Company’s fixed price forward natural gas sales contracts represented néfi
volumes equal to approximately 24% of the Company’s currently forecasted natural gas production for
Calendar 2006. -

8. INCOME TAXES:

"~ Income before income taxes is as follows: ‘
Year Ended December 31,

o | ‘ | 2005 2004 003
United States ............ SO .; $304,943491  $153,553816  $70,970,170
FOTEIZN v eeeeeeeeeeee e, L. 46828841 . 13606257  (393,860)
CTotal L e e $351772332  $167,160,073 $70,576,310

The ‘consolidated income tax: prov151on is compnscd of the following:
‘ Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Current: : : ' S

U.S. federal & state.............. P ... $50,636,118 $§ 261,826 : —_

Foreign .......... .. ... .. ... ... ... ... ... 3,564,990 — —
Deferred: _ ‘ o '

US. federal & state. ..o, : 57,228,294 53,144,257 25,253,671
~ Foreign ....... ... ... .. 0 R 12,042,683 4,604,195 —
Total income tax provision ................... .. $123472085 $58,010278  $25,253,671

. During 2005, the Company realized tax benefits of $50.6 million attributable to tax deductions associated
with the exercise of stock options. These benefits are recorded as a reduction of current taxes payable and as
an increase in sharcholdcrs’ equity.

The income tax provision differs from the amount that would be computed by applying the U.S. federal
mcome tax rate of 35% to pretax income as a result of the followmg
" Year Ended December 31,

. , 2005 2004 2003
* Income tax provision computed at the . o ,
U.S. statutory rate. . ................. e  $123,120,316  $58,506,026 $24,701,708
State income tax prov1s1on net of federal benefit. . . 297,319 159,628 455,557
Other,net ......... ... ... .. i 54,450 (655,376) 96,406

$123,472,085  $58,010,278  $25,253,671
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The tax effects of temporary differences' that give rise to significant cornponents of the Companys
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
- Deferred tax assets:
Unrecognized loss on derivative instruments (current) .. .. $ — s 1,327',489
U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards ............. ' — 5,845,351
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards . ............. . 1,976,930 2,554,106
A Unrecognized loss on derivative instruments (noncurrent) — - 112,747
Other, net ... i e 4,469 1,009,305
1,981,399 10,848,998
Valuation allowance .« .............c..... T (1,976,930) (2,554,106)
Net geferred L e e L T 4,469 8,294,892
Deferred tax liabilities: ‘
Property and equipment . ............ ...l (155,750,934)  (93,330,144)
Net deferred tax asset (hablllty) R $(155,746,465) $(85,035,252)

In assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of the deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the
temporary differences become deductible. Among other items, management considers the scheduled reversal
of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income and available tax plaaning strategies.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company had U.S. federal regular tax net operating loss carryforwards
(“NOL’s”) of approximately $16.7 million which were available to offset future U.S. taxable income. The
Company did not record any valuation allowance attributable to its U.S. NOL’s as management estimated
that it was more likely than not that the U.S. NOL’s would be fully utilized before they expire. These
U.S. NOL’s were fully utilized to offset U.S. taxable income in 2005.

The Company has Canadian non-capital tax loss carryforwards of approximately $5.6 million and
$7.3 million as of December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, respectively. The benefit of the Canadian loss
carryforwards can only be utilized to the extent the Company generates future taxable income in Canada. If
not utilized, the $5.6 million Canadian loss carryforward will expire between 2006 and 2015.

Since the Company currently has no income producing operations in Canada, management estimates that
it is more likely than not that the Canadian loss carryforwards will not be utilized. A valuation allowance has
been recorded at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 attributable to this deferred tax asset.

The Company periodically uses derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges as a method of
managing its exposure to commodity price fluctuations. To the extent these hedges are effective, changes in
the fair value of these derivative instruments are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income, net of income tax.
At December 31, 2005, the Company had no open derivative contracts; and, therefore, no recorded tax benefit
attributable to unrecognized loss on derivative instruments. A tax benefit attributable to unrecognized loss on
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derivative instruments of $1,440,236. was allocated directly to Other Comprehensive Income as of
December 31, 2004. ’ :

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company sponsors a quahﬁed tax-deferred savings plan in accordance with provisions of Sec-
tion 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code for its employees. Employees may defer up to 15% of their
compensatlon subject to certain limitations. The Company matches the employee. contributions up to 5% of
employee compensation along with a profit sharing contribution of 8%. The plan operates on a calendar year
basis and began in February 1998. The expense associated with the Company’s contribution was $507,306,
$396,684 and $299,832 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION:

The Company has two reportable operating segments, one domestic and one foreign, which are in the
business of natural gas and crude oil exploration and production. The accounting policies of the segments are
the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. The Company evaluates
performance based on profit or loss from oil and gas operations before price-risk management and other,
general and administrative expenses and interest expense. The Company’s reportable operating segments are
managed separately based on thelr geographic locations. Financial 1nformat10n by operating segment is
presented below: .

L ) o United States China Total
' . Year. Ended December 31, 2005 . o o '
* Oiland gassales ............... B $448,730,965 $ 67,762,036  $516,493,001
Costs and Expensés: g A :
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ..... 48,455,070~ 9,647,801 58,102,871
. Lease operating expenses ................. . 9,047,390 - 7,352,000 16,399,390
Production taxes.. ... e e 52,689,060 3,388,089 56,077,149
‘ Gathering ........ .. ... ... 17,125,147 - 17,125,147
" Operating incore . ............. .. ... $321,414298  $ 47,374,146  $368,788,444
General and admlnlstratlve ............. SRR ‘ 14,342,178
Otherexpense net ...... I IA - » 2,673,934
Income before income. taxes B e s - $351,772,332
Capital expenditurés R $263,486;693 $ 19,181,362  $282,668,055
Net oil and gas’ pro’perties oo e ... $599,900,713 $102,762,54'2 $702,663,255
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Net oil and gas properties........... [P $226,893,478

COMMITMENTS AND CONTIN GENCIES:

On October 16, 2003 the operator of the Company’s properties in China, Kerr-McGee, signed a 15 year
contract, which provides for up to an additional 10 years, to lease a floating production storage offloading unit
(“FPSQO”). The Company ratified the contract for its net share which is 8.91%. The FPSO service agreement
calls for a day rate lease payment and a sliding scale per barrel processing fee that decreases based on
cumulative barrels processed. The lease contains a cancellation fee based on a sliding time-scale (cancellation
fee decreases with time), which as of December 31, 2005 was $3.3 million net to the Company’s 8.91%
interest. The Company considers it very unlikely that a lease cancellation situation will occur. Due to the
terms of the lease, the Company cannot estimate with any degree of accuracy the costs it may incur during the
life of the lease. The Company’s net share for the costs of the FPSO in 2005 was approximately $1.8 million.
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) ‘ . S - United States China Total

Year Ended December 31, 2004 - ’ - .

Oil and gassales ................. P . $238,866,913 ‘$20,179,534 $259,046,447

Costs and Expenses: - ' ‘
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ... ... 27,346,061 2,903,000 30,249,061
Lease operating expenses ....... PO 6,286,715 2,286,000 8,572,715
Production taxes.......... BT 28,151,661 1,009,098 29,160,759
Gathering ...........oooiviiiiiiiii... ... 13135809 — 13,135,809 .

Operating income . .. .....ovurviniinnennnaen. $163,946,667 $13,981,436 - $177,928,103
General and administrative . ................. ' 7,075,720
Other expense, net’............ P oo 3,692,310

Income before income taxes................... $167,160,073

Capital expenditures ........... ... .. ... ... $179,592,969  $16,005,515  $195,598,484

Net oil and gas properties. .............c....... - $381,408,507  $93,225,879  $474,634,386

United States China Total
" Year Ended December 31, 2003

Oil and gas sales ....... o ... $121,581,097 —  $121,581,097

Costs and Expenses: '
Depletion, depreciation and amortization ... ... 116,215,714 — 16,215,714
Lease operating expenses .. ... e ‘3,627,‘639 — 3,627,639
Production taxes . ... .v.vv e 13,767,668 — 13,767,668
Gathering .............. e 7,828,372 — 7,828,372,

Operating income . .........0....... S $ 80,141,704 -§ — $ 80,141,704
General and administraitiife e | 6.,751,367
Other expense, net .. ... e e 2,814,027

Income before income taxes......... ERRR $ 70,576,310

Capital _expendit}lres e e $100;677,192 $15,150,058  $115,837,250

$80,970,244  $307,863,722
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In May 2003, the Company amended its prior office lease in Englewood, Colorado, which it has
committed to through June 2008. The Company’s total remaining commitment at December 31, 2005 on this
lease is $677,791 at December 31, 2005 ($265,485 in 2006, $273,530 in 2007 and $138,776 in 2008). In
December 2003, the Company signed a lease for office space in Houston, Texas, which it has committed to
through April 2007 for a total remaining commitment of $135,792 ($101,844 in 2006 and $33,948 in 2007) at
December 31, 2005. The total remaining commitment for both offices is $813,583.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had committed to drilling obligations with ccrtain rig contractors
totalling $108,410,500 with $104,610,500 due in one to three years and the balance of '$3,800,000 due in three
to five years. The commitments expire in 2009 and were entered into to fulfill the Company’s 2006-2008
drilling program initiatives in Wyoming. .

During 2005, the Company took a major step toward assuring that the pipeline infrastructure to move the
Company’s natural gas supplies away from southwest Wyoming will be expanded to provide sufficient capacity
to transport its natural gas production and to provide for reasonable basis differentials for its natural gas in the
future, The Company agreed to become an anchor shipper on the proposed Rockies Express Pipeline project,
sponsored by subsidiaries of Kinder Morgan and Sempra Energy. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built as
proposed, would be the largest natural gas transmission pipeline project of its type built in the United States in
more than 20 years. As proposed, the Rockies Express Pipeline would begin at the Opal Processing Plant in
southwest Wyoming, and traverse Wyoming and several other states to an ultimate terminus in eastern Ohio.
This project is projected to cover more than 1,800 miles and is contemplated to be a large-diameter (42”),
high-pressure natural gas pipeline. The Rockies Express Pipeline, if built, will be an interstate pipeline and
would therefore be subject to the jurisdiction of the United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.

On December 19, 2005, the Company signed, subject to Board of Director approval, a Precedent
Agreement with Rockies Express Pipeline, LLC committing to take firm transportation capacity in the
proposed. Rockies Express interstate pipeline. The Company’s commitment involves capacity of
200,000 MMBtu per day of natural gas for a term of 10 years, and the Company will be obligated to pay to
Rockies Express certain demand charges related to its rights to hold this firm transportation capacity as an
anchor shipper. The Company’s Board of Directors approved the Precedent Agreement on February 6, 2006
and Kinder Morgan, as the Managing Member of the Rockies Express Pipeline LLC advised the Company of
their final approval of the Precedent Agreement, and their intent to proceed with the construction of the
Rockies Express Pipeline on February 28, 2006. Although the Company is optimistic that the Rockies Express
Pipeline project will receive the necessary regulatory approvals and be constructed in a timely manner, there
can be no assurances that the Rockies Express Pipeline will be built, nor will there be any assurances that, if
built, it will prevent large basis differentials from occurring in the future.

The Company is currently involved in various routine disputes and allegations incidental to its business
operdtions. While it is not possible to determine the ultimate disposition of these matters, management, after
consultation with legal counsel, is of the opinion that the final resolution of all such currently pending or
threatened litigation is not likely to have a material adverse effect on the consohdated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

12, FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS:

For certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including accounts receivable, notes receivable,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, the carrying amounts approx1mate fair value due to the immediate or
short- term matunty of these financial instruments. ‘

The Company s revenues are derived principally from uncollateralized sales to customers in the natural
_.gas and oil industry. The concentration of credit risk in a single industry affects the Company’s overall
exposure to credit risk because customers may be similarly affected by changes in economic and other
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conditions. In 2005, the Company had three significant customers, CNOOC, Occidental Energy Marketing,
Inc. and Sempra Energy Trading, that individually accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s total natural
gas and oil sales during 2005. ‘

13. SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED):

Income Before Income Basic Diluted
Income Tax Tax Net Earnings Earnings
Revenues Expenses Provision Provision Income per Share  per Share
(In thousands, except for per share data)
2005 ‘
First Quarter......... $ 89,364 § 31,857 $ 57,507 $ 20,185 § 37,322 $0.25 $0.23
Second Quarter ...... $110,635  $.36,848 $ 73,787 $ 25893 § 47,888 $0.31 $Q.3Q
Third Quarter . e $134,378  § 40,618 -$.93,760 $ 32910 $ 60,850 $0.40 $0.38
Fourth Quarter . ...... © $182,116 - $ 55,398 $126,718 $ 44,478  $.82,240 $0.53 $0.50
$516,493  $164,721 $351,772 $123,472  $228,300
2004 . =
First Quarter......... $ 48,619 § 17,947 $ 30,672 $ 10,888 $ 19,784 $0.13 - $0.12
Second Q{larter ...... $ 46,110 $ 17,393 $ 28,717 $ 10,195 - .$ 18,522 $0.12 $0.12
Third Quarter ........ $ 66,849 § 23,261 v $ 43,588 $ 15713  § 27,875 $0.19 $0.17
_ Fourth Quarter .. ... $ 97,468 § 33,285 $ 64,183 $ 21,214 $ 42,969 $0.29 -$0.26

$259,046 $ 91,886 $167,160 $ 58,010 $109,150

14. DISCLOSURE ABOUT OIL AND GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (UNAUDITED):

The following information about the Company’s oil and gas producing activities is presented in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 69, Disclosure About Oil and Gas
Producing Activities:

A. OIL AND GAS RESERVES:

The determination of oil and gas reserves is complex and highly interpretive. Assumptions used to
estimate reserve information may significantly increase or decrease such reserves in future periods. The
estimates of reserves are subject to continuing changes and, therefore, an accurate determination of reserves
may not be possible for many years because of the time needed for development, drilling, testing, and studies
of reservoirs. The following unaudited tables as of December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are based upon
estimates prepared by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. dated January 27, 2006, January 24, 2005 and
January 23, 2004, respectively. The estimates for properties in China were prepared by Ryder Scott Company

in a report dated January 31, 2006 and February 11, 2005. These are estimated quantities of proved oil and gas
* reserves for the Company and the changes in total proved reserves as of Deceraber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
All such reserves are located in the Green River Basin, Wyoming and Bohai Bay, China.
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.B. ANALYSES OF CHANGES IN PROVEN RESERVES: . .
i ‘ . United States, L. China ' . Total

Natural Gas Natural | Natural Gas
0il (Bbls) (Mcf) Oil (Bbls)  Gas (Mcf) ~ Oil (Bbls)" (Mcf)
Reserves, December 31, 2002 5,559,000 667,121,000 — — 5,559,000 667,121,000
Extensions, discoveries and )
additions ...... [ 2,894,700 361,298,700 — — 2,894,700 361,298,700
Production................. - (211,600)  (27,621,800) — — (211,600)  (27,621,800)
Revisions .................. 100,400 +22,569,400 —— — 100,400 ~ 22,569,400

8,342,500 1,023,367,300

Reserves, December 31, 2003 ‘ 8,342,500 1,023,367,300 —

Extensions, discoveries and

additions ..............0. 4,520,000 562,548,000 8,180,900 — 12,700,900 562,548,000
Production ............... Lo (349,700) (43,667,400) ~ (624,560) —  (943,000) (43,667,400)
Revisions . ... .. G C(1,123,700) (1) (128,247,300)(2) ...31,228 .. —  (1,123,700)" (128,247,300)
Reserves, December 31, 2004 11,389,100  1,414,000,600 - 7,587,600 . — 18,976,700 1,414,000,600
Extensions, discoveries and R

additions ............. .. 5,516,300 680,671,500 370,600 . — 5,886,900 680,671,500
Production . . . .. e (464,300) (61,722,300)  (1,556,300) —.  (2,020,600) (61,722,300)
Revisions . ... PR .. (1,236,400)(3) (132,727,000)(4) (1,341,000) —  (2,577,400) (132,727,000)

Reserves, December 31, 2005 15,204,700 1,900,222,800 5,060,900, . 20,265,600 1,900,222,800

Proved developed reserves: . . - o ‘ ‘ N

December 31,2002 ....... .. 2,003,000 222,608,000 —~ = — 222,608,000
December 31,2003 ........ .. 3028000 359,072,000  + — _ — — 359,072,000
December 31,2004 ......... 4,195,000 514,686,000 4,356,000 8,551,000 514,686,000

December 31, 2005 ........ . 5,087,000 - 635,591,000 2,484,000 = 7,571,000- 635,591,000

(1) Revision amount of 936,500 attributable to 40 wells dropped from PUD category replaced by more
“attractive wells.

(2) Revision amount of 117,064,000 associated with above 40 mentioned wells.

(3) Revision amount of 412,500 attnbutable to 26 wells dropped from PUD category replaced by more
attractive ‘wells.

(4)' Revision amount of 51,560,000 as_sociated with above rnentio}ned 26 wells.
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C. STANDARDIZED MEASURE (US$000):

The following table sets forth a standardized measure of the estimated discounted future net cash flows
attributable to the Company’s proved natural gas reserves. Natural gas prices have fluctuated widely in recent
years. The calculated weighted average sales prices utilized for the purposes of estimating the Company’s
proved reserves and future net revenues were $8.00,°$5.46, and $5.59 per.Mcf of natural gas at December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The calculated weighted average oil price at December 31, 2003, 2004, and
2003 for Wyoming was $60.81, $42.80 and 31.87 respectively. The calculated weighted average crude oil price
at December 31, 2005 and 2004 for China was a Duri price of $48.74 and $29.46, respectively. The future
production and development costs represent the estimated future expenditures to be incurred in developing
and producing the proved reserves, assuming continuation of existing economic conditions. Future income tax
expense was computed by applying statutory income tax rates to the difference between pretax net cash flows

relating 'to the Company s proved reserves and the tax basis of proved propertreﬂ and available- operatmg loss

carryovers

~ As of December 31, 2003
Future cashinflows. . ....... .. ... .. o .
Future production costs ... .. R
Future development costs......... e
Future income taxes ........... e

Future net cash flows..f’....; ...... S
Discounted at 10% ......... ... . i

Standardized measure of d1scounted future net cash
flows ... e

As of December 31, 2004 Future cash inflows’ EUr .
‘Future production costs ................ [ETTTR

Future development COSES . ..o e . ‘

Future income taxes . ................. PR P

Future net cash-flows .............. L D L
Discounted at 10% ........ P, DU
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash
flows ..o oo e ‘
As of December 31, 2005 Future cash inflows ........
Future production costs ... ... T, AR
Future development costs. . ... e
Future income taxes . .......oviriiiiinrnenennnn.

Future netcashflows . ........ ... ... .. ... .. ......
Discounted at 10% ............... e

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash
ﬂows ........... D

" United States China Total -
$5986,603 8  — 'S 5986603
(1,171,314) — (1,171,314)
(358,811) — (358,811)
(1,620,437) —  (1,620,437)
2,836,041 — 2,836,041
(1,700,528) — (1,700,528)
$ 1135513 S — $ 1135513
$ 8213,061° $223,531' - § 8,436,592
,(1,699,891)  (67,387)  (1,767,278)
(623,539)  (18,382) (641,921)
(1,988,387)  (21,436)  (2,009,823)
3,901,244 116,326 4,017,570
(2,285,779)  (62455) _(2,348,234) -
$ 1,615,465 - § 53,871 $ 1,669,336
$16,124,248  $246,666  $16,370,914
. (2,943,364)  (72,920)  (3,016,284)
(1,113,618)  (6,815)  (1,120,433)
(4,110,554)  (30,235) _(4,140,789)
7,956,712 136,696 8,093,408
(4,454,628)  (62,286)  (4,516,914)
$ 3,502,084 $ 74,410
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ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The estimate of future income taxes is based on the future net cash flows from proved reserves adjusted
for the tax basis of the oil and gas properties but without consideration of general and admmlstratlve and

interest expenses

D SUMMARY OF CHANGES' IN THE STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF DISCOUNTED
FUTURE NET CASH FLOWS (US$000) ‘

December 31, - December 31, * December 31,

‘ oo o 2005 2004 . 2003
Standardized measure, beglnmng ............ . § 1,669,336 $1,135,513 $ 316,965
Net revisions . ............... ... . (436,425) | (245950) 41,715
Extensions, d1scover1es and other changes ........... . 2,306,982 .1,062;236 680,136
Changes in future development costs . .............. (130,727) (123,051) (10,603)
Sales of oil and gas, net of productlon costs ......... ‘ (426,891) (216,670) (96,357)
Net change in prices and production costs .......... 1,992,707 .. 2,645 605,892
Development costs incurred during the period that ' . .

reduce future development costs................. 172,962 96,220 8,886
Accretion of discount .. .......... .. ... ... 254,236 178,431 47,353
Net change in INCOME tAXES ..o e reennen s (1,825,686) (220,038) (458,474)
Standardized measure, ending. ................ ... $ 3,576,494  $1,669,336  $1,135,513

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of proved reserves and projected
future rates of production and timing of development expenditures, including many factors beyond the control
of the Company. The reserve data and standardized measures set forth herein represent only éstimates.
Reserve engineering is a subjective process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and gas that
cannot be measured in an exact way and the accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of
availablé data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. As a result, estimates of
different engineers often vary. In addition, results of drilling, testing and production subsequent to the date of
an estimate may justify revision of such estimates. Accordingly, reserve estimates are often different from the
quantities of oil and gas that are ult1mately recovered. Further, the estimated future net revenues from proved
reserves and the present Value thereof are based upon certain assumptions, including geologlc success, prices,
future production levels and costs that may not prove correct over time. Predictions of future production levels
are subject to great uncertainty, and the meaningfulness of such estimates is highly dependent upon the
-accuracy of the assumptions upon which they. are based. Historically, oil and gas prices have fluctuated widely.

E COSTS INCURRED IN OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
A(US$000): ,

UNITED STATES

Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Acquisition costs — unproved properties . ............ $ 775 $ l,26§ $ l,603 ’
Exploration ........... ... . .. . i 56,894 97,068 55,095
Development. .. c...oviiirn e 208,173 82,646 43,111
Total ........... e $265,842 $180,982 $99,809




ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS —- (Continued)

CHINA

Acquisition costs — unproved properties.............
Exploration .. ....... .. ... i

Acquisition costs — unproved properties . ............
Exploration ..... ... i i .
Development. .......... U P

Years Ended

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2003 2004 2003
$ 2,876 § 2,351 $16,027
16,465 12,657 —
$19,341 $15,008 $16,027

Years Ended‘

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ 3,651 $ 3,619 $ 17,630
56,894 97,068 55,095
224,638 95,303 43,111
$285,183 $195,990

$115,836

F. . RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR OIL AND GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES (US$000):

UNITED STATES

Oiland gasrevenue .............. ... inn.
Production expenses and taxes .....................
Depl_etion and depreciation ............ .. . ...
Deferred income taxes. ...,

Oiland gasrevenue . . ......... ... ioviiiiiin..
Production expenses and taxes . .. .. e
Depletion and depreciation ........................
Deferred income taxes. .. .....cooviiiiiniiinn...
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Years Ended

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ 448,731 . $238,867 $121,581
(78,861) (47,574) (25,224)
(48,456) (27,346) (16,216)
(107,916)  (53,406) (25,254)
$ 213498  $110,541 $ 54,887

Years Ended

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ 67,762 $20,180 J—
(10,740) (3,295) —
(9,648) (2,903) —
© (15,556) (4,604) —
$ 31,818 $ 9,378 s




ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

"TOTAL
Years Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Oiland gasrevenue .. ...........covviiurnennnn.. $516,493 $259,047 $121,581
Production expenses and taxes ..................... (89,601) (50,869) (25,224)
Depletion and depreciation .. ...:.ooooviiin. - (58,104). . (30,249) . .:(16,216)
Deferred incometaxes. ...........covvnvneo.. (123,472) (58,010) (25,254)
Total ... $245,316 $119919 $ 54,887

G. CAPITALIZED COSTS RELATING TO OIL AND GAS PRODUCING ACTIVITIES:

' Developed Properties:
Acquisition, equipment, exploration, drilling and environmental
. costs — Domestic o
Acquisition, equipment, exploration, drilling and environmental
costs — China
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization —
Domestic " A
Less accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization —
China

Unproven Properties:
Acquisition and exploration costs — Domestic
Acquisition and-exploration costs — China
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December 31,

December 31,

2005 2004

$700,425,880  $435,095,908
43890413 24,552316
(118,172,467)  (70,597,411)
(13,183,036)  (3,255,887)
612,960,790 385,794,926
17,647,300 - 16,910,010

... 72,055,165 71,929,450
$702,663,255  $474,634,386




Item 9. Change in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and- Financial Disclosures.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of -Disclosure Controls and . Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange
Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management, including the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, manage-
ment recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well desrgned and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. . i

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report'on Form 10-K, an evaluation was performed
under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the CEO and CFO,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on
that evaluation, the Company’s CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were not effectlve as of December 31, 2005 because of the material weaknesses described below.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate control over financial reporting for
the Company as such. term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, In order to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over, financial reporting, as
required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, management has conducted an assessment using the
criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring. Organlzatrons of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting ‘may not prevent or detect misstatements. '

A material weakness is a control deﬁcrency or combination of control deﬁcmncres that results in a more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected.- As of December 31, 2005, the Company identified the followrng material weaknesses:

~« The Company did not maintain effective company level controls Spe01ﬁcally, (1) certam of its
accounting personnel in key roles did.not possess an appropriate level of technical expertise, and
(ii) the Company’s monitoring of the internal audit function was not sufficient to provide management
a ‘basis to assess the quality of the Conipany’s internal control performance over time. These
deficiencies resulted in more than a remote likelihood that a material miss itatement of the Company s
annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected.

‘e The Company did not have adequate policies and' procedures regarding supervisory review of account
reconciliations and account and transaction analyses. This deficiency resulted in the following material
errors in the Company’s preliminary 2005 consolidated financial statements: -

« misclassification of costs between proved and unproved oil and gas properties and understatement of
depletion expense;

+ improper reporting of value added taxes;
» understatement of asset. retirement obligations;
. overstatement in tubular mventory,

» .understatement of capitalized well cost accrued habrlmes and
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« overstatement of accounts.receivable. .-

These errors have been corrected by management pnor to the issuance of the Company’s 2005
consolidated financial statements.

+ The Company did not have adequate policies and pr'ocedures to ensure that accurate and reliable
interim and annual consolidated financial staternents were prepared and reviewed on a timely basis.
Spemﬁcally, the Company did not have ‘

» sufficient personnel with:the skﬂls and expenence in the application of US generally accepted
accounting principles; and :

. » policies and procedures regarding the preparatxon and management review of footnote disclosures
accompanying the Company s financial statements,

As a result of these deficiencies, material -errors: were identified in the footnotes to the:Company’s
preliminary 2005 consolidated financial statements. These errors have been corrected by management
pnor to the issuance of the Company’s 2005 consolidated financial statements.

As-a result of the aforementioned material weaknesses, management has concluded that the Company
did rot maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the
criteria in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the COSO, :

~ The Companys independent registered public accountants, KPMG LLP, have audited and issued a
report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, which report
appears herein.

(¢) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

‘Management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, whether any changes in our 1nternal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal
quartet have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materlally affect, our internal control over financial
reporting. Based -on thé evaluatlon we, conducted management has concluded that no such changes have
occurred.

The Company’s management has identified what it believes are the steps necessary to address the
material weakness descnbed above as follows:

(1) Increastng training for the Company’s current accounting personnel, hiring additional account-
ing personnel and engaging outside consultants with technical accounting expertise, as needed, and
reorganizing the accounting department to ensure that accounting personnel have adequate experience,
skills and knowledge relatlng to the accountmg and internal audlt functlons assigned to them.

(2) Establishing addmonal and. reﬁmng current pohcxes and procedures to more effectively
reconcile its accounting. entries along. with better documentation procedures to meet the standards
established by COSO. :

The Company expects to complete. these.remedial actions by the end of the. second quarter of 2006.

(d) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .

The Board. of Directors and Shareholders
Ultra Petroleum Corp.:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanymg Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Item 9A (b)), that Ultra Petroleum Corp. and subsidiaries (the
Company) did not maintain effective internal control-over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
because of the effect of material weaknesses identified in management’s assessment, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Ultra Petroleum Corp’s management is responsible for
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maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its. assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is -to express an opinicn on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company, Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 1n the c1rcumstances We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is "a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonablé detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or dlsposmon of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the df gree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in management’s
assessment as of December 31, 2005:

» The Company did not maintain effective company level controls. Specifically, (i) certain of its
accounting personnel in key roles did not possess an appropriate level of technical expertise, and
(ii) the Company’s monitoring of the internal audit function was not sufficient to provide management
a basis to assess the quality of the Company’s internal control performance over time. These
deficiencies resulted in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the Company’s
annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or detected.

» The Company did not have adequate policies and procedures regarding supervisory review of account
reconciliations and account and transaction analyses. This deficiency resulted in the following material
errors in the Company’s preliminary 2005 consolidated financial statements:

+ misclassification of costs between proved and unproved oil and gas properties and understatement of
depletion expense;

« improper reporting of value added taxes;

. unders‘-[atement of asset retireﬁent obligatidns;
 overstatement in tubulariinAvent.ory;

» understatement of capitalized well cost accrued liabilities; and

» overstatement of accounts receivable.
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» « The Company did not have adequate policies- and procedures to ensure that accurate and reliable
interim and annual consolidated finarcial statements were prepared and reviewed on a tlmely basis.
Specifically, the Company did not have: ’ ca :

+ sufficient personnel with the skﬂls and experlence in the application of U.S. generally accepted
accountmg pnn01ples ‘and . _

. pohcres and procedures regardmg the preparatlon and management review of footnote dtsclosures
accompanymg the Company s financial statements..- :

As a result of these deﬁcrenmes matenal eITors were: 1dent1ﬁed in, the footnotes to the Company’s
preliminary 2005 consolidated financial statements. :

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consohdated balance sheets of Ultra Petroleum Corp. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2005 and 2004 and the related consohdated statements of operations and retained earnings,
shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the, years in the three- -year period ended December 31, 2003.
The aforementioned material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of
audit tests applied in our audit of the December 31; 2005 consolidated financial statements, and this report
does not affect our report dated March 30, 2006 which expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements. : : :

In our opinion, managemént’s assessment that Ultra Petroleum Corp. and subsidiaries did not maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, is ‘fairly stated, in all matérial
respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSQO). Also, in our opinion, because of the
effect of the material weaknesses described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria,
Ultra Petroleum Corp. and subsidiaries have not maintained effe¢tive internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

o

T

/s/ KPMG LLP ' .

Denver, Colorado .
March 30, 2006

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

. : Par.t I

Item 10; Directors and Executivé Officers of the Registrant.

The information required by this item will be included in the Company’s definitive proxy statement,
which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2005 and is incorporated herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer. The full text of such code of ethics has been posted on
the Company’s website at www.ultrapetroleum.com, and is available free of charge in print to any shareholder
who requests it. Requests for copies should be addressed to the Secretary at 363 North Sam Houston
Parkway East, Suite 1200, Houston, Texas 77060.




Item 11.

Executive Compensation.

- The information required by-this item will be included in the Company’s definitive proxy statement,
which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2005 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12." Security Ownership of Certain Benef cial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters.

The information required by Item 403 of Regulation S- K will be included in the Companys definitive
proxy statement, which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2005 and is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13 Certain Relattonshlps and Related T ransactwns

"~ The information reqmred by this item will be included in. the Company 8 deﬁmnve proxy statement,
which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2005, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountants Fees and Services.

“The information required by this item will be included in the Company’s definitive proxy statement,
which will be filed not later than 120 days after December 31, 2003, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K.

The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements: See Item 8.
2. Financial Statement Schedules: None.

3. Exhibits. The followmg Exhibits are filed herew1th pursuant to Rule 601 of the Regulauon S-K

or are mcorporated by reference to previous filings.

Exhibit _

Number

3.1
3.2
4.1

10.1

10.2

Descnptlon

Articles of Incorporation of Ultra Petroleum Corp. — (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended J une 30, 2001)

By-Laws of Ultra Petroleum Corp. — (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001)

Specimen Common Share Certificate — (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001) ‘

Fourth Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of November 14,
2005 and effective as of November 18, 2005, by and among Ultra Resources, Inc., JPMorgan Chase
Bank N.A., Union Bank of California N.A., Hibernia National Bank, Guaranty Bank FSB, Compass
Bank, Bank of Scotland and Bank of America, N.A. (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company’s Report on Form 8-K filed on November 23, 2005)

Third Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated May 5, 2005 among
Ultra Resources, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., Union Bank of California N.A., Hibernia
National Bank, Guaranty Bank FSB, Compass Bank, Bank of Scotland end Bank of America, N.A.

(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the period ended June 30, 2005)
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Exhibit
Number

10:3

10.4

10.5

106

10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

*10.11

14.1

21.1

*23.1

*23.2

*23.3
*31.1

*32.1

* Filed herewith

Description

Second Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated November 1, 2004

- among Ultra Resources, Inc., Bank One, NA, Union Bank of California, N.A., Hibernia National

Bank, Guaranty Bank, FSB, Compass Bank, Bank of Scotland and Fleet National Bank. (incorpo-
rated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Company s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004)

First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated August 10, 2004
among Ultra Resources, Inc., Bank One, NA, Union Bank of California, N.A., Hibernia Natlonal
Bank, Guaranty Bank, FSB, Compass Bank, Bank of Scotland and Fleet Natronal Bank. (incorpo-
rated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004)

Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated June 9, 2004 among Ultra Resources, Inc.,
Bank One, NA, Union Bank of California, N.A., Hibernia National Bank, Guaranty Bank, FSB,
Compass Bank, Bank of Scotland and Fleet National Bank (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2004)
Precedent Agreement between Rockies ‘Express Pipeline LLC and Ultra Resources, Inc. dated
December 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Report of
Form 8-K filed on February 9, 2006)

Precedent Agreement between Rockies Express Plpehne LLC, Entrega Gas Prpehne LLC and Ultra
Resources, Inc. dated. December 19, 2005 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company’s Report on Form 8-K filed on February 9, 2006)

Ultra Petroleum Corp. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-132443), filed with the SEC on
March 15, 2006) '

Ultra Petroleum Corp. 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of
the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-13278), filed with the SEC on
March 15, 2001)

Ultra Petroleum Corp. 1998 Stock Option Plan(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.1 of the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Reg. No. 333-13342) filed with the SEC on
April 2, 2001)

Employment Agreement between Ultra Petroleum Corp and M1chae1 D. Watford dated February 1,
2004

Code of Ethics for Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers of Ultra Petroleum Corp.

‘(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 of' the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31, 2003)

Subsidiaries of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2001)

Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Assoc1ates Inc.

Consent of Ryder Scott Company

Consent of KPMG LLP :

Certification of Chief Executive Ofﬁcer and Chlef Financial Ofﬁcer pursuant to Seetlon 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 .




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15{(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 31,2006

ULTRA PETROLEUM CORP.

By: /s/  Michael D. Watford

Name: Michael D. Watford
Title: Chairman of the Board,

Chief Executive Officer, and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

s/

Signature

Michael D. Watford

/s/

Michael D. Watford

Marshall D. Smith

/s/

Marshall D. Smith

Kristen J. Marron

/sl

Kristen J. Marron

W. Charles Helton

/s/

W. Charles Helton

James E. Nielson

/sf

James E. Nielson

Robert E. Rigney

/s/

Robert E. Rigney

James C. Roe

James C. Roe

Title

Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer, and President
{principal executive officer)

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

Financial Reporting Manager
(principal accounting officer)

Director .

Director

Director

Director
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March 31,-2006

March 31, 2006

March 31, 2006

March 31, 2006

March 31, 2006

March 31, 2006
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